
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Cabinet Advisory 
Panel A

A meeting of the above Panel will be held on 

Monday 21 May 2018

Councillor D E Hunnisett (Chairman) Councillor T A Maddison
Councillor S H Brown (Vice-Chairman) Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor L A Canham Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor P Cutler Councillor M I Peters
Councillor B Garden Councillor B E Read
Councillor J S Hawkes Councillor D J Reynolds
Councillor B K Kaini Councillor L J Reynolds
Councillor M B Kelly Councillor Mrs R L Shanks
Councillor R Lees Councillor D Swinerd

Cabinet
A meeting of the above will be held on 

24 May 2018

Councillor J A Kite, MBE 
(Chairman)

Councillor C J Shippam 
(Vice-Chairman)

Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE

Councillor P F Coleman Councillor K M Kelly Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow

Both meetings will be held at 7.00pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford



This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET ADVISORY PANEL A 
Monday 21 May 2018

CABINET
24 May 2018

AGENDA

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director. 

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting held on 12 April 2018 
(Pages 1 - 10)

4. Urgent Items 
The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are any 
urgent items and their position on the agenda. 

ITEMS FOR CONSIDERATION IN PUBLIC

5. To receive the Minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 21 
May 2018 
To follow 

6. References from Committees 
None at this stage. 

A - Strategies, Policies, Key Decisions, Consultations

7. Strategic Issues Consultation for a New Local Plan (Pages 11 - 
146)

SD (ES)

Summary:

To undertake a first consultation for a new Local Plan, based 
on a discussion paper on potential strategic issues.

Recommendations:

1. That a first stage public consultation be held for a six week 
period starting in early June on a Strategic Issues consultation 
paper.



2. That delegated authority for insertion of hyperlinks and 
illustrations, for layout,  formatting and table amendments, and 
for typographic and non-material minor editing refinements, to 
Appendix A to the report be delegated to the Planning Policy 
Manager in written consultation with Cllr Hunnisett (Local Plan 
Members Working Group Chairman) in order to finalise 
presentation of the Strategic Issues consultation paper. 

3. That the Core Strategy Review: Policy Monitoring report, the 
Local Development Scheme, and 2018 Five Year Housing 
Land Supply report be approved (Appendices B to D to the 
report). 

8. Response to Consultation on Powers for Dealing with 
Unauthorised Development and Encampments (Pages 147 - 158)

SD (ES)

Summary:

1. This report brings to Members’ attention the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG), 
Home Office and Ministry of Justice consultation regarding 
powers for dealing with unauthorised development and 
encampments.

2. This report summarises the draft responses to the consultation 
questions. MHCLG acknowledge that there have been long-
standing concerns about the issue of unauthorised 
development and encampments. These were most recently 
voiced during the debate in the House of Commons on 9 
October 2017, when the Government heard strong views that, 
in spite of a range of powers already in place, unauthorised 
development and encampments remain a significant issue 
which causes genuine difficulties for communities.

Recommendation:

That Cabinet approves, or amends, the proposed response to 
the consultation, as set out in Appendix A to the report. 

9. Stone Lodge Rugby Facility (Pages 159 - 160) SD (IS)
To follow

Summary:

To consider acceptance of tender bids received for the 
construction of the facility. 



B - Non-Key Decisions, Monitoring Reports

10. Changes to Environmental Health Out of Hours Service (Pages 
161 - 170)

SD (ES)

Summary:

The report proposes changes to the out of hours’ service 
provided by Environmental Health that will better target 
resources whilst also making the service more accessible to 
residents.

Recommendation:

That Members endorse the recommendations set out in the 
report. 

11. Objections to Dartford Borough Council (Off-Street Parking 
Places) Order 2018 (Pages 171 - 174)

SD (ES)

Summary:

1. New hours of operation for some of the Council’s car parks 
and the introduction of parking management in two facilities, 
one new (The Grove, Swanscombe) and one existing 
(Highfield Road (South)), were proposed and the applicable 
fees and charges approved as part of the Council’s GAC 
(Budget) on 26th February 2018. However, objections were 
received for the introduction of parking management in the 
Council’s ‘Highfield Road (South) Car Park’ during the Order 
making process.

2. This report summarises the results of the statutory traffic 
regulation order consultation undertaken from 15th March to 
5th April 2018.

Recommendation:

That Cabinet consider objections received to the Dartford 
Borough Council (Off-street Parking Places) Order 2018 and 
determine how to proceed. 

C - Items for Information, noting, endorsing

12. Corporate Plan - Key Actions and Performance Indicators 
Monitoring Report (Pages 175 - 192)

SD (IS)

Summary:

This report provides the progress with the latest set of 
Corporate Plan key actions and performance indicators for 



quarter 4 of 2017-18.

Recommendation:

That Members note the contents of the key action and 
performance indicator monitoring reports attached at 
Appendices A and B. to the report  

13. Report of Delegated Action Taken Under Standing Order 38: 
Response to A2 Bean and Ebbsfleet Junction Improvements 
Statutory Public Consultation (Pages 193 - 206)

SD (ES)

Summary:

To report to Cabinet, in accordance with the requirements of 
Standing Order 38(2)(b), the delegated action taken under 
Standing Order 38(2)(a) by the Managing Director, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Chairman, in relation to the 
Council’s response to the Highways England statutory public 
consultation on proposed improvements to the A2 Bean and 
Ebbsfleet junction.

Recommendation:

That Cabinet note the action taken by the Managing Director, 
in consultation with the Cabinet Chairman, under Standing 
Order 38(2)(a), in relation to the Council’s response to the 
Highways England statutory public consultation on proposed 
improvements to the A2 Bean and Ebbsfleet junction. 

14. Report of Delegated Action Taken Under Standing Order 38: 
Howbury Strategic Rail Freight Interchange (Pages 207 - 210)

SD (ES)

Summary:

To report to Cabinet, in accordance with the requirements of 
Standing Order 38(2)(b), the delegated action taken under 
Standing Order 38(2)(a) by the Managing Director, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Chairman, in relation to the staff 
resource implications and related costs of defending the 
Council’s refusal of the planning application for the Howbury 
Strategic Rail Freight Interchange at Public Inquiry.

Recommendation:

That Cabinet note the action taken by the Managing Director, 
in consultation with the Cabinet Chairman, under Standing 
Order 38(2)(a), in relation to the staff resource implications 
and related costs of defending the Council’s refusal of the 
planning application for the Howbury Strategic Rail Freight 



Interchange at Public Inquiry. 

15. Minutes of the Policy Overview Meeting held on 20 March 2018 
(Pages 211 - 224)

SD (IS)

Summary:

To present to Cabinet the minutes of the meeting of the Policy 
Overview Committee held on 20 March 2018.

Recommendation:

That the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview 
Committee held on 20 March 2018, be considered and noted. 

Exclusion of the Press and Public

TO RESOLVE: That, under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended), the press and public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information.

D - Items for Consideration in Private

Confidential Appendices

A. Stone Lodge Rugby Facility - Exempt Appendix A
(Exempt Category SO 46 (1) (b) Annex 1 Paragraph 3) (Pages 225 
- 226)

SD (IS)

To follow 

B. Report of Delegated Action Taken Under Standing Order 38: 
Howbury Strategic Rail Freight Interchange - Exempt Appendix 
A
(Exempt Category SO 46 (1) (b) Annex 1 Paragraph 3) (Pages 227 
- 230)

SD (ES)





1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

CABINET

MINUTES of the meeting of the Cabinet held on Thursday 12 April 2018 at 7.00 pm 

PRESENT: Councillor J A Kite, MBE (Chairman)
Councillor C J Shippam (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE
Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor K M Kelly
Councillor A R Lloyd
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow

ALSO PRESENT: Councillor R S L Perfitt

123. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

There were no apologies for absence.

124. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

125. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 8 
MARCH 2018 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on 8 March 2018 be confirmed.

126. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items.

127. TO RECEIVE THE MINUTES OF THE CABINET ADVISORY PANEL HELD 
ON 9 APRIL 2018 

The Cabinet received the minutes of the Cabinet Advisory Panel held on 9 
April 2018 and took note of the Panel’s views throughout the meeting.

128. REFERENCES FROM COMMITTEES 

There were no references from other committees.

129. DARTFORD TOWN CENTRE TRANSPORT AND PUBLIC REALM 
IMPROVEMENTS 

Further to the Cabinet resolutions agreed on 26 January 2017, this report 
provided an update on progress and defined the scope of the Dartford Town 
Centre Transport and public realm improvements, and presented the concept 
designs that had been developed. The report also sought approval to 
progress the concept designs to detailed design and delivery.



CABINET
THURSDAY 12 APRIL 2018

2

The Head of Regeneration introduced the report and drew Members’ attention 
to the Appendices which presented visual views of the scheme and 
highlighted those areas of the Town Centre which would be enhanced by this 
project. She described the pedestrian square that was to be created in Market 
Street, and the traffic calming measures which were to be introduced to 
provide an improved environment for shoppers. She then described how 
junctions on the ring road would be improved to make them safer for 
pedestrians and cyclists. She said that work was continuing on the concept 
designs and said that they would need to be finalised over the next few 
months. She also noted how a Communications and Engagement Strategy 
was being prepared to describe how the various aspects of the project would 
be reported and managed. She also referred to the Cabinet Advisory Panel’s 
request for more Cabinet involvement in the decision making process and 
said that although, given the complexity of the project, the use of delegated 
powers would ensure that there are no hold ups, reports would also be 
prepared for Cabinet to enable key issues and decisions to be considered.

In response to an observation the Head of Regeneration confirmed that it had 
been proposed to remove the railings in Market Street and added that 
measures would be used to help to slow traffic down. Reference was also 
made to parking space provision in the Market Street area as it was noted that 
some proposals were looking to only have a small number of spaces 
available. The Head of Regeneration said that options showing parking 
ranging from 17 to 28 replacement spaces had been put forward for 
consideration.

Members noted the comments that had been made at the Cabinet Advisory 
Panel in relation to the paving stones that were to be chosen and asked that 
those making the final choice make sure that it is solid and reliable and that it 
will continue to be manufactured for the foreseeable future.

In response to a question the Head of Regeneration said that the design 
would not be based on a ‘shared space’ approach and that kerbing would be 
used, which would be more pronounced in some areas (e.g. near to the Holy 
Trinity Church) than others (e.g. in Market Street).

Members thought the proposed design to be imaginative and looked forward 
to its final delivery. They also referred to the positive feedback that had been 
received from residents, who had attended the public involvement sessions 
and other gatherings, and noted that the levels of support on social media had 
also been good.

RESOLVED:

1. That the issues considered and the factors influencing the scope of the 
project and the development of the concept designs, be noted.

2. That the scope and phasing of the ‘Dartford Town Centre Transport 
and Public Realm improvements’ project enabling the detailed design 



CABINET
THURSDAY 12 APRIL 2018

3

and delivery of each element referred to in paragraphs 3.6 to 3.14 of 
the report, be approved.

3. That delegated authority be granted to the Managing Director, in 
consultation with the Leader of the Council and the Head of 
Regeneration, to approve the detailed design of the parking 
arrangement in Market Street (paragraph 3.17 of the report).

4. That delegated authority be granted to the Managing Director, in 
consultation with the Leader of the Council and the Head of 
Regeneration, for the approval of detailed design of the scheme 
(paragraphs 3.19 and 3.30 of the report).

5. That the proposed appointment of Balfour Beatty via the Scape 
Procure Framework for the delivery of this project (paragraph 3.34 of 
the report) be noted.

130. NEW NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY CONSULTATIONS 

This report was produced in response to the latest government planning 
policy consultations. Two specific consultation documents have been issued: 
a new National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), and a document on 
developer contributions. The proposed NPPF largely reflects changes to the 
existing NPPF drawing from previous consultations on which the Council has 
responded. The developer contributions document is a first consultation but 
largely concerns more technical matters.

The Head of Regeneration noted how some improvements had been made to 
the latest version of the NPPF but said that concerns had been raised in 
relation to housing delivery and the need to meet the additional requirements 
that had been put in place to address the current undersupply of housing. She 
said that the prescriptive nature of the requirements made it more difficult for 
Local Authorities when preparing their plans for housing. She also referred to 
an additional housing delivery test that had been introduced which, if not met, 
would result in the Council potentially being required to approve more housing 
development. She said that the local plan making aspects of the NPPF had 
been supported but noted that the additional requirements relating to the duty 
to cooperate with neighbouring Boroughs would make the whole process 
more complex. In response to an associated question she confirmed that a 
lack of housing delivery in neighbouring Boroughs would lead to a more 
difficult process and increase the amount of time required to establish an 
associated agreement.

With respect to the protection of the Green Belt the Head of Regeneration 
said that, in some respects, the document had been strengthened, but noted 
how this had then been watered down somewhat in the detailed parts of the 
document. During further discussion, where Members confirmed their wish to 
protect the Green Belt, she explained how the restrictions relating to infill 
developments in villages, and the development of brownfield sites within the 



CABINET
THURSDAY 12 APRIL 2018

4

Green Belt, had been relaxed and said that objections to these changes had 
been raised in the Council’s proposed response.

In response to a question relating to the Council’s Local Plan the Head of 
Regeneration said that the principles contained within NPPF strengthened its 
use as a starting point, but noted how some of the detail in the document 
undermined the Local Plan’s strength, which could allow developers to argue 
for development proposals that did not adhere to the Local Plan to be brought 
forward.

The Head of Regeneration then responded to a question relating to the 
viability of a development, and the way that it can be used by a developer to 
avoiding the delivery of supporting infrastructure or affordable housing, and 
said that this is considered in more detail in the developer contributions 
document where it had been proposed to keep the s106 and Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) schemes largely as they are. She said that it also 
proposed that viability be considered at the plan making stage rather than the 
development application stage which would mean that developers would be 
required to consider the cost of providing infrastructure etc. when assessing 
land values. She said that proposals in this area were still at an early stage of 
development as there were still many unknowns and exceptions that needed 
to be considered.

The Chairman then said that he felt that the NPPF should have identified 
ways of rewarding those Local Authorities who are meeting their housing 
delivery requirement or penalising those that fail. The Head of Regeneration 
agreed and said that those Local Authorities exceeding their delivery 
requirement should also be offered additional help to deliver the required 
supporting infrastructure. The impact that significant major developments in 
neighbouring Boroughs, close to their borders with Dartford, was having on 
local services and infrastructure was also highlighted.

RESOLVED:

1. That the Council’s response to the National Planning Policy Framework 
Consultation, as set out in Appendix A to the report, be endorsed. 

2. That the Council’s response to ‘Supporting Delivery through Developer 
Contributions’ be based on paragraph 5 of the report, and that the 
Head of Regeneration be granted delegated authority, in consultation 
with the Chairman of the Development Control Board, to approve the 
final response.

131. CIVIC CENTRE IMPROVEMENT WORKS 

This report sought approval from Members to support the proposed 
refurbishment works programme to the Civic Centre and commence the 
procurement process needed to appoint contractors to deliver the works.



CABINET
THURSDAY 12 APRIL 2018

5

Members referred to the problems that were currently being experienced with 
the building and supported the proposed refurbishment work. It was then 
asked whether it would be possible to create a second access point to the 
building in order to make it more attractive to other bodies who may be 
interested in renting some of the floor space. The Managing Director 
explained how plans were being developed to make each office area open 
plan before relocating staff to make more efficient use of the available space. 
He said that this could create areas that can be isolated and controlled by the 
new access control system, which may address data protection concerns that 
have been raised in the past. With respect to a second access point to the 
building he said that the ground floor’s current configuration would make this 
difficult to achieve.

Members noted the suggestion that had been made at the Cabinet Advisory 
Panel meeting to install a webcam system as part of the IT upgrade. In 
response the Managing Director advised that this was something that could 
be considered separately but noted how ‘line of sight’ would be an issue if a 
system was to be installed in the Council Chamber.

In response to other questions the Managing Director confirmed that the 
building already had an area where staff were able to relax and eat their 
lunch. He also said that he anticipated that the building would continue to be 
used as the Council’s base for the next 10 to 15 years and referred to a 
previous proposal, which had considered relocating the Council as part of the 
Co-op site redevelopment, where it had been estimated that £14m would 
have been required to construct a building, which, in the absence of an 
associated capital receipt, would have been seen as an unreasonable way to 
spend public money.

RESOLVED:

1. That the programme of works for the Civic Centre, as set out in the 
body of the report, be noted.

2. That the Strategic Director (External Services) be authorised to appoint 
contractors to deliver the works, on terms to be agreed with the Head 
of Legal Services.

132. PARKING PAY AND DISPLAY MACHINE REPLACEMENT 

This report sought the approval of Members to support the replacement of 12 
existing on-street and off-street Parking Metric pay and display machines with 
new IPS MS1 terminals / machines, and the approval of funding to complete 
the programme of work.

The Strategic Director (External Services) explained how the existing 
machines were old and unreliable and said that it was becoming difficult to 
source the spares necessary to keep them operational. She also noted how 
the new machines, as well as being more reliable, would accept cash, chip 
and PIN, mobile phone or contactless payments.



CABINET
THURSDAY 12 APRIL 2018

6

In response to a question relating to the recent theft of two old pay and 
display machines the Strategic Director (External Services) said that the new 
machines would be securely installed and would only be vulnerable if 
significant force were used. She also added that, by providing a wider range 
of payment methods, they would hold less cash inside, which would make 
them less attractive for potential thieves.

Members noted the discussion that had taken place at the Cabinet Advisory 
Panel meeting relating to the issuing of change and fact that, in the same way 
as the old machines, the new machines would also not issue change to over-
payers. The Strategic Director (External Services) said that it would be 
unusual for a change giving machine to be sited in an open air environment 
as they tend to be larger, need to be monitored and kept stocked with change, 
and would be more attractive to steal. She also noted how the parking 
charges in the car parks that are operated by the Council are set at clear price 
points such as £1, £2 which decreased the probability of someone requiring 
change. She then referred again to the other payment methods that were 
available and said that clear signage was provided to indicate that no change 
would be given. Members noted how other local authorities and some car 
parks in Dartford with private operators have charges which are not set at 
clear price points and had seen the problems that this can cause for drivers.

The Chairman then asked whether a ‘pay on exit’ scheme had been 
considered as this could allow a visitor to extend the length of time that they 
stay in the Town Centre without worrying about the length of their pre-paid 
parking time. The Strategic Director (External Services) replied that those car 
parks designated as ‘short term’ would always have a four hour parking time 
limit, and also noted how such a scheme would only work effectively for off-
street car parking areas. In response to a further question she also confirmed 
that the new machines would allow parking time to be topped up remotely 
from a mobile phone if the total parking time requested remained less that the 
maximum that is allowed for that particular parking area.

Councillor Perfitt, with the Chairman’s permission, voiced his support for a 
‘pay on exit’ scheme, which was similar to that which is in operation at Darent 
Valley Hospital, as he felt it would attract people to the Town Centre and 
encourage them to stay longer. He then referred to free parking schemes that 
he had seen operating in other areas and said that this would encourage even 
more people to visit the Town Centre. He also noted how the technological 
options for payment could cause problems for the older generations who may 
prefer paying by cash. The Chairman replied that free parking would not be 
practical for Dartford given the demand for all day commuter parking that 
would then monopolise spaces. He also noted that, as the income that is 
currently received is used to fund the parking enforcement operation, this 
funding would have to be sourced from elsewhere (e.g. from Council Tax 
payers) if the number of enforcement officers was to be retained at the current 
level. He also noted how visitors are able to top up their parking payment from 
a mobile phone and said that it was good to keep the number of visitors to the 
Town Centre turning over as those who have newly arrived are more 



CABINET
THURSDAY 12 APRIL 2018

7

profitable to businesses than those who have already been there for a few 
hours.

In response to a question on the costs associated with the range of parking 
schemes that had been considered the Strategic Director (External Services) 
said that she did not have the details to hand but knew that the installation 
and operational costs of each scheme had been comprehensively researched 
before the recommended option had been chosen.

Having considered all the points that had been raised during the debate 
Members agreed that the proposed replacement scheme should be approved.

RESOLVED:

That, in order to sustain appropriate and fit for purpose equipment to facilitate 
effective public parking provision in the Borough, the pay and display 
machines replacement programme, including budget provision, be approved.

133. HEALTH HUB AT THE CO-OP SITE 

The Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley (DGS) Clinical Commissioning Group 
(CCG) is looking to develop and deliver a health hub on the Co-op site which 
will enhance existing health and wellbeing provision and meet the needs of 
both current and new populations. This report provided an update for Cabinet 
on the CCG’s proposals.

The Chairman noted how this proposal would result in six GP practices in and 
around the Town Centre being relocated into the new hub and said that 
advantages of doing this would have to be promoted to residents since there 
were bound to be legitimate concerns that the CCG would need to address 
with patients. He said that, although this plan would build more resilience into 
the system and make it easier to book appointments and also allow surgeries 
to open for longer hours, local residents have forged strong relationships with 
their local GPs and surgeries and this must be taken into account. He then 
referred to the hub’s overall design and said that it would need to be better 
laid out and managed than similar facilities at other locations so that the 
relationship patients currently enjoyed with their GPs were not just 
maintained, but strengthened and placed at the heart of the design. The 
Managing Director referred to the associated financing and said that the 
overall cost, which was still being assessed, would influence the final size and 
nature of the hub. He also advised that the option of allowing charity 
organisations (e.g. Mencap) to provide services from the hub was being 
considered.

In response to a question on funding sources the Managing Director said that 
GP surgeries are often owned by doctors or leased and that any money that 
can be made from their disposal would be passed to NHS England to 
redistribute as considered necessary. He then referred to £2.7m that was 
being made available to the CCG to progress the project and the Strategic 



CABINET
THURSDAY 12 APRIL 2018

8

Director (External Services) noted that an associated business case would be 
required to enable this funding to be secured.

Members noted the progress that was being made by the CCG and NHS 
England but hoped that the health and wellbeing related facilities located in 
the Borough would continue to deliver the best possible care for those who 
need it in their communities.

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the report be noted.

134. UPDATE ON PROGRESS MADE TOWARDS IMPLEMENTATION OF THE 
HOMELESSNESS REDUCTION ACT 2017 

The Homelessness Reduction 2017 comes into force in England on 3 April 
2018. The new Act proposes several new duties on local housing authorities, 
many of which will require a change in working practices and additional 
resources. This report provided an update on measures that the Council’s 
Housing Service has made, and put in place, in preparation for the 
implementation of the Act.

The Strategic Director (External Services) referred to the significance of the 
legislation changes that were being made and said that it was too early to fully 
assess the impact that they would have on those receiving and providing the 
service. She then referred to the discussion that had taken place at the 
Cabinet Advisory Panel and said that the impact would be reviewed after 3 
months and that a further progress report would be prepared for Cabinet after 
6 months. She also referred to the advantages that would be delivered by the 
formation of a multi-agency “Homeless Hub” and said that the fact that 
external agencies were willing to come in and form part of the Hub 
demonstrated the high level of esteem that they held for the Council.

The Chairman noted how he had recently visited the Housing Solutions team 
and, having noted how impressed he had been with the team’s commitment, 
asked that his appreciation for the work that is being carried out be passed 
on.

The chairman also referred to the support that had been provided to the 
homeless by the Dartford Churches Winter Shelter and referred to the 
organisation’s appreciation for the contribution that the Council had made 
towards its running costs. He said that it would be interesting to see how the 
funding had been used and learn about the assistance that had been 
provided.

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the report be noted.



CABINET
THURSDAY 12 APRIL 2018

9

135. CHANGES TO THE DELIVERY OF SUPPORTED HOUSING SERVICES 
FOR DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL TENANTS OVER 55 YEARS OLD 

Kent County Council (KCC) funding for the Council’s Supported Housing 
service ceased on 31st March 2018. Changes need to be made to the service 
in order to mitigate the impact on existing tenants. This report set out new 
arrangements for the management of the Council’s supported housing 
schemes.

The Strategic Director (External Services) explained how the new model 
would continue to provide support for vulnerable tenants with no adverse 
financial impact to the Council or the tenants. She then referred to the benefits 
being delivered by the service and said that the support that was being 
provided was necessary, especially for those who were frail or exhibited 
behavioural problems due to health conditions. She also noted how the 
service enabled those living with dementia to remain living in their own homes 
and highlighted how those who were having to pay for the support service 
previously were now being asked to pay less.

In response to questions the Strategic Director (External Services) said that 
the changes being made meant that they were no longer required to provide 
support to those who did not need it, and noted how this had freed up 
capacity to provide additional support to those with the greatest need. She 
also confirmed that both tenants and their families had been involved in the 
consultation exercise that had been carried out prior to the service being 
changed.

Members welcomed the fact that the assistance being provided to those in the 
Council’s housing schemes was continuing.

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the report be noted.

The meeting closed at 8.23 pm

Councillor J A Kite, MBE
CHAIRMAN





CABINET
24 MAY 2018

STRATEGIC ISSUES CONSULTATION FOR A NEW LOCAL 
PLAN 

1. Summary

1.1 To undertake a first consultation for a new Local Plan, based on a discussion 
paper on potential strategic issues.

2. RECOMMENDATIONS: 

2.1 That a first stage public consultation be held for a six week period starting in 
early June on a Strategic Issues consultation paper.

2.2 That delegated authority for insertion of hyperlinks and illustrations, for layout,  
formatting and table amendments, and for typographic and non-material minor 
editing refinements, to Appendix A be delegated to the Planning Policy Manager 
in written consultation with Cllr Hunnisett (Local Plan Members Working Group 
Chairman) in order to finalise presentation of the Strategic Issues consultation 
paper. 

2.3 That the Core Strategy Review: Policy Monitoring report, the Local 
Development Scheme, and 2018 Five Year Housing Land Supply report be 
approved (Appendices B to D).

3. Background 

3.1 The Dartford Core Strategy Local Plan was adopted in 2011 after a 
number of years preparation. It sets out key policies to regenerate the 
Borough’s urban area, looking to the period 2026. There have been 
extensive changes in the planning system since it was prepared.

3.2 The Core Strategy was drafted under and influenced by a regional plan 
for the South East. Regional plans have now been abolished, with 
strategic planning requirements set through new legislation and policy 
through ‘Duty to Cooperate’. 

3.3 Shortly after the Core Strategy was adopted the first National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) was finalised, in 2012. This was followed by 
the creation of online national Planning Practice Guidance. There has 
subsequently been a series of proposals to further revise planning policy 
and legislation. A new revised NPPF was issued in draft for consultation 
in early 2018.

3.4 Complementing the Core Strategy:
 The Council adopted a Development Policies Local Plan and new 

Policies Map of the Borough in July 2017. This provided more detailed 
policies for smaller scale proposals, to ensure quality residential and 
supporting development and infrastructure, and to maintain specific 
locations for greenspace or jobs/ shopping purposes. 



CABINET
24 MAY 2018

 The Council has prepared Supplementary Planning Documents 
(SPDs) to help deliver Local Plans, most recently with extensive 
consultation on the proposals to accelerate the revival of Dartford town 
through the Town Centre Framework SPD, and associated plans.

 Dartford introduced its Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) in 2014, 
setting a local levy on qualifying new developments– to capture some 
development funding to support the delivery of infrastructure in the 
Borough. However individual Section 106 legal agreements still 
provide a major source of developer contributions, especially on larger 
sites/ those predating CIL.

 Applicable organisations can now put forward Neighbourhood 
Development Plans. Although local in focus and subject to a different 
process, these can have the status of Local Plans. Stone Parish 
Council are working on a Neighbourhood Development Plan.

3.5 The Ebbsfleet Development Corporation took responsibility for most 
planning applications in its area in 2015, however Dartford’s Local Plans 
remain the statutory starting point for consideration of applications across 
the Borough, including at Ebbsfleet.

3.6 The 2011 Core Strategy Local Plan continues to guide the overall 
distribution and balance of development in the Borough in this context. 
Also, new regulations within the last six months now require Local Plans 
to be subject to a “review” process every five years. A review of Dartford’s 
Core Strategy is therefore necessary.

4. Reviewing the Core Strategy

Core Strategy Review: Policy Monitoring-

4.1 Local Plans, especially those as ambitious as the Dartford Core Strategy, 
are subject to ongoing appraisal and challenge. Planning applicants, 
public and local organisations commonly raise issues arising from local 
and national planning policy with officers and members in the course of 
public engagement, and via planning applications. 

4.2 Local Plans are also subject to formal evaluation and scrutiny. The council 
is required to make public annual monitoring reports (AMRs) outlining data 
on development outcomes ‘on the ground’ against policy aims, and other 
relevant information (such as on Borough economic performance). 
Detailed housing supply research is also regularly required, indicating the 
Core Strategy’s performance with respect to this central aim of national 
policy.

4.3 The Core Strategy has also been critically evaluated by independent 
Planning Inspectors. This has occurred through Inspectors determining 
appeals on refusals of planning applications and reaching conclusions as 
to the applicability of local policy. More recently Core Strategy policies 
were challenged by objectors to the Development Policies Local Plan. 
These claims were essentially dismissed by the Planning Inspector in 
2017, enabling the Plan to be adopted, albeit on the proviso that certain 
topics i.e. retail/ Bluewater are reviewed in the next Local Plan. The 



CABINET
24 MAY 2018

council also produced bespoke evidence to the Inspector confirming the 
alignment of the Core Strategy as a whole with national policy.

4.4 In line with the new legislation, a specific report has been produced in draft 
form based on an objective approach of evaluating Core Strategy 
performance and examining available factual data.  The Core Strategy 
Review: Policy Monitoring report draft, attached at Appendix B, takes a 
structured and comprehensive look at each policy in the plan; drawing 
from existing published monitoring data and additional research. It also 
includes summaries of performance for each section of the Core Strategy. 

4.5 The Core Strategy Review: Policy Monitoring report concludes the Plan 
remains fit for purpose and finds: 
 The Core Strategy has overseen a substantial uplift in new house 

building, allied with the creation of new business premises and jobs 
(part of a strong recent economic performance in the Borough).

 There has been particular success in prompting the regeneration of 
sites in the north of the Borough and in maintaining Dartford’s Green 
Belt.

 All the major brownfield land development areas, the focal planned 
growth locations, have commenced. As expected, some will continue 
beyond the Core Strategy period to 2026.

 There was delay in various projects resulting from reduced investment 
during - and in the aftermath of - the major recession.

 There have been extensive shifts in government policy in recent years, 
both in terms of national planning principles, but also in terms of wider 
environmental/ building legislation. This has rendered selected parts 
of some Core Strategy policies largely inapplicable. This was partly 
mitigated by preparing Dartford’s 2017 Development Policies Local 
Plan; however government planning reforms continue.

 The Core Strategy was prescient in anticipating a need to review 
certain aspects of strategy as a result of on the ground changes and 
the growth it planned e.g. overall retail policy.

4.6 Legislation continues to support a plan-led system of planning, making up 
to date Local Plans a very powerful tool to shape development and protect 
local communities. The government however consider that if a one or 
more policies needs updating after five years, this necessitates a new 
Local Plan, either in full or partially.

4.7 The Core Strategy has eight years remaining on its expected time horizon. 
Local Plans are expected to deliver a strategy looking 15 years ahead, 
with a broad housing supply of at least ten years. Insufficient housing 
delivery or out of date housing plans will result in more developments 
being granted on appeal by the Planning Inspector applying government 
policy

4.8 Despite accordance with national policies (i.e. a healthy current overall 
housing supply in the Borough, and a successful strategy directing 
development away from inappropriate areas), some parts of the Core 



CABINET
24 MAY 2018

Strategy may eventually be seen to erode the strength and relevance of 
the plan as a whole. This suggests there is merit in commencing work on 
preparing a new Local Plan. This monitoring and review process notes the 
expectation that an updated Plan can help existing and new communities 
be complemented with additional infrastructure and supporting non-
residential uses.

Local Development Scheme-

4.9 It is a requirement to have a Local Development Scheme (LDS) formal 
programme for Local Plan production, and this is attached at Appendix C.

4.10 A Core Strategy review/ new Local Plan will be a major corporate and 
collaborative undertaking, requiring considerable up front evidence 
gathering, and a fresh programme of public participation. Given the 
required stages and duration, the proposed ‘Scheme’ considers options 
and risks in planning ahead. 

4.11 The proposed Scheme notes that major risks relate to the legal test on 
Local Plans to satisfy the ‘Duty to Cooperate’ on cross boundary planning. 
To this end, government promote joint Local Plans, but none have been 
proposed in Kent. Effective working relationships have already been 
formed on most key infrastructure matters; and the Borough has built a 
good track record of delivering the needed planning permissions and new 
planning policy. Therefore it is considered there are greater risks - and 
substantial uncertainty - if the Borough were to move away from the 
pattern of individual Local Plans in preparation in Kent. Accordingly a 
programme is put forward to work up a Local Plan for Dartford Borough 
(including the applicable parts of Ebbsfleet). 

4.12 The Scheme has taken account of other anticipated issues/ events ahead 
externally and internally, to aim for adoption of the updated Plan in 2020/ 
2021. 

4.13 Regard has been had to the government’s move towards threatening 
intervention in Local Plan making where targets in an LDS are missed. A 
reasonable projection of expected broad realistic dates has been featured 
in the milestones identified and precise dates will be confirmed and 
publicised nearer the time, and the public and interested parties informed. 
 

4.14 In summary, the future programme to develop the Local Plan in the 
Scheme is for it to evolve through a series of phases defined by 
regulations:
 2018 to late 2019: Evidence gathering, including commissioning 

technical studies, and initial consultation. The first round of 
consultation (Strategic Issues, in Dartford’s case) commonly requires 
further public consultation when more specific proposals and 
outcomes of major studies and consideration of options will be 
available for consideration; which could potentially occur in autumn 
2019. This period is known as Regulation 18 stage.



CABINET
24 MAY 2018

 2019 to 2020: Publication of a full draft Plan for formal public 
comments to be made on its ‘soundness’. This stage, also known as 
Regulation 19, will generate the proposals and views that will be the 
basis of independent scrutiny of the Plan.

 2020 onwards: After Publication stage, the Plan, evidence and formal 
comments on it, are forwarded to the Planning Inspector. The rate of 
progress is then largely determined by the Inspector who will conduct 
an Examination in Public. A further consultation, on proposed 
modifications to policies, is normally necessary to allow the Plan to 
come back to the council for adoption. The plan cannot be proposed 
for adoption by the Council until there is agreement from the Inspector 
that the Plan is legally compliant and sound.

5. Strategic Issues Consultation

5.1 It is proposed that an initial consultation be held as soon as possible to 
guide the scope of a new Local Plan. This will commence Local Plan 
progression as outlined in the Local Development Scheme and will inform 
evidence gathering decisions and, in turn, further public consultation on 
specific proposals. 

5.2 The particular purposes of the consultation paper are to:
 Set out to infrastructure providers, landowners and local authorities 

Dartford’s current priorities and likely future Borough needs/ 
requirements.

 Focus on the ‘big picture’ long-term development matters relevant to a 
Local Plan in Dartford, as the government emphasise the importance 
of up to date strategic planning policies. 

 Take views on the implications of past and forthcoming changes in 
national planning policy for Dartford.

 Enable feedback to be given on the Core Strategy and its 
implementation.

 Gather comments on priority actions for local planning strategy (given 
available planning policy tools/ powers in a Local Plan or associated 
statutory documents). 

5.3 The form of the document is to present information and invite responses, 
guided by – but not restricted to – open questions. The existing Dartford 
approach (in the Core Strategy and Development Policies Plan) generally 
provides the starting point, illustrating local perspectives.

5.4 Rather than trying to outline within the paper the full range of possible 
environmental, economic and social issues and data that may apply within 
the Borough, hyperlinks would support a discussion targeted at the main 
strategic matters highlighted by national policy or local research. This 
enables people to click through for more information where of interest, and 
avoids overly lengthy discussion. 

5.5 The main body of the consultation document has three chapters: 
 On Strategic Objectives and Issues: this asks about Core Strategy 

objectives and vision, and the possible scope of a new Local Plan, 



CABINET
24 MAY 2018

considering the direction of national policy. There is a section then that 
outlines the infrastructure and development context for cross boundary 
(Duty to Cooperate) considerations.

 On Features of the Development Strategy: existing strategic policy/ 
issues are outlined and questions posited about future priorities. The 
focus of this chapter is a thematic presentation of key long-term or live 
issues, and questions arising. Homes and economic development, 
transport and community infrastructure, and the natural and built 
environment are addressed in turn, based on the government’s 
priorities for Local Plan strategy.

 On Areas and Types of Development: this looks at the vital issue of 
the pattern of development. 

o Provisions in the Core Strategy for the Borough as a whole and 
its Priority Areas are reviewed, with questions on how to 
maintain/ update the approach, plus over matters such as 
landfill sites and communities in the north of the Borough. 

o The situation within the EDC area is outlined, along with 
important questions over the future of its undeveloped land. 

o Making effective use of land (particularly brownfield land) is 
then considered, outlining with local research on housing land, 
picking up changing national policy. 

o Information is then presented and questions put in relation to 
open space provision in the Borough, and Dartford’s Green 
Belt. 

o Finally, there is a set of questions for feedback on long-term 
development priorities, looking at factual data on individual 
localities.

5.6 Explaining and clarifying the Borough’s current position will assist public 
bodies and organisations charged with serving local needs, whether they 
be those in the Borough thinking ahead (e.g. a preparing a Neighbourhood 
Plan) or service providers looking to the future.

5.7 It is important to raise Dartford’s strategic issues and future opportunities 
to promote well-informed actions by infrastructure/ utility providers, and by 
prospective investors. Prompting feedback by key organisations through 
a consultation focused on Dartford’s own matters, will enable better 
informed negotiation by the Borough for the types of infrastructure and 
development Dartford needs in future.

5.8 This consultation can also help gather evidence to inform Duty to 
Cooperate discussions including Dartford that will need to be explored as 
Local Plan proposals evolve in Kent and London. Evidence of these 
negotiations will be closely scrutinised by the Planning Inspector, before 
other Local Plan matters are examined, in order to establish legal 
compliance.

5.9 Specific cooperation outputs, in the form of local cross boundary 
agreements, ‘Statements of Common Ground’, will be required by 
government in order to successfully adopt a Local Plan. There is little 
clarity from the government over how these agreements are expected to 
emerge including for authorities those that could be asked to take housing 



CABINET
24 MAY 2018

need from elsewhere. However, the Strategic Issues consultation and 
discussions arising will assist in setting out Dartford’s needs: for example, 
matters of relevance in terms of additional infrastructure funding risks, and 
awareness of development management pressures and assist in 
meaningful progress on Duty to Cooperate issues.

5.10 The Strategic Issues paper will be supported by a number of evidence 
base documents released for the consultation. This includes Core 
Strategy Review: Policy Monitoring report draft (Appendix B), initial 
statutory Sustainability Appraisal information, a guide to brownfield sites 
with residential potential illustrating the approved Brownfield Land 
Register, maps of land put forward to the Council (from a ‘call for sites’ for 
long-term consideration as potential future residential development), and 
a draft 2018 Five Year Housing Land Supply document (Appendix D). The 
latter will help reinforce the continuing applicability of the Core Strategy 
and its planned housing supply whilst early consultations are held on 
future policy.

5.11 It is also intended to update Dartford’s ‘bulletin’ issued last year for the 
public and local organisations, a user-friendly summary of local and 
national policy proposals.

6. Next Steps

6.1 Strategic Issues consultation is proposed to run for a six week period from 
early June, aiming to close before the school holiday period. The 
consultation will be publicised on the council’s website, and all known 
interested members of the public and organisations will be informed. 
Community groups will be briefed at meetings including, it is proposed, at 
the Borough and Parish Council Forum. Further details on the 
engagement principles guiding the consultation can be found in the 2017 
Dartford Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) in planning.

6.2 The outcomes of the Strategic Issues consultation will be reported back 
to Cabinet before moving to the next Local Plan consultation stage. The 
Core Strategy Review: Policy Monitoring and 2018 Five Year Housing 
Land Supply documents will be confirmed; or alternatively reported back 
to Cabinet if their finalisation requires material changes in response to 
objections. 

6.3 To prepare specific options for the next consultation, the Local Plan 
Members Working Group can oversee preparatory work, considering the 
evidence from new studies and public feedback to date. Further public 
engagement will occur at the stages set out in the Local Development 
Scheme; more worked up and specific ideas can facilitate use of 
additional public participation methods, consistent with the SCI. 

6.4 Progress on the Duty to Cooperation/ Statements of Common Ground will 
also be necessary over time to ensure the Plan is on track to be 
successfully examined by the Planning Inspectorate, once the council has 
agreed a final draft for publication. 

 



CABINET
24 MAY 2018

7. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

7.1 To ensure that regeneration in Dartford is sustainable and of benefit to all 
of our communities.

7.2 To facilitate quality, choice and diversity in the housing market, to create 
strong and self- reliant communities and deliver high quality services to 
service users. 

8. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications Limited implications, all deal with through 
existing budget. 

Legal Implications Legislation at this stage in plan preparation is 
generally non-prescriptive and has been 
considered and addressed, particularly in the 
Local Development Scheme.

Staffing Implications No implications with risk

Administrative 
Implications

No implications with risk

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

9. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

10. Appendices

Appendix A: Dartford New Local Plan – Strategic Issues Consultation 
2018

Appendix B: Core Strategy Review – Policy Monitoring report draft
Appendix C: Dartford Local Plan - Local Development Scheme 2018
Appendix D: 2018 Five Year Deliverable Housing Land Supply draft 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Mark Aplin 
(01322) 343202

Planning Policy, 
Regeneration Services

N/A



 

APPENDIX A 

 

   
We are after your initial views on the big 

development and environmental issues 

facing the Borough. This will help in 

reviewing Dartford’s main existing town 

and country planning document, the Core 

Strategy.   

Dartford	New	
Local	Plan	
Strategic	Issues	
Consultation	2018	



1 
 

 

Contents 

 

A. Context                      2 

 

B. Dartford’s Strategic Development Objectives and Issues    5 

 

C. Features of the Development Strategy for the Borough    11 

 

D. Main Areas and Types of Future Development        26 

 

 

[NOTE FOR THIS DRAFT:  

HYPERLINKS TO BE INSERTED THROUGHOUT TO APPLICABLE 

FURTHER INFOFRMATION FOR ALL UNDERLINED/ FOOTNOTE TEXT 

CONTENTS PAGE TO BE EXPANDED 

FINAL PROOF READ NEEDED 

HEADERS, FOOTERS/ SUB HEADINGS FOR CLARITY ETC.]  

   



2 
 

A. Context 
 

1. Dartford  Borough’s  population  and  economy  is  growing.  Development  of  the  urban  area  is 

bringing regeneration and prosperity. This brings redundant and under used land back to life, 

and supports local facilities and the plans for new infrastructure.  To maximise the benefits of 

the extra jobs and facilities, and new communities, the Local Plan protecting the Green Belt and 

coordinating  regeneration  in  Dartford  should  be  kept  up  to  date.  The  Local  Plan  plays  an 

important role as the legal basis for deciding whether to approve or decline new development 

proposals for the Borough.  

LOCAL PLANNING FOR THE BOROUGH’S DEVELOPMENT. 

2. We are asking for your thoughts on what the next Local Plan for the Borough should contain1. 

This stage is about the ‘Big Issues’ to address in Dartford’s local planning strategy. As explained 

below, although  it will  flow from local characteristics and public consultation,  it cannot only 

reflect the views of Dartford’s residents and Council: wider needs will have to be taken  into 

account. In particular, the total level of future housing development to find locations for in the 

Borough, has been  set by  the  government. However many  important  questions need  to  be 

considered  by  Dartford  as  to  ‘where’,  ‘how’  and  the  type  of  housing,  commercial  and 

community development. 

 

3. This  is  the  first  consultation  on  a  new  Local  Plan,  and  it  asks what  are  the most  important 

strategic  development  issues  now  facing  the  Borough?  What  are  the  main  economic, 

environmental  and  social  priorities  looking  ahead  (towards  the  2030s)?  How  can  these  be 

addressed through selective local planning policies that the government will allow to have legal 

force against developers? 

 

4. The  overall  approach  is  currently  set  out  in  the  2011  Dartford  Core  Strategy  Local  Plan 

document. The first step in considering a new Dartford Local Plan is reviewing the existing Core 

Strategy  for  the  Borough,  including major  development  locations,  the  amount  and  type  of 

housing, and the approach to commercial uses. Although more than five years old, we think 

evidence shows this Plan is performing well in many respects. However as a new Local Plan is 

based on substantial  technical work and public consultation and  is not expected to  take  full 

force  for  two  or  three  years,  we  have  decided  to  start  work  now  on  updating  future 

development strategy for the Borough. 

 

5. Having no Local Plan, or out of date policies, risks many more planning decisions being taken by 

central government, rather than Dartford Council. This  is because developers have a right of 

appeal to the Planning Inspectorate where Councils do not grant planning permission. Appeals 

are much more likely to succeed and development be granted where Local Plans are outdated. 

 

                                                            
1 This is officially known as a Regulation 18 public consultation, undertaken under Regulation 18 of The Town 
and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 



3 
 

6. We  introduced new  ‘development management’  policies,  in  the  2017 Development  Policies 

Local  Plan.  This  complements  the development  locations  and  levels  in  the  Core  Strategy by 

providing more detailed guidance  for planning applications  received by  the Council  and  the 

Ebbsfleet Development Corporation (EDC). It accords with national policy, particularly the 2012 

National Planning Policy Framework  (NPPF2). These policies are all  shown on  the  interactive 

version of the 2017 Policies Map for the Borough. 

NATIONAL PLANNING POLICIES APPLYING IN DARTFORD. 

7. The government have been revising the planning system. In particular, there is now a strong 

emphasis  on  housebuilding,  and  on  ensuring  this  is  led  by  up‐to‐date  Local  Plans.  National 

planning policy currently requires Local Plans3 to plan at least 10 years ahead for future housing 

land supply.  It also notes  the need  to  look ahead 15 years  (or more)  in producing strategic, 

longer term, policies4.  Dartford’s plan documents currently plan towards 2026, so a review of 

the approach to strategy for future development is required.  

  

8. In March 2018 the government issued a revised draft NPPF for public consultation. Dartford has 

responded to this, and some of the questions below pick up from new proposals by government. 

A new version of the NPPF will be finalised and will apply to the next stages in forming Dartford’s 

new Local Plan.  

 

9. National  policy  is  a  very  important  starting  point  as  the  Local  Plan  will  be  checked  by  an 

independent Planning Inspector as to whether it complies. This will occur via an ‘Examination 

in Public’ process, which occurs after the Council has considered public consultation responses 

and prepared a full draft Plan. 

ABOUT THIS CONSULTATION AND FUTURE STEPS. 

10. At  this  stage  it  is  important  both  to  get  the  views  of  local  residents,  businesses  and  the 

organisations  that  provide  infrastructure  and  services  for  Dartford  and  the wider  area. We 

welcome all relevant comments, but given the breadth of issues looked at the outset of a Local 

Plan we have asked some key questions. It is likely some people may only wish to respond to a 

selection of questions, but please try and comment on as many as possible. 

 

11. There  is  considerable  existing  relevant  policy  and evidence  to  consider when  responding  to 

Dartford’s  strategic  issues,  especially  current  and  proposed  national  policy.  This  document 

guides people and organisations to them through hyperlinks i.e. embedded links click on to the 

background documents on‐line. Please email or call us if you have to access this document in 

hard copy form and need to discuss some of the hyperlinked information.   

 

12. A  review  of  Core  Strategy  policies  and  overall  performance  has  been  prepared  for  this 

consultation. It is one of the most important accompanying documents prepared alongside this 

                                                            
2 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), March 2012. 
3 NPPF paragraph 47 
4 NPPF paragraph 157 



4 
 

paper;  recommended  to be considered  in parallel. This  is a very useful document  if you are 

interested in the context of existing local strategy and the ‘state of play’ in the Borough.  

 

13. This  consultation will  inform Dartford’s  consideration of what  the preferred and alternative 

options are for the future development strategy in the Borough. This will also require further 

detailed  technical  studies.  Further  public  consultation  will  follow,  providing  residents  and 

others with a chance to respond to specific policy proposals. This is likely to be next year, for a 

formal outline of the planned Local Plan programme, see the Local Development Scheme. 

You may wish to view Dartford’s glossary5 of terms produced last year. 

   

                                                            
5 Development Policies Plan (2017) 



5 
 

B. Dartford’s Strategic Development  

Objectives and Issues 
 

14. This chapter begins to look at what is meant by big ‘strategic’ planning issues, the most relevant 

broad topics to consider in preparing a Local Plan, and how to tackle more detailed policy. The 

strategic  issues are below (firstly) related to planning for the  long term through ‘sustainable 

development’ and revisiting the Core Strategy’s aims; then the chapter covers strategic planning 

in  the  context of  considering beyond Borough boundaries.  This  raises  some major  issues  to 

consider in setting goals and local rules, helping outline preparation of Dartford’s development 

strategy.  

NATIONAL POLICY AND SCOPE OF THE LOCAL PLAN. 

15. National policy sets out there are three dimensions6 to achieving sustainable development, with 

planning having an economic role, a social role, and an environmental role. Usefully, it currently 

also sets out twelve core land use principles7 for planning, including Local Plans.  

The Core Strategy formulated ten Strategic Objectives for planning, and a Vision for Dartford 

2026. 

 

16. The review of Core Strategy policy considers current local strategy has had particular success in 

achieving economic development and new housing in line with the planned settlement pattern 

whilst protecting the Green Belt. This major progress also achieves national policy objectives.  

 

17. Eight years remain until the planned end date of the Core Strategy (2026). Whilst several specific 

objectives have been achieved, some are work in progress or require significant further planning 

as set out in the review document. This is attributed to the reduction in private development 

activity, and cuts in public expenditure, following the major economic recession. In the last few 

years, development levels in the Borough have substantially increased as economic conditions 

have allowed planned objectives to be delivered. In summary, new homes and jobs are on track. 

 

18. Planning local strategy forward to the 2030s is not simply about projecting the existing approach 

ahead  (or  just  rejecting  it).  Changes  planned  are,  in  some  localities  in  Dartford,  reaching  a 

conclusion. Elsewhere  in  the Borough,  there are a  few planned developments that have not 

commenced, for example by Ebbsfleet International station. And nationally, some changes have 

                                                            
6 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 2012, Para 7 
7 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 2012, Para 17 

1. What do you think of the current strategic objectives 
and future vision of Dartford?



6 
 

occurred or are planned that were not envisaged when the Core Strategy was in preparation 

nearly 10 years ago. This includes changes to national planning policy. 

19.   The successful adherence to the Core Strategy’s approach means the Borough as a whole  is 

being maintained and developing in line with overall plans. These are shown in its ‘Key Diagram’ 

summary, reproduced here:  

Core Strategy: Key Diagram8 

 

 

19. This depiction of the future is still relevant; the Borough’s Green Belt designated lands, across 

the southern half of Dartford, and at Dartford Marshes, have been protected, with development 

directed to the north of the Borough. Green Belt land is a special planning designation all about 

openness and permanence. There are no current signals that any further strategic Green Belt 

changes (or significant greenfield development in it) need occur in the Borough.  

 

20. Nevertheless, preparation for a new Local Plan is considered appropriate to allow for general 

updating given changes ahead, including: 

 the  impact  of  major  development  (to  reflect  ‘on  the  ground’  circumstances  or  the 

emergence of new local environments/neighbourhoods)  

 past and proposed shifts in national policies and legislation, and  

                                                            
8 Core Strategy (2011) Borough Key Diagram, page 21 



7 
 

 the  need  to  increasingly  focus  on  planning  ahead  to  ensure  infrastructure  delivery 

alongside development. 

 

21. The government’s focus is on ensuring local areas have an agreed up‐to‐date plan in place that 

covers ‘strategic policies’. However it is often qualitative issues such as character and providing 

the full range of uses for residents in a timely manner, that are typically of local concern. This 

was one reason for Dartford’s production of  the 2017 Development Policies Plan; and other 

additional  policy  to  current  strategy  (such  as  the  Housing  Windfall  and  Town  Centre 

Supplementary Planning Documents). One consideration now is the extent to which, if at all, 

we  need  to  aim  to  revisit  the  development  management  policies  (e.g.  standards  for  new 

development, protective designations etc.) in the Plan adopted last year. This could lead to a 

single Local Plan for the Borough. 

 

22. Supplementary Planning Documents can be produced for the Borough more rapidly but have 

less power. Similarly, interest in setting out policy to manage local change has also lead to Stone 

Parish Council commencing work on preparing of a Neighbourhood Development Plan. This type 

of Plan can be as influential as a Local Plan. In any event, these local policies should be consistent 

with the delivery of the Borough’s strategic policies. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2a. Should the next Dartford Local Plan be predominantly concerned 
with main strategic issues, or is it also necessary to prepare for a 
further update of detailed development management policies? 

2b.What do you think is the most important long‐term topic to feature 
in strategic policies for the Borough? 

2c. Is there a pressing need to deliver new local guidance on other 
policy areas, if so what? 



8 
 

STRATEGIC PLANNING, INFRASTRUCTURE AND THE DUTY TO COOPERATE. 

23. Local Plans have to be produced in the context of a ‘Duty to Cooperate’ with other public bodies. 

Notably, there is a focus on coordinating with other Local Planning Authorities so that all Local 

Plans are informed by consideration of how/where total housing and commercial development 

need in the wider area, and infrastructure requirements, will be met. This is a legally‐binding 

‘test’ that the Planning Inspector must be satisfied is met at the outset of examining a Local 

Plan.   

 

24. Dartford has a strong economy and local identity. The Borough however occupies a relatively 

small area in a very accessible location, so there are high levels of flows in and out. This increases 

the challenge of effective cooperation across boundaries. There are multiple district,  county 

and unitary authorities with which Dartford has a functional or administrative connection. On 

many measures, including official Travel to Work Areas, the geographic origins of people moving 

in and independent national assessments of strategic level ‘housing market areas’ Dartford is 

within  a  functional  area9  extending  across  much  of  southeast  England’s  population  that  is 

centred on Greater London. Dartford is one of many authorities that border London, and many 

more also have significant functional relationships with it. 

 

25. The council set out its understanding of the current cross boundary strategic matters for the 

Examination  in Public of  the Development Policies Plan, and  is now  in discussion with other 

authorities producing Local Plans.  It  is clear that major strategic (cross boundary) matters  in 

Dartford may include: 

 Infrastructure:  including  problems  with  the  strategic  roads,  the  rail  network  and  future 

potential improvements, and education and health provision. 

 Ebbsfleet:  Although  this  plan will  focus  on  Dartford  Borough,  the  Ebbsfleet  Development 

Corporation’s  boundary  also  extends  into  Gravesham  Borough;  all  within  Kent  County 

Council’s administrative area. 

 Development needs: including housing, retail and economic development. 

 

26. We have been working proactively and collaboratively with public agencies on cross‐boundary 

issues such as input with the South East authorities to the draft London Plan, and in particular, 

to  take  forward  strategic  transport  projects  in Dartford  i.e. M25/ Dartford  Crossing  and A2 

improvements, and future new rail services. An outline of projects can be found later in this 

document. 

 

27. Funding arrangements are a priority consideration in cross‐boundary infrastructure work led by 

local authorities. Dartford introduced the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) to the Borough 

to  build  up  a  pool  of  funds  to  be  contribute  to  infrastructure,  as  Dartford  favours  the 

transparency of a levy set out in advance, and the objective of simplicity. CIL however is set at 

a  level  at  which  development  is  generally  not  rendered  unviable,  rather  than  to  fill  the 

infrastructure  funding  gap.  Developer  contribution  funding  for  necessary  policy  and 

                                                            
9 Interim Duty to Cooperate Statement (December 2014) 



9 
 

infrastructure requirements should originate from the value paid for land when purchased for 

development. 

 

28. The government have  reviewed  the operation of CIL nationally  (alongside  Section 106  legal 

agreements for developer contributions on individual, usually  large, developments). This has 

suggested the regime continue, but be refined. More radical developer contribution proposals 

under exploration by the government include aiming to ‘front load’ discussions over developer 

contributions and requirements to the Examination of Local Plans i.e. in advance of planning 

applications. The government’s consultation suggests a greater inter‐relationship between the 

viability  evidence used  in  Local  Plan making  and CIL  rate  setting. Updated Borough  viability 

evidence, together with the proposed future operation of CIL and S106, will almost certainly 

require a review of Dartford’s CIL rates. 

 

29. On  the  geographic  scope  of  a  Local  Plan,  the  government  recognises  potential  for  strategic 

policy to be addressed though joint Plans. There are no arrangements in place or proposed in 

Kent County.  

 

30. Dartford Council‘s view has been, that the current pattern of  individual single Borough Local 

Plans in the area are believed to be capable of being produced most speedily and efficiently, 

and are best placed to respond decisively to local environmental needs, economic uncertainties 

and changing central government and local community requirements. Accordingly, and in light 

of  the  pressing  need  to maintain  ongoing work  on  new  infrastructure within  Dartford,  the 

current expectation and programme10 is a Local Plan for Dartford Borough.  

 

31. Any Local Plan will be well informed by key considerations from other areas through the ‘Duty 

to Cooperate’.  (This should be assisted by the revival of central government interest11 in the 

growth  potential  of  authorities  on  the  Thames/  East  of  London,  and  cross‐boundary 

infrastructure  needs).  To  this  end,  we  outlined  and  discussed  a  framework  for  positive 

enhanced cross‐boundary working through a local Protocol for communication and action.  

 

32. The government has set out new expectations for cooperation between planning authorities to 

lead to agreements (‘Statements of Common Ground’) on the development of the wider area, 

to be reflected in Local Plans. Alongside this, the government also published the proposals for 

their new national housing need methodology, providing important context for local authorities 

as seek to meet the Duty to Cooperate. The annual requirement for each authority is set out 

below for Dartford and its neighbours; along with information on their size (land area): 

 

 

 

                                                            
10 LDS ref 
11 TEC or recent statement on its priorities 



10 
 

Local Planning 
Authority 

Size 
(hectares) 

Housing need p.a. under new proposed national 
methodology 

Dartford    7,600   778 

Bexley London 
Borough 

 6,100  1,723 

Gravesham    9,900   508 

Sevenoaks  37,000   698 

Thurrock Unitary  16,300  1,158 

 

33. This picture is complicated by emerging proposals in the draft London Plan and other Plans in 

preparation. The government have chosen not to confirm the specific ‘geographies’ relevant to 

Dartford  or  the  other  authorities  for  the  purposes  of  taking  forward  cross  boundary 

cooperation/ agreements. 

 

 

 

   

3a. What do you consider is the main cross boundary planning/ 
infrastructure issue extending beyond Dartford for the council to work on 

with other councils and public sector agencies?

3b. Do you support the aims in the Protocol for Action and Communication?

3c. What do you think are the main implications for the Dartford Local 
Plan, in the Borough and  with cross boundary working, of the 

government’s consultation on the approach to development contributions?



11 
 

C. Features of the Development 

Strategy for the Borough 

 
34. This chapter  looks at  the  issues  that need  to be addressed  in planning  for  the  future of  the 

Borough,  highlighting  key  existing  evidence  and  the  most  critical  matters  arising  looking 

forward. 

EXISTING STRATEGIC ISSUES. 

35. The government’s strategic priorities12 for Local Plans are as follows:  

 Pattern and scale of development.  

 Homes and workplaces needed. 

 Retail, leisure and commercial development 

 Infrastructure provision for transport, utilities, and flood risk (etc). 

 Community, health and cultural facilities. 

 Climate change mitigation and adaptation, and the natural and built environment. 

 

36. The pattern and scale of development is considered in the following chapter, including Green 

Belt protection. The other topics are addressed in the next part of this chapter, with a series of 

data sources provided that you may wish to consider. Homes and workplaces are considered 

alongside  retail  and  leisure;  and  community  infrastructure  alongside  physical  infrastructure 

(including transport). 

 

37. In terms of local issues within current policy, the Core Strategy Local Plan’s themes for Dartford 

were:  

 Context and Priority Areas for Development [Chapter 1 and 2] 

 Economy, Homes, Shopping, Green Belt & Green Space, and Transport [Chapter 3] 

 Creating Strong and Prosperous Communities [Chapter 4] 

 Sustainable Growth [Chapter 5] 

 And Delivery & Implementation [Chapter 6] 

 

38. These were supplemented by policies in the Development Policies Plan (2017), which includes 

multiple  policies  on  Transport  Management,  Housing  in  Dartford,  Heritage  &  the  Historic 

Environment, Dartford Town Centre and The Green and Open Space Network, and other topics. 

 

 

 

                                                            
12 Draft NPPF 20. 



12 
 

39. We consider the above issues are still applicable in the Borough, with a fundamental need to 

plan for the right type and level of development, for infrastructure provision and environmental 

protection.  The  need  to  have  robust  plans  in  place  for  these  issues  has,  in  some  cases, 

intensified;  for  instance,  for  transport  and  travel  in  Dartford,  and  maintaining  sufficient 

greenspace, especially in the Green Belt.   

 

 
 

40. The remainder of this chapter looks at strategic issues thematically and in turn, setting out a 

range of information sources and outlining key points for consideration. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

4a. Looking at issues identified in current policy, is there anything 
additional that needs to be tackled in a new Local Plan? 

4b. Which issues are lesser importance in terms of future strategic 
policies for the Borough?



13 
 

Homes, workplaces; and retail, 
leisure and commercial 

development. 
 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 

 

 

 

EXISTING POLICIES:   

Core Strategy Development Policies Plan 

CS2: Dartford Town Centre 
DP1: Dartford’s Presumption in 
Favour of Sustainable Development 

CS3: Northern Gateway Strategic Site 
DP6: Sustainable Residential 
Locations 

CS4: Ebbsfleet to Stone Priority Area 
DP8: Residential Space and Design 
in New Development 

CS5: Ebbsfleet Valley Strategic Site DP9: Local Housing Needs 

CS6: Thames Waterfront 
DP10: Gypsy, Traveller, and 
Travelling Showpeople 
Accommodation 

CS7: Employment Land and Jobs 
DP14: Retail and Town Centre 
Development 

CS8: Economic Change 
DP15: Dartford Town Centre and its 
Primary Frontage 

CS10: Housing Provision 
DP16: Dartford Town Centre’s 
Secondary Areas 

CS11: Housing Delivery DP17: District Centres 

CS12: Network of Shopping Centres DP18: Neighbourhood Centres 

CS18: Housing Mix 
DP19: Food and Drink 
Establishments 

CS19: Affordable Housing DP20: Identified Employment Areas 

CS20: Gypsies and Travellers  



14 
 

HOMES	(1)	
 

 

• The Borough’s housing requirement under the proposed national standard
housing methodology was calculated in 2017 at a minimum of 778 homes per
year.

• This is more than past calculations of local need, but less than the averaged
current ‘up to’ aim of 865p.a. homes to 2026 to deliver the regeneration of
specific large brownfield sites (capacity set out in adopted policy CS10).

• Under Core Strategy policy 622 p.a. homes have been provided since 2006 (a
period both including the recession and aftermath, and recent economic
recovery period).

• The Core Strategy was formed in the context of generous brownfield land
availability to 2026 across the urban area / north of the Borough. There is not
currently clarity beyond this point, but the availability of brownfield land will
likely reduce at some point, depending on the rate of build out, and
development may become more focussed on certain locations/ land sources.

• On the basis of existing permissions, at present the Borough has signifcantly
over 10 years’ worth of housing supply if the requirement is 778p.a. –the
national policy obligation for Local Plans. However, the developable supply of
housing land is changeable, and moreover, the annual requirement could
increase in the Plan.

• The Borough has five years’ deliverable housing land future supply as
required under current and proposed national policy. In the last three years
(2015/16 – 2017/18) in the Borough, total housing delivery equalled 3,164
units, compared to a current requirement (under the government’s new
methodology) of 2,334 units. If the proposed new Housing Delivery Test were
to be applied in this way, the Borough also complies on the basis (equating to
136%).

• House prices have grown above the national average. Locally, an increase in
house prices of 13% occurred in 2016/17 (for example).

• In 2016/17, total delivery of affordable housing was bolstered by direct‐
build new council housing by Dartford, and amounted to 213 new affordable
homes for residents. According to official national statistics, Dartford provided
550 new affordable units in 2017/18 .

• Affordable housing delivery, as currently defined in the NPPF, includes social
and affordable rented, and applicable ‘intermediate’ tenures.



15 
 

 

• The new draft NPPF’s glossary proposes to define ‘affordable housing’ as
including affordable housing for rent, Starter Homes, Discounted market sales
housing, and Other routes to home ownership. It also identifies Build to Rent,
Entry Level Exception Site(s), and Rural Exception Sites. This would
considerably broaden out the definition of affordable housing and other
housing products than under the current 2012 NPPF.

• There is currently no up to date local evidence on the overall scale of need
for these different types of housing.

• There is however strong indications to the Council of particularly high need
for affordable housing for rent.

• Government seek to ensure only sites of ten dwellings or more contribute to
affordable housing provision. This is contrary to existing Dartford policy CS19.

• There are 12 households on the Council’s Self Build Register, lower than the
level of entries on a number of Registers elsewhere in Kent.

• More information on the type of housing that has been provided is available
in annual monitoring reports (AMR).

• In common with other parts of the country, the housing needs of specific
groups of the population will require close consideration. Populations are
overall increasingly skewed towards old age groups (with major implications
for services such as elderly care). The proportion of people aged over 55 is
projected to slowly increase in Dartford, but the Borough has a lower than
national/ county average proportion of these older age groups.

• Through policy DP8 Dartford introduced the nationally described space
standards; and also seeks new housing development that is designed to be
accessible/ adaptable for all users and their changing needs over time
(through triggering national Building Regulations based standards),
particularly by promoting dwellings complying with Category M4(2). The
London Plan requires all new build housing to meet these standards, with 90%
category M4(2). This provides flexibility of layout/ spaces in homes, and
specific construction features, which benefit older people (for example).

• Dartford policy DP6 sets out requirements that developments providing five
or more new dwellings, that were not identified with potential at the Core
Strategy stage (the existing ‘SHLAA’) are ‘windfalls’ and subject to high
sustainability criteria. This is in order to ensure that the focus of additional
development is on brownfield sites and that impact on infrastructure such as
transport is minimised.

• New national policy is proposed to require one fifth (or more) of Local Plan
“sites identified for housing” to be on land of half a hectare or less in size, and
additional sources of housing such as ‘windfalls’ are encouraged.

• The government also expect Local Plans to quantify and address the
accommodation needs of the Gypsy, Travellers and Travelling Showpeople; a
new, more ‘focused’ definition of ‘traveller’ for planning purposes now
applies.

HOMES	(2)	



16 
 

JOBS	AND	COMMERCIAL	
 

 

• Significant employment development has occurred . Between 2006‐17, an
average of 19,140 sqm each year of new business (B‐class) floorspace has
been completed. However this has not been split equally between the sectors
identified in policy CS8, for example there has been 147,000 sqm new B8
(logistics/ distribution) versus 53,250 sqm of B1 (office/ light industrial).

• Over a third of the net increase in jobs in Kent in the five years to 2014
comes from Dartford alone. In that period Dartford provided nearly 9,000
additional jobs: more than the surrounding four larger Boroughs put together
(Bexley, Thurrock, and Sevenoaks & Gravesham). The Borough is alone
amongst these authorities in having more jobs than residents of primary
working age (16‐64 years).

• The Borough has succeeded in providing jobs alongside housing growth.
ONS reports that Dartford had a job density of 1.03 in 2016 i.e more jobs than
homes.

• Policy DP20 has been introduced to identify and map main employment
areas, across the urban and rural parts of the Borough, allowing for their
purpose to be maintained and appropriate diversification to be managed.

• The largest proportion of jobs by industry within Dartford is Wholesale and
Retail Trade (22.2%), Health and Social (15.9%), Construction (12.7%) and
Administrative and Support Services (11.1%) .

• The Borough’s economy is robust compared to other Kent districts.
Unemployment is low (1.1% in 2016) and median weekly full‐time earnings for
Dartford for both resident based and workplace based remain higher (over
£600) than both the Kent and Great Britain average. More people travel to the
Borough for work, than leave it for work elsewhere (including London): net in‐
commuting. At the time of the last census, a net inflow of more than 5,000
people a day travelled in to the Borough for work.

• Longer distance commuting occurs not just to central London, but also in to
Dartford from and to locations such as Greenwich London Borough and non‐
metropolitan Kent.

• The acceleration of new job provision in Dartford ahead of all the
surrounding areas has transport implications. In short, significant transport
demand in, out and through the Borough is present. This is problematic
especially as north‐south links are road dependent, and train stations are
generally not well located near the largest employers.



17 
 

RETAILING	AND	LEISURE	(1)	
(INCLUDING	DARTFORD	TOWN	CENTRE) 

 

• There has been fundamental change in the retail sector since the Core
Strategy was prepared. On‐line expenditure has grown substantially; but town
centres still are places that provide a vibrant mix of uses, opportunities for
people to travel sustainably and access essential facilities, as places of leisure,
to meet and for communities to come together, and reflecting local identity
and history.

• As with the preparation of the Core Strategy, national policy requires Local
Plans to identify and support town centres, including meeting future growth
needs positively, and locating development within centres first.

• The national trend for retailing to be increasingly associated with either on‐
line deliveries (or click and collect), or leisure visits to shopping locations
where there are attractive facilities (particularly for eating out) has been
observed in the Borough. Going back to the start of the Core Strategy period
(2006) an overall loss of A1 shop floorspace in the Borough has been almost
completely offset by the growth in café/restaurant floorspace; with a good
performance by Dartford town centre in recent years.

• Dartford town centre contains significant potential for further new jobs and
homes in line with local and national policy. A number of development sites
are available, including as set out in adopted policy CS2, and detailed
regeneration plans are being drawn up in the Town Centre Framework SPD.

• There is evidence of how the town centre is improving, with lower vacancy,
higher footfall, new uses and major opportunities for investment. The high
level of growth expected (including new households from 2,850 dwellings with
planning permission) within a mile of the town centre provides the
opportunity to significantly increase footfall and expenditure at the town
centre’s shops .

• Of nearby centres in Kent and London, independent data provides a basis for
comparison. This suggests Dartford’s retail offer and performance can be most
closely compared to Orpington, with having a similar quantity of retail
floorspace and comparable “Venuescore” (Dartford at 261 is slightly better
ranked than Orpington at 290). However it remains essential to plan positively
for the distinct offer the town centre will have in future to attract local
residents/ working population, and avoid the need for regular journeys to
more distant centres by car.



18 
 

RETAILING	AND	LEISURE	(2) 

 

QUESTIONS 

 

Homes 

 

• Bluewater is a major employer in the Borough and for adjoining areas. It
provides a regional shopping facility in Kent and the wider region, mainly
competing with other facilities of a similar scale, including Westfield’s Stratford
City, shops at Lakeside, and (in future) a further Westfield major shopping centre
at Croydon.

• Bluewater’s Core Strategy policy CS12 set out strategy in the context of it
functioning as a specialist regional comparison centre. With a regional function,
extensive discussion between Local Planning Authorities occurred both at that
stage and recently.

• A review of retail strategy is anticipated in current policy for the next Local
Plan. This should take account of changing overall retail and leisure trends,
pressures across the country for existing centres to update their purpose and
appeal, and major issues more locally ‐such as changes in expenditure patterns
arising from the new consumers occurring due to housing developments.

5. Considering available evidence on these topics, including the Core 
Strategy Policy Monitoring Review, what are the main respects in which the 

policy approach should be maintained or updated? 

6a. What types of housing, including those now within the new draft NPPF,  
are particularly relevant to Dartford Borough, and why? 

6b. Are there circumstances/ locations in Dartford that may provide a 
robust justification to continue to seek affordable housing contributions on 

private developments of ten units or less, despite government policy?



19 
 

 

Jobs and Commercial 

 

Retailing/Leisure including Dartford Town Centre 

 

6c. Should Dartford’s Local Plan expect all dwellings to be
accessible/adaptable for all users and ages through national design 
standards, and if so what proportions should be set in referring to the 

Building Regulations that will apply?

7a. Do you think unplanned (‘windfall’) housing in the Borough is 
problematic in the case of: i) small sized plots of land, and ii) larger plots of 

land?

7b. Does the windfall sites policy DP6 continue to have relevance for 
Dartford, or is it necessary for local policies for new housing on small sites 
(under half hectare/ 1.24 acres) to be relaxed to better reflect the direction 

of government policy. 

8a. What are the development needs of the economic activities that will be 
most important to Dartford’s long‐term economy and quality of life?

8b. Can new economic growth in the Borough be primarily focussed on 
sectors that will deliver development and prosperity in locations that are, or 

will be in future, very well served by public transport?

8c. Should new economic growth be primarily focussed on sectors which 
match the local skills and experience of the resident workforce, so as to 

reduce the need for long travel to work journeys?

9a. With progress in delivering a revival of Dartford town centre as set out 
in Local Plans and the Town Centre Framework SPD, what do you think are 
the main further strategic planning opportunities in the Town Centre?

9b. How can change be planned by the Dartford Local Plan in order for 
Bluewater to maintain an appropriate and sustainable role in the future as a 

Borough and regional centre for retail and/or leisure? 



20 
 

Infrastructure provision for 
transport, utilities, and flood risk 

(etc); community, health and 
cultural facilities. 

 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 

EXISTING POLICIES:   

Core Strategy Development Policies Plan 

CS9: Skills and Training DP3: Transport Impacts of 
Development 

CS15: Managing Transport Demand DP4: Transport Access and Design 

CS16: Transport Investment DP21: Securing Community Facilities 

CS21: Community Services  

CS26: Delivery and Implementation  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



21 
 

TRANSPORT	(1)	
 

 

• Adverse consequences from transport problems such as congestion and
poor air quality is one of the most acute issues in the Borough. This requires
actions to both tackle highway problems, but also to make public transport
and other travel modes such as cycling much more attractive in Dartford.

• The last census (2011) shows the majority of Dartford working residents
who work drive to their place of work by car/van (58%). This is above the
national average (but slightly below the regional); with a further proportion
privately travelling in vehicles as passengers. Few people go to work by bus or
walking all the way. Only 1% of Dartford’s residents cycled to work. Working
from home was also limited in 2011.

• The Borough has both the London Orbital (M25/A282) and A2 London to
Dover running through it. Nationally, levels of road usage have significantly
increased. However the whole Borough suffers at present from a lack of
resilience in these routes, particularly when incidents on the Dartford Crossing
result in significant congestion at Dartford town and gridlock in the wide area.
The Government are proposing a new lower river crossing to the east of the
Gravesend (Lower Thames Crossing) to relieve the Dartford Crossing in future.

• Detailed proposals have been drawn up for improvements on the A2 Bean
and Ebbsfleet junctions and major improvements are being advanced for the
town centre. Work has started on a scheme at St Clements (A206/ A226/
B255) junction.

• These all form part of the Kent Thameside Strategic Transport Infrastructure
programme (STIP), a package of major improvement schemes that have been
agreed by the Council, Kent County Council and Highways England.

• To alleviate local road issues that arise due to congestion on the A282 and at
the Dartford Crossing, further work is underway to both understand in detail
the triggers for severe congestion on this route, and to identify the most
effective actions. Improvements already being taken forward include
enhanced flow of traffic via greater synchronisation of signal management;
achieved through close coordination between Highways England (responsible
for strategic routes including the London Orbital/ Dartford Crossing) and Kent
County Council (responsible for local‐level roads).



22 
 

TRANSPORT	(2)	

• Buses play an essential role for many groups in the community, young and
old. Short and long term plans, particularly for the award winning Fastrack
routes, are being progressed by partners, including bus providers.
Improvements to the location of bus stops, service frequency and, provision of
new routes and expansion of services are all being considered.

• Following liaison with bus operators and public consultation, close
consideration is being given to how Dartford town centre can best be served
by the various bus services that connect the town.

• The number of passengers using Fastrack has increased, but needs to grow
further to enable continued development and improvement. These plans
include the expansion of service as new developments are occupied.
Dedicated bus lanes/ track have and will continue to be provided, where
possible.

• Railway upgrades are a priority to give realistic alternatives to the car for
commuting in and out of the Borough, and other journeys. Dartford railway
station remains the most used station in along the North Kent Line in the
county, and has overall increased from in twenty years by over 40%. Ebbsfleet
International is a new station served by Eurostar and High Speed 1 services,
but poorly integrated to the east of the Borough through public transport
other than by Fastrack.

• Southern parts of the Borough are served by mainline services to London
Victoria. The north of the Borough is due to benefit (within 12 months) from a
choice of new destinations north of London with the introduction of
Thameslink services.

• Greenhithe station and part of Dartford station have has been rebuilt, but
Swanscombe and Stone Crossing stations suffer from very poor facilities and
accessibility. The links from Dartford station to the platforms still present
challenges to accessibility and are not of high quality or sufficient for
convenient travel during peak times.

• Peak time capacity issues impact on all rail services in the Borough
(including Ebbsfleet) reliability and adverse journey times detract from travel
by rail, and may foster reliance by residents on use of car travel.

• Network Rail, the national provider of track and associated key railway
infrastructure, consulted in 2017 on its Route Study to enhance railway
capacity, reliability and train journeys in Kent. There is some opportunity to
increase capacity in the next decade through longer trains. However it is clear
that there are no specific proposals to meet demand into the 2030s.



23 
 

TRANSPORT	(3)	

	

	

	

• The Route Study for Kent (page 67) identifies a long term option in the
Borough to improve connectivity. This is to fully utilise the section of railway
line that forks northwards (between Farningham Road and Longfield stations)
from the London Victoria mainline services to Medway and beyond. This
would loop up and provide direct access to Ebbsfleet International from the
south, if a small section of track were constructed to complete the junction
with the existing High Speed 1 line.

• The Council is involved in exploring how services between Dartford and
Ebbsfleet can be enhanced to encourage rail use over private vehicles, by
becoming part of the ‘London Underground’ system via an extension of the
Elizabeth line (Crossrail). https://www.c2ecampaign.com/ If successful, this
could bring major opportunities to increase train capacity, journey times to
some central/west London destinations; and new development and business
investment options. An important current question is how a financial
contribution best be made by developers in support of securing an extension.

• Schemes for cyclists are planned with new development and across the
Borough more widely, with the aim of ensuring that a comprehensive network
of off road cycle routes are available in Dartford. New cycle lanes and shared
footpaths /cycle paths have been secured within the design of larger sites, and
within junction improvement schemes; and off road schemes have been
delivered over the last years, outside of development sites. The network will
particularly join new residential areas with local destinations to provide a
platform to encourage ‘modal shift’ enhancing the choice of travel modes
realistically available as an alternative to the car for local trips.

• Through Local Growth funding, secure cycle parking facilities have been
provided at all Dartford’s railway stations.



24 
 

COMMUNITY	INFRASTRUCTURE	(1) 

 

 

 

• Since 2006 approximately 3,000 sqm p.a. of community floorspace has been
provided. This has been through new build and change of use. This has
included new and expanded schools, dentist, health facilities, gym,
community spaces and places of worship.

• Dartford has an Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) that sets out the projects
that are required to support planned development. The plan is a living
document and has been revised since it was first published in 2011 alongside
the Core Strategy. The latest update has taken account of the most up to date
forward plans and input by infrastructure partners, and ongoing changes to
how infrastructure is funded and delivered.

• The Council introduced a new mechanism for developer contributions in
2014 ‘(CIL)’. Developers now primarily contribute to new infrastructure costs
through a new floorspace tariff. Payments are collected and held in a ‘pot’
which will be used by the Council to support the delivery of infrastructure
alongside other funding sources. The IDP sets out all the planned projects, and
gives details of when they are expected and some background to who is
responsible and how they will be funded.

• Provision of sufficient infrastructure is challenging particularly with regard to
the funding and approval processes required to provide sufficient certainty for
the project to commence. Resolving these issues often delays the delivery
timetable. The amount of CIL receipts expected from development will not be
sufficient to cover estimated costs and it is expected that other public funding
environment will continue to be constrained. Therefore, in almost all cases
the funding of infrastructure projects in the borough will be dependent upon
a ‘range’ of funding sources including CIL.

• The population growth in the Borough has recently been based on relatively
high levels of natural growth (e.g. birth rates) for Kent , with the rest
accounted for by new residents being attracted to the Borough. This helps
explain the growing pressure in Dartford on particular facilities such as
schools.



25 
 

COMMUNITY	INFRASTRUCTURE	(2) 

 

 

 

 

• The types of infrastructure that are planned with growth and are progressing
to delivery or are underway include:

‐ new road junctions eg. St Clements

‐ new and expanded primary and secondary schools eg. Cherry Orchard
primary school in Ebbsfleet Garden City.

‐ new health facilities (major opportunities are being taken forward
working with the NHS for Stone and Dartford Town Centre)

‐ flood mitigations.

• More community spaces will be provided in Ebbsfleet Garden City as part of
planning Section 106 negotiated developer contributions.

• As time elapses additional schemes will be required such as further flood
resilience as part of the Thames 2100 project, additional schools, and expansion
of health and hospital facilities, expanded Fastrack and other sustainable travel.



26 
 

QUESTIONS 

 

Transport and Community Infrastructure 

 

11 Considering available evidence on these topics, including the IDP and Core Strategy 
Policy Monitoring Review, what are the main respects in which the policy approach 

should be maintained or updated? 

12a. In addition to the planned Strategic Transport Infrastructure Programme (STIP) 
Schemes, should priority be given to improvement projects that tackle traffic congestion 
at the Dartford crossing, and would this focus assist with congestion and capacity issues 

on the Borough’s roads? 

12b. In addition to all these improvements, do you think there are other highway 
measures to improve the performance and free running of local roads in Dartford? 

13. How can the Dartford Local Plan best promote and encourage use of sustainable 
transport, such as bus/ Fastrack services and cycle facilities?

14a To what extent will community and transport infrastructure planned in the IDP meet 
the range needs arising from new development in the Borough; are there other types of 

infrastructure that will be required by development? 

14b Are there new funding mechanisms and approaches that the Council and 
infrastructure partners should explore to deliver the infrastructure needed by the 

Borough? 

15a. What do you think are the three most important long‐term issues facing future rail 
services in the Borough, and why: (1) journey times, (2) peak capacity (overcrowding), (3) 
punctuality/ reliability, (4) quality of rail stations in the Borough, (5) cost of travel, (6) or 

maintaining access to existing London termini stations?

15b. Should there be investigation as to whether some train stations on the North Kent 
can be rebuilt in a new slightly different location on the line (remaining within their local 

area) to provide improved facilities and access for all users, and closer proximity to 
major employers and the greatest concentrations of residents? 

15c. Given the potential identified by Network Rail for a new train service linking London 
Victoria to the northeast of the Borough, via a link based on the existing under‐used 

railway south of Ebbsfleet International, what would be the implications of exploring the 
route further and/ or seeking private funding? 



27 
 

Climate change mitigation and 
adaptation, and the natural  

and built environment. 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 
 

EXISTING POLICIES:   

Core Strategy Development Policies Plan 

CS1: Spatial Pattern of Development  DP2: Good Design in Dartford 

CS13: Green Belt DP5: Environmental and Amenity 
Protection 

CS14: Green Space DP7: Borough Housing Stock and 
Residential Amenity 

CS17: Design of Homes DP11: Sustainable Technology and 
Construction 

CS22: Sports, Recreation and Culture  
Facilities 

DP12: Historic Environment Strategy 

CS23: Minimising Carbon Emissions DP13: Designated Heritage Assets 

CS24:Flood Risk DP22: Green Belt in the Borough 

CS25: Water Management DP23: Protected Local Green Space 

 DP24: Open Space 

 DP25: Nature Conservation and 
Enhancement 

 

 

 

 



28 
 

BOROUGH‐WIDE	ENVIRONMENTS	

• The Local Plan will be informed by an overall Sustainability Appraisal to
ensure it pursues options that support genuinely sustainable development.

• Recent detailed national research, prominently highlighted by the BBC, has
calculated a significant minority of Dartford is now built up in character (30%
‘built on’ with 12% ‘green urban’), however the most of the Borough is rural
(50% ‘farmland’, plus 7% ‘natural’).

• Under adopted policies DP22 and CS13…most of the Borough is
metropolitan Green Belt, which has protected the openness of the majority of
the Borough (the southern half, and the Dartford Marshes adjoining the River
Thames). There is 395 sqm of Green Belt per Borough resident in 2016.

• There are now 350 designated Borough Open Space sites, covering 1,449
hectares, defended under this designation alone. This equates to 139 sq m
per current resident of parkland, playspace, outdoor sports, churchyard, and
green verges and so on – mostly with public access.

• The majority of the proposed major new green spaces to contribute to the
Core Strategy (Diagram 8) have been completed or are underway. For
example, at The Bridge development a series of pocket parks and biodiversity
corridors are being created.

• Policy DP7 sets criteria to manage and retain the quality of existing
dwellings, family homes and residential gardens; reflecting economic and
environmental pressures in Dartford and the existing character of established
local communities.

• The government are proposing that in “rural areas", business and
community needs may have to be recognised “outside existing settlements,
and in locations that are not well served by public transport”. This has yet to
be explained and finalised, but it would appear that if introduced this would in
practice apply infrequently in the Borough, if at all; not least given overall
character and Green Belt policy (where) applicable.

• Policy DP25 introduces specific protections for Nature Conservation and
Enhancement. Part of the policy sets a need for large residential
developments in the east of the Borough to contribute to mitigation
measures, due to the significance of habitats found in the wider north Kent
coastal area. This is part of the Habitats Regulation Assessment regime that
will also apply to the new Local Plan.



29 
 

CLIMATE	CHANGE,	ENERGY		

&	AIR	QUALITY	(1)	

 

 

• A number of the strategic issues and measures which are being taken or are
planned, already described in this section of the document will assist in
mitigating and alleviating climate change. These include reducing the need to
travel through provision of homes nearby complimentary destinations and
provision of infrastructure for sustainable travel which will reduce the need to
use vehicles.

• Dartford CO2 emissions from transport have declined overall since 2006,
however they still remain high – accounting for 47% of per capita emissions
(higher than the 33% seen across the rest of the South East).

• However, these measures will assist in reducing use of carbon fuels and
therefore production of C02 and greenhouse gases in the Borough. Other
measures will provide climate change mitigation such as flood alleviation
schemes which will assist in defending development from rising sea levels, and
protecting and safeguarding open spaces to alleviate the effects of rising
temperatures and other climate change effects.

• Air pollution is associated with a number of adverse health impacts and
therefore residential areas are most susceptible to air quality issues. Four Air
Quality Management Areas (AQMA) have been declared in Dartford along
roads which are in close proximity to residential areas and where exceedances
of nitrogen dioxide and fine particles will not meet national air quality
objectives by the prescribed target date.

• Emissions primarily arise from diesel vehicles although other sources
contribute including emissions from commercial, industrial and domestic
development. Ongoing monitoring indicates that emissions remain high in
these areas of the Borough. AQMAs have to be accompanied by action plans
for the designated areas to reduce emissions, however it is extremely difficult
to improve air quality other than through targeting the source of emissions.

• It is anticipated that the transport measures identified above that will help
to combat climate change, will also lead to a reduction of the key source of
emissions – diesel vehicles. Monitoring will continue and is undertaken by a
leading national research team. This will enable the Borough to consider the
application of other alleviation measures identified by ongoing research.



30 
 

CLIMATE	CHANGE,	ENERGY		

&	AIR	QUALITY	(2)	

 

 

• Electric powered (or hybrid) vehicles will be increasingly used for travel in
the future. The Government have announced in its ‘Clean Air Plan’ that new
petrol and diesel vehicles will be banned from 2040. Manufacturers are
increasingly turning to electric vehicle production, leading to improvements in
affordability and greater distance of travel.

• This change will require significant new charging infrastructure to be
provided for residents, public transport, and businesses and in public places. It
also has potential to bring sustainability benefits such as reduced
environmental impacts, particularly local pollution and noise.

• The Dartford Parking SPD allows greater flexibility in sustainable locations,
and encourages electric vehicle charging points, but technology and options
are expanding and policy needs to be kept up to date.

• Other innovations such as autonomous vehicles may bring further changes
to the way people own and travel by vehicles in the future. This could
potentially lead to profound changes in the urban environment and typical
streetscene of areas.

• Encouraging use of renewable energy and energy efficient development is a
key contributor to both responding to climate change and issues of poor air
quality.

• The government do not permit local planning policy set out specified
proportions of renewable energy etc on individual residential development,
with policy instead set nationally through Building Regulations. The majority
of Energy Performance Certificates for Dartford’s houses in 2016/17 were in
the top half categories of performance (A‐G) .

• The DP Plan included the adoption of housing standards on size and
accessibility (DP8) to better facilitate sustainable buildings. DP11 also requires
all new dwellings to demonstrate delivery of the higher water efficiency
standard.



31 
 

DESIGN	&	CONSERVATION	

 

 

 

 

• Development and design varies according to local characteristics. There has
been a balance between houses and flats in new residential development; and
evidence does not suggest flatted accommodated results in smaller unit sizes
i.e. providing more residential space overall.

• Proposals in Conservation Areas have been regularly monitored, identifying
applications that were refused to satisfy conservation objectives in these
special areas.

• Significantly, St Mary’s Church in Stone has been able to be removed from
the national Heritage at Risk register.

• Dartford has now outlined heritage strategy for planning via policy DP12.
The introductory text to this policy outlines milestones in the evolution of the
Borough’s defining characteristics. The policy outlines criteria for non
(nationally) designated assets in Dartford, including sites with significant
industrial heritage, and historic open spaces, and applicable sites within the
local Areas of Special Character. Policy DP13 sets out strict protections for
designated heritage assets, notably Listed Buildings, Scheduled Ancient
Monuments and Conservation Areas.

• Dartford Town Centre has the largest Conservation Area in the borough,
centred on the historic Watling Street route. Measures in Dartford Town
Centre Framework SPD will help criteria the setting of historic buildings and
reinforce Dartford’s market town character and status.

• Dartford‐specific design policy for all new development is set out in DP2. For
the design of new sites, the draft new NPPF says “Local Planning Authorities
should ensure they have appropriate tools and processes for assessing an
improving the design of development.” It highlights tools could include
Building for Life, and design reviews.



32 
 

QUESTIONS 

 

Climate Change, Energy and Air Quality  

 

Design and Conservation 

 

16. Considering available evidence on these topics, including the Core Strategy Policy 
Monitoring Review, what are the main respects in which the policy approach should be 

maintained or updated? 

17a. How important to you are measures to reduce impact on climate change, and what 
do you think is the most relevant issue?

17b. How can local planning best support action to reduce harmful emissions at source, 
decrease reliance on diesel and petrol vehicles through providing alternative travel 

options, promote electric/ hybrid vehicles, and deliver improved air quality in Dartford?

17c. What are the main future implications for the Local Plan of how new technology 
and alternative options can reduce the need to travel in environmentally impactful ways, 

minimise pollution or help save energy usage in buildings?

17d. Do you think that Dartford’s mitigation approach to the protection of international 
habitats and species on the North Kent coast will continue to be suitable for large 

developments in the east of the Borough, helping mitigation and strategic greenspace 
provision in the area; and are there other approaches to achieving mitigation that 

should be considered? 

18a. How can the Local Plan better ensure the Borough’s heritage is respected and 
reflected in future development?

18b. How should the need for a strategy for good design inform the preparation of the 
Local Plan and potential new redevelopment?



33 
 

D.  Main Areas and Types of Future Development 

 

PATTERN OF DEVELOPMENT. 

41. The  Core  Strategy  sets  out  three  principles  that  guide  the  pattern  of  development13  in  the 

Borough: 

 Development in areas with the most regeneration potential 

 Protecting and enhancing the quality of life  

 Ensuring a balance and sustainable pattern of land use and transport 

 

42. This embodies protection of the Green Belt and using the potential of the urban area. Adopted 

policy CS1 sets out that particular defined Priority Areas are the focus of urban development: 

1. Ebbsfleet to Stone 

2. Dartford town centre and Northern Gateway 

3. Thames Waterfront 

43.  The following diagram provides an indication over the very long‐term (from 2006 onwards into 

the  2030s)  of  the  projected  maximum  growth  of  housing  in  the  Borough,  with  previously 

granted permissions forming a clear focus on the three Priority Areas. In contrast, only around 

400 dwellings are found (and have already come forward) in the southern part of the Borough, 

reflecting the strategy. To inform a new Local Plan, this evidence for the Borough will updated.  

Borough Potential Housing Growth (Completions since 2006 and Current Permissions) 

 

                                                            
13 Para 2.7 

3,8005,250

10,500

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey 
map with the permission of the Controller
of Her Majestys Stationery Office
© Crown Copyright 2017

Unauthorised reproduction 
Infringes Crown Copyright and 
May lead to prosecution or civil
Proceedings
Dartford Borough Council 100025870  2017

©
 D

a
rt
fo

rd
 B

or
o
ug

h
 C

o
un

ci
l 1

00
02

5
8
70

  
2
0
17

, 
M

ap
 P

ro
du

ce
d
 B

y 
 T

h
e
 P

ro
pe

rt
y 

In
fo

rm
a
tio

n 
T
ea

m
, 

°Legend

! Housing Growth

Borough Boundary

Ebbsfleet Development Corporation Boundary



34 
 

44. Information  from  the  Core  Strategy  Review  shows  these  three  broad  Priority  Areas  have 

promoted  regeneration  and  sustainable  development  of  housing  alongside  jobs  and 

infrastructure in the north of the Borough, where most brownfield land is located. It also helps 

protects areas such as the Green Belt and heritage and environmental assets.  

 

 

   

19. Should the focus of development generally remain on the locations identified in the 
Core Strategy? Are there any other feasible major alternatives?



35 
 

STONE, GREENHITHE, SWANSCOMBE & THAMES RIVERSIDE. 

45. The  continuing  sustainable  development  of  the  north  west  of  the  Borough  –  and much  of 

Dartford as a whole ‐ is expected to be driven by a major regeneration of Dartford town centre 

and its surrounds, plus additional facilities and economic development at Dartford’s Northern 

Gateway and ‘The Bridge’ large sites.  The Dartford Marshes Green Belt will be maintained in 

the North West corner of the Borough.  

 

46. The Borough’s urban area in the Core Strategy is defined as north of the A2, either side of the 

Dartford Crossing.  It  therefore also extends east of Dartford  town  including  several  existing 

communities at Stone, Greenhithe and Swanscombe. Core Strategy policy CS4 identifies several 

locations for growth in this area, east of the M25/Dartford Crossing and south of the North Kent 

line, as illustrated in the following diagram from the Core Strategy: 

Core Strategy: Diagram 5 Ebbsfleet to Stone Priority Area14 

 

47. The  diagram  recognises  the  existing  communities  and  infrastructure  improvements;  and 

within the Priority Area designates nearly all the remaining land as key development sites 1‐7 

(which are all built or being taken forward, apart from parts of Ebbsfleet) or for greenspace 

enhancements.  

 

                                                            
14 Core Strategy (2011) Diagram 5: Ebbsfleet to Stone Priority Area, page 37 

20. How should strategy for this area be updated consistent with 
overall Borough objectives?



36 
 

48.  One of the characteristic features of this part of Borough’s landscape is the presence of very 

large former pits  in this area, associated with the history of quarrying and industrial activity. 

Several of these have been redeveloped, most notably at Bluewater and Ebbsfleet. However 

many  (particularly  in  the  Stone  and Greenthithe  areas) were  subsequently  used  for  landfill 

purposes.  

49.  These  extensive  areas  account  for  much  of  the  remaining  open  land  between  existing 

communities in urban area of the Borough from Dartford to Swanscombe, however this is land 

in private ownership and with restricted access. Looking to the long‐term, consideration of how 

to secure sufficient and appropriate local benefit from the land is warranted. 

50.  The remaining former landfill sites are typically ‘capped’, grassed and undulating, but contain 

land that may remain unstable and emitting gases due to the gradual degradation of the waste. 

The  associated  land  management,  development,  and  financial  issues  lead  to  uncertainty, 

including  as  to  whether  development  proposals  can  fully  meet  normal  planning  policy 

requirements.  In  the  context  of  the Borough’s  delivery  of  residential  development,  and  the 

outstanding  infrastructure  needs,  Dartford  has  successfully  introduced  a  policy  (DP5:3)  to 

confirm that land is not included in the current housing supply, and that the characteristics of 

these sites does not mean inadequate proposals will be supported.  

 

51.  Swanscombe is a highly distinct town in north Kent, surrounded by cliff‐faces, past and present 

industrial uses, surrounded by open sites available for redevelopment.  

52.  Swanscombe has particularly benefited from a fall in unemployment, and there are indications 

of  a  decrease  in  individuals  resident  in  the  town only  in  the  shorter‐term. Owner  occupied 

homes are in a minority in the Swanscombe, which is unusual for Dartford. House prices remain 

lower than most parts of the Borough, which may be attributable to the prevalence of terraced 

properties. However, average household size (2.3 people) is not substantially smaller than the 

across the Borough as a whole. 

53.  A Swanscombe and Greenhithe Masterplan (2005) was prepared and used as part of the 2011 

Core  Strategy  evidence base, which  provides  further  information,  particularly  on options  to 

regenerate Swanscombe. The town benefits from a ‘quiet core’ of residential areas and large 

parks, and major community facilities and a traditional High Street.  It has however seen less 

economic development, and has few confirmed significant brownfield opportunities within the 

21a. What do you think should be the long‐term future of former 
landfill sites in Stone and Greenhithe? 

21b. Should the Local Plan explore the potential to capture public 
benefits or access on these sites? 

21c. What are the implications for the identity of surrounding existing 
communities, and the sustainable development strategy for the 

Borough, if the landowner takes forward proposals on these sites? 



37 
 

town, than the rest of non‐Green Belt Dartford. The Local Plan can help ensure Swanscombe’s 

needs are considered alongside proposals for major development on the large sites under the 

Ebbsfleet Development Corporation. 

 

54.  The  remaining  Priority  Area  in  the  Core  Strategy  is  the  Thames  Waterfront  in  policy  CS6, 

illustrated below.  

Core Strategy: Diagram 7 Thames Waterfront Priority Area15 

 

55.  This land, between the Thames and the North Kent railway line, is characterised by its estuarine 

environment;  and major  transport  infrastructure  that has  attracted  large  scale  employment 

uses (past, present and proposed). The historic riverside neighbourhood of Greenhithe has been 

expanded through the award‐winning new community at Ingress Park.  

56.  Swanscombe  Peninsula,  Thames  Europort  and  the  Littlebrook  area  (north  of  The  Bridge 

development site) have not been redeveloped or are undesignated land including brownfield. 

  

                                                            
15 Core Strategy (2011) Diagram 5: Thames Waterfront Priority Area, page 46 

22. How can the Local Plan best support regeneration within 
Swanscombe?

23. How should strategy for this area be updated consistent with 
overall Borough economic, transport and infrastructure objectives, and 

best reflecting its riverside characteristics?



38 
 

EBBSFLEET DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION AREA. 

57.  Land  at  Ebbsfleet  has  been  identified  by  government  for  a  potential  Garden  City.  The 

principles16  of  a  full  Garden  City  are  distinct  and  ambitious,  but  may  often  face  delivery 

challenges  in the current national  legislative,  land supply and development  industry context. 

Moreover, at Ebbsfleet much of the land has longstanding planning permissions.  

58.  As set out in DP Plan chapter 2 the government set up the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation 
(EDC)  in  2015  to  drive  forward  the  ambitions  for  Ebbsfleet,  including  within  Gravesham 
Borough. The EDC have produced an implementation framework for its area, but have recently 
been subject to a Tailored Review of its purpose and operation. This highlights various issues 
that have hindered its effectiveness in bringing forward substantial major regeneration at pace. 
However it was concluded that progress has recently been made on some key issues and that 
the  EDC’s  role  remains  justified  and  necessary.    The  review  called  for  greater  government 
support, and suggested a “relaunch” of the vision for a Garden City. 

 
59.  Land  in  and  around  the  International  rail  station  (Ebbsfleet  Central)  was  given  planning 

permission in November 2002 for 2,320 dwellings by Dartford Council. This permission has not 
been  started  and  currently  appears  to  have  no  prospect  of  being  implemented  in  full. 
Responsibility for determining a new planning application would now lie with the EDC.  

 
60.  The Core Strategy in policy CS5 seeks that any new proposals lead to “Creation of a high density 

business  district  adjacent  to  Ebbsfleet  Station,  with  a  mix  of  uses,  including  residential, 
generating activity in the daytime, evenings and weekends and ensuring a lively area.” More 
recently,  land  north  east  of  the  station  extending  into  Gravesham,  at  Northfleet  Rise,  was 
awarded Enterprise Zone status to help foster redevelopment of the site for business purposes. 
This land, in common with much of that around the station, functions and generates revenue 
as a car park for station commuters. The Tailored Review found that coordinated government 
action was necessary in Ebbsfleet Central. 

 
61.  The critical objectives for Ebbsfleet Central should be to secure a high‐quality development that 

optimises the potential of the location. As recognised in the draft NPPF, development must not 
be supported where it fails to make efficient use of land at a major and growing public transport 
interchange such as Ebbsfleet International. Moreover, it is essential that the balance of uses 
sustain a strong sense of place and vibrancy. Development in Ebbsfleet area has so far been 
predominantly residential; and it is essential to Garden City and local and national sustainable 
development  principles  –  particularly  for  services  and  local  employment  to minimise  travel 
needs – that major economic development and high order community/ cultural facilities are 
delivered alongside further residential.  

 
62.  Elsewhere within  the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation’s  area,  at  Swanscombe Peninsula, 

ideas for a major leisure resort have been publicised.  This proposal has not been subject to an 

application  for  planning  consent, which would  be made  directly  to  the  government  via  the 

Planning Inspectorate.  Many key details are unclear and this uncertainty is impacting on several 

areas including vacant land at Swanscombe town and on the Ebbsfleet Central itself (site of a 

potential access route from the A2). 

                                                            
16 TCPA, Garden City Principles  
 



39 
 

[ILLUSTRATION OF EBBSFLEET CENTRAL MIXED USE URBAN DEVELOPMENT TO BE INSERTED] 

 

 

   

24a. What new planning policies are suitable and applicable for 
undeveloped land in the EDC area in line with a modern, successful, 

Garden City vision?

24b. What planning measures should be taken and tools used to 
ensure the sustainable development of the major development 
opportunity at Ebbsfleet Central (by the International Station)?

24c. What development and infrastructure should occur on other 
sites within the EDC area if existing proposals/ planning 

permissions do not materialise on them?



40 
 

BROWNFIELD LAND AND FUTURE RESIDENTIAL POTENTIAL. 

63.  ‘Making effective use of land’ is now a government priority to the extent that it is the title of a 

new chapter in the proposed revised NPPF. More efficient use of land, whether by: 

 redeveloping under used developed (brownfield) land or  

 increasing  the  amount  of  accommodation  per  hectare  (acre)  in  new  development  is 

supported by government to allow more development whilst continuing to protect locations 

such as the Green Belt. However other factors are also relevant, such as design and quality of 

development, impact on the local environment, and the developer’s consideration of costs 

and revenues that arise from a different type of building (viability).  

64.  The government recognise that  it  is particularly  important to use efficiently  land that  is well 

served by infrastructure, and is well located to promote sustainable forms of travel. This accords 

with Dartford’s focus on areas of very good public transport accessibility, or walking distance 

from major facilities.  

65.  Whilst circumstances can change, and the character of each proposal needs to be considered in 

turn, maintaining  a  local  focus  on  efficient  use  of  land  (for  example  as  set  out  in  planning 

permissions granted) or increasing intensity of land use is considered likely to meet the quantity 

of new housing required of the Borough‐ without needing extra greenfield Green Belt or any 

significant new greenfield land anywhere. 

66.  Dartford has focused on previously developed (brownfield) land in the Core Strategy, and has a 

good  record  in  delivering  physical  regeneration  by  finding  suitable  new  uses  for  sites.  The 

Borough  has  achieved  79.4%  of  new  dwellings  located  on  brownfield  land  under  the  Core 

Strategy (since 2006). This is not quite hitting a target of 80% featured within the Plan (not a 

policy stipulation).  

67.  Dartford has completed the first Brownfield Land Register for the Borough. This outlines sites 

which may be suitable, available and achievable and re‐use land. These are entered in Part 1 of 

the Register. There are currently zero entries in Part 2 of the Register. Part 2 entries require 

further  step  in  preparation,  and  have  the  consequence  of  giving  land  a  new  form  of 

development consent: “Permission in Principle”.  

68.  The  Register’s  capacity  figures  are  a  conservative  minimum,  totalling  slightly  over  2,000 

dwellings. The Register (Part 1) identifies minimum capacities of:  

Area  Minimum Net Dwellings 

Ebbsfleet  1000 

Stone  610 

Dartford Town Centre  273 

Greenhithe/Swanscombe  235 

Elsewhere north of A2  45 

South of the A2  10 
 

69.  The total, although indicative and based on minima, can be compared to the 7,780 dwellings 

currently expected as required in the first 10 years of the plan period (using the new national 



41 
 

standard  methodology).  A  caveat  is  required  that  sites  such  as  Ebbsfleet  Central  have 

permission for many more dwellings than included as a minimum. Nevertheless, there can be 

particular  uncertainty  over  the  cost  and  timescale  for  getting  brownfield  land  ready  for 

development. And especially for brownfield sites, it may be a prerequisite for the development 

to achieve a certain amount of development in order for it to be financially viable and for the 

developer to proceed. 

70.  It is apparent from the Register and under national policy housing requirements that there is a 

need to avoid non‐delivery of anticipated brownfield land, or achieving only low densities on 

brownfield sites.   

71.  Housing densities result from many factors concerning the appropriate development potential 

of a site including both sustainability (e.g. proximity to public transport and services) and the 

local  setting.  New  development  density  has  varied  hugely  in  Dartford,  reflecting  diverse 

characteristics.17 The average residential density across a broad sample of new developments 

is 67dph, making efficient use of land. This is line with traditional urban densities generally; and 

is within the range of residential densities found in Dartford’s urban in neighbourhoods that 

have not seen new development.  

72.  Existing policies CS17 and CS18 seek diverse densities, with maximum levels set at 40dph for 

the villages, and higher levels at settlements elsewhere; and a balance of houses and flats in 

new development, resulting in houses retained as the main form of residential accommodation 

across the Borough’s whole housing stock. 

73.  Dartford  is now commencing a  refresh of  its  Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment 

(SHLAA).  The  SHLAA needs  to be updated  to  support  a  Local  Plan  beyond  the  current  2026 

period. The particular focus of land identification, including the recent SHLAA ‘Call for Sites’, is 

to seek land:  

 In Dartford Town Centre 

 At  locations with a choice of good public  transport, and  infrastructure, 

within a short walk/ cycle ride. 

 On brownfield/small sites. 

74.  This is necessary, despite a liberal supply of land with planning permission, to update evidence 

on the potential long‐term scale and type of residential development at these locations and in 

the Borough as a whole.  Further information is available on the call for sites. 

                                                            
17 Housing Density Paper 2018 



42 
 

 

 

 

 

   

25a. What is the best way in Dartford to make efficient use of land 
in line with government priorities?

25b. Should a target of 80% of housing to be on ‘brownfield’ land 
be confirmed as a central part of Local Plan policy?

25c. Should the focus be on delivering sites currently in Part1 of 
Dartford’s Brownfield Register; if selected sites are also included 
in Part 2 of the Register (granting permission in principle for 

suitable development) where is most important?  



43 
 

ENHANCING OPEN SPACE PROVISION. 

75.  The Borough has a well‐defined network18 of open spaces and links. One fifth of the Borough’s 

land area (350 playing fields, sports pitches, parks and playspaces, and cemeteries and similar 

uses) has been designated Borough Open Space19.  

76.  The value of open spaces extends beyond their ready availability, with individual characteristics 

and  social  issues  having  an  impact.  A  study20  in  Kent  found  problems  of  physical  inactivity 

(potential  health  problems)  in  neighbourhoods  not  to  generally  relate  to  the  location  and 

quality  of  greenspace;  possibly  as  wider  socio‐economic  factors  are  at  play.  Greenspace 

however  plays  a  positive  role  in  new  and  existing  communities,  and  in  supporting  nature 

conservation. 

77.  In terms of outdoor recreation and team sports specifically, the recent Playing Pitch Study of 

the Borough noted recent improved facilities in the Borough. It also found however the main 

issue to be quality and type of sports pitches; with future needs projected to be focussed on 

achieving additional artificial grass facilities and provision for children’s participation in certain 

team sports.  

78.  In  terms  of  nature  conservation,  whilst  over  90%  of  SSSI  land  remains  categorised  as  in 

‘favourable’ condition21 there is a need to improve to conditions in greenspace in the Borough‐

wide network Biodiversity Opportunity Areas22 where key opportunities have been identified.  

Ancient woodland in the Borough has been strongly protected from development. 

79.  Existing open spaces accessed by the public in the Borough are complemented by greenspace 

provided in new development. Policy CS14 requires sites over two hectares to provide 20% of 

their area as greenspace (or at least 30% for sites over 20hectares). This greenspace may be 

multi‐functional, including contributing to aims for: water/flood risk management, biodiversity, 

and a range of community needs including child play areas. Policy DP8:3&4 and its supporting 

text set out additional requirements for  landscaped communal open space for sites of more 

than  100  dwellings,  and  qualitative  criteria  for  residential  gardens/  balconies.    The  size  of 

private amenity space in new developments is not prescribed, but local policy protects existing 

gardens from inappropriate development. 

 

 

                                                            
18 Development Policies Plan (2017) Figure 7 
19 Link to online map layer Or 2016 study. 
20 Kent nature p’ship etc. 
21 AMR 
22 Link to policy map/ BAP 

26a. Where do you think should be focus of greenspace and 
outdoor recreation improvements, why is this the case and what 

type of provision is necessary? 



44 
 

 

 

   

26b. How would it be funded/ delivered and managed?

26c. What is the most important feature of new open space 
provision at small and large new residential development?



45 
 

MAINTAINING GREEN BELT LAND. 

80.  The  Metropolitan  Green  Belt  surrounds  Greater  London,  separating  its  built  up  area  from 

settlements in Kent, including in Dartford Borough. Green Belt land, was designed to maintain 

the openness of the south of the Borough, and land Dartford Marshes near the Thames and 

comprises of both greenfield and brownfield land.   

81.  Dartford has  recently  introduced Green Belt  level protection  to 27 special  local greenspaces 

across the Borough. These Protected Local Green Spaces23 are highly valuable but small open 

spaces to their own communities e.g. allotments; often characterised by their outstanding local 

contribution  in terms of tranquillity, history or recreation value. Whilst akin to Green Belt  in 

terms  of  planning  protection  for  development  proposals,  these  special  greenspaces  do  not 

formally count as additional Green Belt, serving a slightly different purpose. 21 are found within 

the urban area and six are within villages surrounded by Metropolitan Green Belt. 

82.  The government only see proposed extensions to enlarge the Green Belt as being possible in a 

Local  Plan  under  “exceptional  circumstances”.24  No  candidate  land  of  open  and  permanent 

character has been put to the Council in this respect. This kind of change to land designation, it 

would have to not only meet the specific purposes set out for Green Belt, but also demonstrate 

compliance with five further strategic planning and sustainable development requirements25.  

83.  By  efficient  use  of  land  (and  only  after  that  has  been  fully  explored  by  Duty  to  Cooperate 

discussions with neighbours, who however may also have Green Belt  land)  the  government 

consider that exceptional circumstances to release Green Belt should be avoided. With efficient 

use  of  land  and  planning  actions  already  taken,  Dartford  is  well  placed  to  avoid  requiring 

strategic development in the Green Belt or outside the Borough. 

84.  Dartford’s robust housing land supply position and clear protection of the open southern part 

of the Borough is partly as a result of clear decisions having been taken, including over the Green 

Belt. With the adoption of the Core Strategy in 2011, strategic release of former Green Belt land 

for development occurred  to enable proposals  in/  around  the  sustainable Ebbsfleet  area  to 

move forward and to better use brownfield  land. Consequently, on current  information and 

existing planning permissions it is not expected that any major strategic release of greenfield 

Green Belt  land  is necessary  to accommodate the Borough’s new housing or needs  into  the 

2030s. The Core Strategy demonstrated necessary unique circumstances for the past change 

for Ebbsfleet but it remains the case that the defining feature of Green Belt is its permanence, 

and maintaining its essential openness. 

85.  This  current  strategic  housing  land  position  is  based  on  no  significant  increase  in  the  final 

housing target in the Local Plan (from the government’s new methodology for that calculating 

Dartford’s own need); and planning permissions being implemented as currently expected i.e. 

the density of major development sites not being reduced.  

                                                            
23 DBC, Open Space Report 2015/16 (part of the Development Polices Plan Evidence Base), page 20 
24 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 2012, Para 83 
25 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 2012, Para 82 



46 
 

86.  The Green Belt, in addition to determining the overall pattern of development in the Borough, 

also can have a major impact on how individual proposals – even by individual households – are 

decided.  Dartford’s  Green  Belt  now  benefits  from more  detailed  local  criteria  for  planning 

applications of all sizes through the  introduction of policy DP22. This helps achieve principal 

Green Belt objectives enshrined  in national policy;  however when government proposals  to 

amend the decision making approach for certain types of proposals in Green Belt land in the 

NPPF are finalised, consideration of these provisions will also be required in future applications. 

87.  Also, boundaries need to continue to be logical and be right at a fine‐grained scale as well as 

from  the  overall  Borough  perspective.  Advances  in  mapping  technology  have  raised  the 

question over  some small areas of potential  inconsistency. Even  if minor,  these can only be 

properly resolved through the Local Plan.   

88.  It means small sections of the Green Belt boundary may be unclear on certain maps or appear 

to  cut  across  individual  homes  and  gardens;  including  brownfield  sites.  And  over  time, 

development has occurred  changing  the openness and  character of  certain plots of  land,  in 

particular individual smaller sites, or infrastructure such as the construction of the A2. Much of 

the Metropolitan  Green  Belt  boundary  in  Dartford  has  not  been  clarified  or  remapped  for 

several decades despite these changes. This is relevant as national policy26 states there is a need 

to ensure boundaries are based on readily recognisable physical features e.g. major highways; 

but  in any event the delineation of a boundary needs to be clear for  it  to be effective.   Any 

administrative ‘tidying up’ required is not driven by future development needs, but would help 

protect the Green Belt by helping ensure clarity and consistency of operation. 

 

 

 

 

                                                            
26 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), 2012, Para 85, final bullet point 

27a. What are the implications of the draft NPPF Green Belt 
amendments for Dartford’s Local Plan?

27b. Are there any individual properties/ small parcels of 
brownfield land, or minor strips of land lying outside readily 

recognisable physical boundaries, where the Green Belt boundary 
may be unclear or not based on a permanent feature, or the land 

does not meet the formal purposes of Green Belt?



47 
 

LOCAL PRIORITIES.  

89.  Factual profiles of individual parts of the Borough have been prepared: 

 Dartford Town Area 

 Stone 

 Greenhithe  

 Swanscombe 

 Longfield, New Barn, Southfleet 

 Wilmington 

 Sutton‐at‐hone and Hawley 

 Bean and Darenth 

 Joydens Wood 

90.  More detailed research of local environments or planning studies are being undertaken in the 

urban area, by Dartford Borough Council27 and the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation28.  Stone 

Neighbourhood  Plan  are  also  considering  how  development  can  enhance  the  parish, 

particularly through providing a cluster of community focussed facilities at the Horns Cross area. 

 

 

                                                            
27 Refs to Swanscombe study & TC SPD. 
28 EDC, Ebbsfleet Implementation Framework (2017) 

28a. What are the strategic development needs of each of these 
areas and why; what new uses can be delivered and how would 
they sufficiently contribute to providing for infrastructure needs?

28b. Are there any small or brownfield sites in these locations 
suitable for jobs, leisure, or other development in these areas? 

28c. How and where should specialist residential needs or 
alternative sources of housing supply be appropriately 

encouraged in Dartford e.g. sheltered care/ accommodation for 
the elderly or disabled, local rural excpetions homes, build to rent 

development or custom/self ‐build housing? 



  

 

 

  

CORE	STRATEGY	
REVIEW:	POLICY	

MONITORING		
 

This document is a structured review of Dartford’s Core Strategy Local 

Plan (adopted in 2011) appraising the progress made in delivering each 

policies, and the continuing applicability of the plan as a whole.  

May 2018 Draft 

APPENDIX B 



1 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

1. INTRODUCTION	
 

1.1 This document outlines the progress made on implementing and fulfilling the policies 
within the Core Strategy since the start of the plan period in April 2006. The plan still 
officially has several years to run, with a time horizon planning towards 2026. It is 
produced following amendment in winter 2017/18 to the Town & Country Planning (Local 
Planning) (England) Regulations. This stipulates Local Plans should be subject to a 
‘review’; a process not defined by government. 
 

1.2 The council has a statutory responsibility to make public annual monitoring reports 
(AMRs) outlining data on development outcomes ‘on the ground’ against policy aims, 
and progress on matters such as Local Plan production. Dartford has in the past few 
years expanded its monitoring and reporting, providing an ongoing evaluation of existing 
local policy, most notably the Core Strategy. Detailed housing supply research has also 
been provided on an at least annual basis, indicating the Core Strategy’s performance 
with respect to this central aim of national policy. AMRs and housing supply reports are 
a prime source of data for this document. 

 
1.3 For the purposes of monitoring data presented this will include information up to the end 

of the 2016/17 monitoring year (unless otherwise stated), along with observations and 
data from a variety of sources. This allows for an assessment of progress of the Core 
Strategy in achieving its goals so far. The overall context is important: the Core Strategy 
is a long-term plan to regenerate the Borough and start transformation of Dartford’s 
performance. Therefore it would not normally be expected that the majority of objectives 
are completed, however it is appropriate to consider the rate of progress. 

 
1.4 It should also be noted that another Local Plan has been adopted: the Development 

Policies Plan 2017. This sits with the Core Strategy, it does not generally replace Core 
Strategy requirements (although they are sometimes updated). The principal role of the 
new Plan is to assist, and sometimes give impetus to, the achievement of Core Strategy 
objectives.  

 
1.5 The Development Policies Plan 2017 (paragraph 1.6) notes: “finalisation of this Plan has 

involved confirming the consistency between national policy and Core Strategy policy”. 
Information was also presented to the Inspector on the Core Strategy’s ongoing 
effectiveness in overseeing sustainable development delivery in the Borough. 

 
1.6 In terms of the approach in this review document, Table 1 below details the three ‘status’ 

levels that will are expressed for each clause in the Core Strategy policies (and the 
associated symbols).  

 

 

 

 



2 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

 
Table 1: Core Strategy Review Progress  
 

1. Early Stages  (Limited outputs so far, or not commenced) 
 

2. Further Work Continuing (Evident progress on  
Preparation, but project needs to advance futher) 
 

3. Delivering/ Achieved (Complete or nearly delivered) 
 

1.7 The document below follows the order of sections and policies in the Core Strategy 
including: Where developments will take place; managing development; creating strong 
and prospering communities; and sustainable growth. Each policy is set out in a table, 
firstly identifying each clause or ‘requirement’, their progress (which includes % complete 
where possible) and the subsequent status symbol. 

 
1.8 The document was approved in May 2018 by Dartford’s Cabinet. The Cabinet report noted 

that should subsequent consultation on Dartford Local Plan ‘Strategic Issues’ (which 
refers extensively to this document) require material changes to this document in 
response to objections, it will be reported back to Cabinet.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



3 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

2. WHERE	DEVELOPMENTS	WILL	TAKE	PLACE	
 

2.1 These policies set out the main areas of change in the Borough and proposals for sites 
within them. They comprise the spatial pattern of development for the Borough as a whole 
(CS1) along with the priority areas for development (incorporating two specific strategic 
sites with detailed policies and boundaries). It includes six policies: 

 CS1: Spatial Pattern of Development 
 CS2: Dartford Town Centre 
 CS3: Northern Gateway Strategic Site 
 CS4: Ebbsfleet to Stone Priority Area 
 CS5: Ebbsfleet Valley Strategic Site 
 S6: Thames Waterfront 

CS1 Spatial Pattern of Development  
Requirement Progress  Status 
(a) Dartford Town Centre & 
Northern Gateway - 
revitalisation of the town centre 
as a shopping, leisure and 
service centre for the 
surrounding communities, and 
complementary redevelopment 
of redundant land at the 
Northern Gateway to create a 
mixed community of homes and 
jobs supporting the town centre. 

 Increasing investment is occurring, 
including in shopping centres in the town 
and on Dartford‘s High Street. 

 The Town Centre Framework has been 
subject to help deliver the vision for a 
revitalised Dartford and progress 
previously stalled development plans, was 
subject to consultation in early 2018. It is 
apparent public feedback on its key 
proposals is very positive and helps 
facilitate planned SPD adoption later in the 
year. 

 As of April 2017, there were 841 homes 
complete in the Northern Gateway and 
Town Centre Priority Area. A further 1,600 
have planning permission (500 under 
construction). A primary school is in the 
advanced stages of planning and 
anticipated to open its doors in September 
2019. 

 

(b) Ebbsfleet to Stone - 
bringing back into productive 
use former chalk quarries and 
integrating existing communities 
with the new facilities these 
developments can provide. 

 There have been 1,000 homes delivered 
in this area (April 2017), with a number of 
the key development sites complete. 

 At Stone Lodge, proposals for a rugby club 
were submitted in early 2018. Later 
phases are set to include a secondary 
school and residential units. 

 Ebbsfleet Garden City is underway with, 
334 homes complete (April 2017) and 
community facilities now open. The 
Ebbsfleet Development Corporation (EDC) 
is now in place to speed delivery. 

 

(c) The Thames Waterfront - 
bringing life and activity to the 
riverside through redevelopment 
of sites no longer required for 
their former uses, and creating 

 There have been over 2,000 homes 
delivered in this area (April 2017).  

 The largest of which being The Bridge 
where over 1000 homes have been 
delivered, along with new schools, 

 
 
 

 



4 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

attractive mixed use 
development that provides 
public access to the river. 

community facilities, a local centre and 
employment uses.  

 Other key development sites have also 
delivered a range of employment and 
residential uses.  

 
 

 

CS2 Dartford Town Centre  
Requirement Progress  Status 
(1a) Work with landowners, 
developers and government 
agencies to increase the range 
and improve the quality of the 
food, comparison shopping and 
leisure offer. 

 There is evidence of new store openings 
and refurbishment plans have been 
completed or prepared for the shopping 
centres. 

 Primary and Secondary Frontages are 
both showing strength, with high A1 retail 
and low vacancy. 

 New foodstores have been completed; 
comparison provision has been stable. 

 Range/ quality of leisure facilities has been 
improving e.g. through new restaurants. 

 Continued liaison with key partners and 
stakeholders continues to occur to deliver 
the Town Centre Framework SPD and its 
proposals to help deliver Core Strategy 
aspirations for new leisure and other 
attractions, and improvements to the 
town’s environment – notably through the 
creation of a new public square featured in 
the Framework. 

 

(1b) Require planning 
applications for retail and leisure 
development within the town 
centre (Proposals Map 1) to 
demonstrate, commensurate to 
their size, their contribution to 
the achievement of the 
objectives set out in paragraph 
2.18 above. In particular, how 
the proposal will ensure benefits 
are spread to the wider town 
centre 

Town Centre objectives (para 2.18) review: 
1. Overall data indications suggest the town 

is still locally competitive:  retail rents and 
average footfall have been steadily 
increasing over recent years. Its shopping 
provision insofar as convenience goods 
are concerned has strengthened (Aldi and 
Lidl most recently).  

2. Work is still required to build on 
attractions, particularly in the evening. 
Central Park, Museum and Fairfield Pool 
have been upgraded and operate at 
weekends (and evenings in some 
instances). The co-op redevelopment site 
proposals should help to deliver this 
objective further as the town had a below 
average representation of leisure facilities 
such as family restaurant brands. 

3. Central Park refurbishment and continued 
market days twice a week are key aspects 
of the town and its identity. The Town 
Centre Framework looks to expand on the 
historical and market town status through 
public realm improvements and opening 

 



5 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

up the town to Acacia Hall complex, 
including the River Darent.  

4. The town centre’s captive population and 
potential customer base/ vibrancy is 
increasing. The build out of the Lowfield 
Street approved planning applications will 
significantly increase residents living 
centrally. Northern Gateway is well 
underway, with a significant number of 
homes being delivered.  

5. Outside of the improvements mentioned, 
proposals for major public space upgrades 
have not yet occurred but are in 
preparation:  The Town Centre Framework 
looks to significantly improve public realm. 
This includes ambitious plans to enhance 
the pivotal environment north of Central 
Park/ east of Lowfield Street by creating a 
multi functional public square for Dartford; 
enhancing pedestrian space, the public 
realm and the setting of historic buildings. 

6.  Dartford Wayfinding Project completed, 
further improvements being worked up via 
the Framework SPD. 

(1c) Seek to deliver up to 1,030 
homes and 300 jobs (B1 uses 
and A2 uses) in addition to jobs 
provided in retail and leisure 
uses. 

 There has been a clear net gain in homes 
within the town centre boundary; and it is 
expected a growth in jobs also. 

 75 homes have been delivered in the 
Town Centre. The recent Lowfield Street 
application approval (for 548 homes) will 
see increased delivery. 

 Approximately 64 jobs have been 
delivered (net) through B1 and A2 new 
floorspace uses completed in the Town 
Centre; plus employment at the new 
supermarkets. Job levels may have also 
changed within existing premises and 
through non-commercial job generating 
uses e.g. cultural and community facilities 
and public services. 

 

(1d) Work with its partners to 
deliver the following sites for 
mixed-use development, 
incorporating retail and/or leisure 
proposals at ground level, and a 
mix of uses on upper floors that 
could include housing, office use 
and community facilities subject 
to meeting the objectives in para 
2.18: 
• Lowfield St 
• Hythe St (former Co-op site) 
• Kent Rd (former Westgate car 
park) 

Lowfield Street 
 548 dwellings, retail units, office, 

cafe/micro-brewery, and car parking have 
been approved. 

 
Co-Op and Westgate Car Park 
 Proposals are currently being worked up 

for a new public square, a 109-bed hotel, 
additional town centre parking for 
shoppers and 140 new homes. In addition, 
six-screen cinema at the heart of a new 
social neighbourhood with bars and 
restaurants. 

 



6 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

(1e) Encourage proposals for 
refurbishment, extension or 
redevelopment of the Orchards 
and Priory Shopping Centres to 
provide enhanced and/or 
increased shopping and/or 
leisure facilities. 

 Orchards Shopping Centre has recently 
undergone refurbishment, with three 
phases now all completed. 

 Priory Shopping Centre is under new 
ownership and there are a number of 
refurbishment plans in the pipeline, and 
units facing Lowfield Street refurbished . 

 

(1f) On the Station Mound site, 
work with partners to facilitate a 
new Dartford station building, 
improved interchange facilities at 
the station and create a high 
quality gateway into the town 
centre, through redevelopment 
of the site for a mix of uses, 
which could include cafes, pubs 
and restaurants, housing, 
employment (B1), hotel, 
community facilities and 
supporting retail and leisure 
uses. 

 A new Dartford station building has been 
delivered and has transformed it as a 
gateway to Dartford. 

 Further work at Station Mound is still in the 
early stages but is in the pipeline as a key 
development site. 

 

(1g) Enhance the social and 
recreational role of the Acacia 
Hall complex and improve its 
linkages with Central Park and 
the town centre. Explore options 
for the eventual replacement of 
Fairfield Pool on the Acacia Hall 
site. 

 Plans to integrate Acacia Hall with the 
town centre through opening up access 
onto Market Street are nearly at 
application stage.  

 Fairfield Pool is now to be retained after 
recently undergoing significant 
refurbishment/ rebuilding on the current 
site.  

 

h) Protect and enhance the town 
centre’s historic environment, by 
requiring that development 
creates a sense of place by 
responding positively to the 
market town context and within 
and adjacent to the 
Conservation Area respecting 
the varied historic, heritage and 
archaeological context; work 
with landowners to improve 
buildings in the Conservation 
Area; maintain the historic 
garden landscape at Acacia 
Hall; and provide town heritage 
information in historically 
significant locations. The 
archaeological potential should 
be assessed prior to 
development through a desk-top 
study and investigated via 
fieldwork, where the desk-top 
study indicates this will be 
necessary, or through an 
archaeological watching brief, if 

 Town centre applications within the 
Conservation Area have to abide by 
relevant historical policies. These have 
been strengthened by the Development 
Policies Plan (2017). 

 For example, shop frontages in recent 
years have had to be in keeping with the 
existing buildings (e.g. Esquires on the 
High Street)  

 The Town Centre Framework will look to 
enhance the heritage characteristics of the 
town centre. 
 
 

 



7 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

appropriate. The approach to 
any finds of significance will be 
determined through an 
Archaeological Strategy or 
Framework, agreed in 
partnership with KCC. 
i) Use available resources to 
improve the public realm, in 
particular through improvements 
to Central Park, street 
environment enhancements in 
the High Street and the area 
around Dartford station. 

 Central Park and Dartford station have 
been enhanced.  

 Monies have been won for further public 
realm improvements: The Town Centre 
Framework looks to tackle this objective 
and improve the town centre public realm 
and connections across the town. 

 

j) Enhance the biodiversity of the 
River Darent and create an 
Ecology Island between the two 
branches of the River Darent, as 
part of improvements to Central 
Park. 

 This was delivered. It now features a new 
community open air cinema.  

 A new scheme is being implemented in 
Acacia to bring environmental 
improvements to the bankside and 
enhance quality of the river Darent.  

 

k) Work with its partners, with 
funding from development 
contributions and/or the 
Strategic Transport Programme 
(see Policy CS 16) to implement 
schemes giving greater priority 
to pedestrians, particularly at the 
eastern end of the High Street 
and Market Street and improving 
accessibility between bus stops 
and the main shopping area. 

 Specific proposals, and funding sources, 
for a public square at Market Street and 
links to the eastern end of the High Street 
have been developed.  

 This is a focus of the Town Centre 
Framework; and to improve the town 
centre public realm and connections 
across the town. 

 

l) Require that new housing 
development contributes 
proportionally to the land and 
build costs of a new primary 
school at the Northern Gateway. 

 This is now undertaken through the 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL), with 
appropriate funding allocated to the new 
school.  

m) Require that planning 
applications for development in 
Flood Zones 2 and 3 are 
accompanied by a site specific 
FRA to demonstrate that 
development is safe and will 
pass part C of the Exception 
Test, where applicable. These 
sites to also be sequentially 
tested to direct ‘more vulnerable‘ 
uses to the parts of the site at 
less risk of flooding, where 
possible. 

 An FRA is required for planning 
applications in Flood Zones 2 and 3.  

 EA are also consulted on these 
applications and would assess 
vulnerability on a site by site basis. 

 

n) Prepare a Dartford Town 
Centre Supplementary Planning 
Document to provide further 
guidance on the implementation 
of the strategy for the town 
centre. The Development 

 A draft SPD was prepared and an early 
draft made public, with full consultation 
with residents, business and organisations 
in 2018, including a Public Exhibition 
attended by c. 1,400 people. 

 



8 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

Management DPD will identify 
the primary shopping area, and 
consider primary and secondary 
shopping frontages and the 
management of uses within 
these. 

 The draft Town Centre Framework will 
form the final Town Centre SPD, after 
amendments. Adoption expected in 
summer 2018. 

 The Development Policies Plan was 
adopted in July 2017 and identified 
shopping frontages in the town centre.  

 

CS3 Northern Gateway Strategic Site 
Requirement Progress Status 
a) Provision of up to 2,040 
homes mainly as family housing 
but with apartments around the 
Mill Pond and at the southern 
end of the site.  Specialist 
housing for the elderly may also 
be provided. 

 776 homes have been delivered in the 
Northern Gateway Strategic Site.  

 A further 1090 homes have planning 
permission, 470 of which are under 
construction (April 2017). 

 

b) Provision of 1200 jobs in B1, 
B2 and B8 uses, as far as these 
are compatible with adjacent 
residential uses1.   

 Approximately 291 new jobs have been 
created from new employment floorspace 
(183 net additional jobs). 

 Further employment sites expected at 
former Unwin’s site and at Northern 
Gateway North. 

 

c) Provision of a mix of uses and 
the creation of a new area of 
public realm around the Mill 
Pond, creating a vibrant hub 
within the site, and an additional 
complementary attractor to the 
town centre. Uses may include 
local shops and leisure uses, a 
hotel, community facilities and 
cafes, pubs and restaurants 
fronting onto the waterside. A 
site management plan will be 
required to ensure the 
appropriate management of 
Dartford Fresh Marshes. 

 The Mill Pond site is currently under 
construction, for 325 flats (and a further 
403 at the adjacent Abbott Murex) along 
with 2,582 sq m of non-residential uses 
comprising office uses (Class B1/A2), 
retail, restaurant, café/ bar uses; and 
community and assembly/ leisure uses. 

 The latest Dartford Fresh Marshes 
management plan was created in 2006. 

 A primary school is in the advanced 
stages of planning and anticipated to open 
in September 2019. 

 

d) Creation of multifunctional 
greenspace alongside the River 
Darent and within and across 
the site, providing at least 30% 
open space across the site2, 
with provision for biodiversity 
and landscape improvements as 
well as recreational, sporting 
and amenity areas. Land at 
Dartford Fresh Marsh, the Mill 
Pond and the provision of a park 

 Some progress has been made, for 
example at the former Arjo Wiggins site. 
This includes new public realm, together 
with removal of flood protection that 
culverted the river to allow the 
embankment to become ecological 
greenspace. 

 Dartford Fresh Water Marsh has a 
Management Plan as part of the 
development 

 

                                                            
1 Office, light industrial, general industrial and storage and distribution 
2 Open Spaces Technical Paper, Dartford Borough Council, 2010 



9 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

on the eastern side to form part 
of the provision.    

 Mill Pond will see improvements along the 
river and to Mill Pond lake through public 
realm improvements 

 A large park for Northern Gateway (East) 
is currently being developed.  

  e) Creation of footpaths and 
cycle paths along and across the 
River Darent, connecting to Mill 
Pond, into the town centre and 
to the wider Green Grid in the 
Borough. 

 Sites alongside river have provided new 
paths etc. 

 A new bridge linking across the river is 
being progressed.  

 Signage has been put in place to assist 
with links to wider networks.  

 

f) Minimising the amount of traffic 
generated by the site, with an 
emphasis on sustainable forms 
of travel, with Fastrack provision 
through the site, direct access to 
Dartford station and foot and 
cycle connectivity. Car parking 
provision on the site to reflect its 
location adjacent to the station 
and town centre, with provision 
related to proximity to these 
facilities.  Planning applications 
must be supported by a transport 
assessment which takes into 
account all planned development 
in the town centre as well as the 
Northern Gateway.  In advance 
of a Community Infrastructure 
Levy (CIL), a proportionate 
contribution will be required 
towards short-term mitigation 
measures to address any impact 
of the proposal on Junction 1a of 
the M25 (A282).  A Travel Plan 
will be required for each 
application.  See also Policy CS 
16, Transport Investment. 

 FastTrack routes provided through 
development although not operational yet. 

 Dartford Station direct access has not 
been achieved. 

 Travel Plans and assessment have been 
required. 

 

g) Provision of a 2-form entry 
primary school on the site3, with 
developments in the Northern 
Gateway and Dartford Town 
Centre contributing 
proportionally to land and build 
costs of the school. 

 Plans are currently underway and moving 
forward to deliver a primary school on the 
saved site in Northern Gateway. This is 
anticipated to open September 2019.  

h) Provision of primary health 
services, community meeting 
hall and other community 
facilities required, either on or 
off-site, in a way that best meets 
the needs arising from the new 
development as well as 

 Continued discussions are ongoing with 
CCG regarding health provision. With 
current plans indicating a Health Hub in 
Dartford Town Centre to provide for the 
wider community; well located off-site 
within walking distance of the Northern 
Gateway. 

 

                                                            
3 Infrastructure Background Paper, Dartford Borough Council, 2010 



10 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

supporting neighbouring 
communities. 
i) Achievement of at least Code 
Level 44 in the energy category 
in advance of mandatory 
requirements.  Where 
development commences in 
advance of a mandatory 
requirement for Code Level 6, 
buildings to be designed in a 
way that enables the retro-fitting 
of sustainable energy 
technologies for example 
through solar thermal, 
photovoltaic systems, ground 
source heat pumps.  This may 
also be facilitated by the 
provision of or re-use5 of on-site 
zero/low carbon Combined Heat 
and Power Plant (CHP) to serve 
the development.  The potential 
of the CHP to supply a wider 
area to be explored. 

 Code level 4 has been achieved.  
 CHP potential was not taken forward. 
 Central government have scrapped the 

Code for Sustainable Homes; new energy 
requirements are not to be taken forward 
by local planning policies. 

 

k) Promotion of development 
that reflects and interprets the 
riparian and industrial heritage 
associated with the area, in 
order to create a sense of place. 
Archaeological potential within 
the site should be assessed 
prior to development through a 
desk-top study and investigated 
via fieldwork, where the desk-top 
study indicates this will be 
necessary, or through an 
archaeological watching brief 
during development, if 
appropriate.  The approach to 
any finds of significance will be 
determined through an 
Archaeological Strategy or 
Framework, agreed in 
partnership with KCC. 

 Design details for Northern Gateway have 
taken into account the industrial heritage 
and have utilised this.  

 

2.  Planning applications must 
be supported by a transport 
assessment which takes into 
account development proposals 
for the site as a whole, as well 
as proposed developments in 
Dartford Town Centre.   A Travel 
Plan will be required for each of 
the sub-sites.  Local access 

 Travel assessments have been a 
requirement for all applications.  

 

                                                            
4 Code for Sustainable Homes, DCLG, 2008 
5 There is currently a CHP plant on site serving the industrial operations. 



11 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

improvements related to 
proposed development will be 
required to be delivered by 
developers. 
3. The Council will prepare an 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan, in 
partnership with landowners, 
developers and service 
providers.  This will guide the 
provision and funding of 
community and infrastructure 
facilities for each of the sub-
sites. 

 The latest updated Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan was published in December 2017 
(Revision from Nov 2012). 

 This updated Infrastructure Delivery Plan 
(IDP) sets out a variety of projects that 
have been identified by the Council and 
infrastructure providers including KCC, 
CCG, EA, and HE to support planned 
development in the Borough and to meet 
the new demands this will generate. 

 

4.  Land uses impacting on the 
viability of the town centre will 
not normally be acceptable. 

 No new use has been implemented that 
would affect town viability. 

 

5.  Employment uses 
successfully operating on the 
site, including at Riverside 
Industrial Estate and Victoria 
Industrial Park, will be protected, 
whilst the demand for them 
exists. 

 Sites have been designated as Identified 
Employment Areas in the Development 
Policies Plan (2017) and therefore are 
given further protection as employment 
sites.   

 

CS4 Ebbsfleet to Stone Priority Area 
Requirement Progress Status 
a) New residential 
communities focused on 
Ebbsfleet Valley and Stone, 
providing up to 7,850 homes 
within the Plan period, with 
further development beyond 
20266. 

 1,012 homes have been delivered 
between Ebbsfleet and Stone, and a 
further 334 homes at Ebbsfleet Valley 
Strategic Site. Therefore 17% of the ‘up to’ 
total has been delivered so far. The 
following policy explores Ebbsfleet Valley 
in more detail. 

 

b) Local community 
facilities, with a new primary 
school7, GP premises8, an 
enhanced community meeting 
place and improved facilities at 
Stone.  A range of facilities in 
the Ebbsfleet Valley (see Policy 
CS5) to support the new 
residents and enhance 
provision for existing residents, 
in particular, a new secondary 
school and its sporting facilities 

 A primary school has been opened in 
Ebbsfleet (Eastern Quarry). Plans for a 
secondary school have not yet been 
delivered. 

 Stone Pavilion opened in November 2011 
to provide a meeting space and 
community hall facilities for residents. This 
also includes office space for the parish 
clerk. 

 New education and health facilities are in 
preparation at Stone.  

 

                                                            
6 These outcomes refer to Dartford Borough Council area only.  Planning consents for Eastern Quarry 
and Ebbsfleet do not place a restriction on the rate at which delivery comes forward, subject to 
providing the necessary infrastructure, and this Plan does not seek to impose such a restriction.  See 
also Paragraph 2.45. 
7 Infrastructure Background Paper, Dartford Borough Council, 2010 
8 Infrastructure Background Paper, Dartford Borough Council, 2010 



12 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

and a lifelong learning centre at 
Eastern Quarry.  All new 
development will be required to 
contribute proportionally to the 
land and build costs of facilities, 
in relation to the demand 
generated by that development. 
(see also Policy CS26/1b). 

 Plans and schemes are in progress to 
provide the relevant supporting facilities 
for Ebbsfleet Garden City, including 
education, open space and health 
facilities.  

 Options are being explored at Ebbsfleet 
Central with the EDC vision being a 
commercial centre for business, 
education, research and development, 
along with leisure and recreation.  

C) 9,700 jobs in offices and 
other B1 uses, provided within 
the Plan period, with a 
concentration of these in the 
Ebbsfleet Valley9.  

 Approximately 433 new jobs have been 
created from new employment floorspace 
(280 net additional jobs). This has mainly 
been at Bluewater, Stone, not B1 office/ 
light industrial employment. 

 Ebbsfleet Central proposals are yet to be 
implemented.  

 

d) distinctive network of 
multifunctional green spaces 
defining each community and 
serving recreational and 
biodiversity functions. This will 
include natural habitat 
enhancement and making 
existing spaces publicly 
accessible at Craylands Gorge, 
St Clements Valley, the eastern 
end of Stone Lodge  and the 
former Stone House Hospital;  
creating new spaces in the 
Ebbsfleet Valley and at St James 
Lane Pit; and  improvements to 
Stone Recreation Ground. 

 A variety of green spaces have been 
provided at development sites e.g. Stone 
Lodge Hospital. With all large sites 
meeting the 30% requirement of open 
space provision.  

 Stone Neighbourhood Plan is currently 
being progressed which seeks to 
encourage the development of open 
space in Stone.  

 Proposals are already submitted for Stone 
Lodge which includes new park land and 
outdoor sports.  

 

e) A centre of excellence for 
sport and recreation at Stone 
Lodge, expanding on the existing 
Olympic-level provision on the 
site.10  

 Detailed planning is currently being 
worked up with an application expected in 
2018.  

f) Physical integration of 
Bluewater with the existing and 
proposed residential 
communities surrounding it, with 
footpaths, cycle paths and 
buses, including Fastrack. 
Options for the evolution of 
Bluewater which provide for a 
wider range of uses will be 
explored with the owners and 
relevant stakeholders, where this 

 Plans are in place to link through 
Bluewater with Ebbsfleet Garden City 
through existing tunnels. This will include 
a FastTrack route through the whole of the 
Eastern Quarry site – linking to Bluewater. 

 Further consideration of Bluewater’s role 
and potential expansion beyond retail and 
community use is still required.  

 

                                                            
9 These outcomes refer to Dartford Borough Council area only.  Planning consents for Eastern Quarry 
and Ebbsfleet do not place a restriction on the rate at which delivery comes forward, subject to 
providing the necessary infrastructure, and this Plan does not seek to impose such a restriction.  See 
also Paragraph 2.45. 
10 Sports Facilities Technical Paper, Dartford Borough Council, 2010 



13 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

can provide synergies with 
Ebbsfleet and does not 
adversely impact on 
neighbouring town centres (see 
also Policy CS 12). 
g) Linking of communities, 
facilities and key activity hubs 
through the Fastrack bus 
network, with a new link from 
Ebbsfleet through Eastern 
Quarry to Bluewater. 

 This is still planned and set to be 
implemented later in the plan period.  

 

h) Built development 
reflecting the varied heritage of 
the area in order to create a 
sense of place.  Provision of 
interpretation facilities, focusing 
on recent quarry-related 
industrial heritage as well as 
activity from earlier 
archaeological periods.  The 
archaeological potential of parts 
of the Ebbsfleet Valley should be 
assessed prior to development 
through a desk-top study, and 
investigated via fieldwork, where 
the desk-top study indicates this 
will be necessary, or through an 
archaeological watching brief.  
The approach to any finds of 
significance will be determined 
through an Archaeological 
Strategy or Framework, agreed 
in partnership with KCC. Where 
there is an approved 
archaeological strategy as part of 
an extant planning consent, this 
will take precedence over this 
part of the policy. 

 Public art has been provided at the first 
Eastern Quarry Park.  

 The Eastern Quarry s106 requires the 
provision of funding to KCC to provide an 
interpretative centre or the provision of 
space for facility. 

 The public art strategy for EQ reflects the 
archaeological potential from Palaeolithic, 
through the world war to industrial 
archaeology. 

 The Ebbsfleet Garden City Implementation 
Framework indicates the new Ebbsfleet 
Central Park will have a role in the 
interpretation of heritage assets and the 
SSSI.  

 

 

CS5 Ebbsfleet Valley Strategic Site 
Requirement Progress Status 
1a) a community of up to 10,000 
homes, (up to 5,250 assumed to 
be  provided in the Plan period) 

 The Ebbsfleet Development Corporation 
(EDC) has been established by central 
government. It is the lead authority within 
the Ebbsfleet area for matters such as 
planning applications and co-ordinating 
local infrastructure. 

 334 homes have been delivered in 
Ebbsfleet Valley Strategic Site. This is 6% 
of the assumed number of be provided in 
the plan period. The first completion was 
not recorded until 2014/15. 

 



14 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

 The EDC has been put in place to speed 
delivery, with housing completion rates 
expected to grow in the coming years. A 
further 550 homes a year are required if 
the target of 5,250 is to be met – last year 
(2016/17) delivery was 214 units in the 
EDC area. 

1b) a business district providing 
approx 16,900 jobs, (up to 9,500 
assumed to be provided in the 
Plan period) 

 As at April 2017, 0 jobs have been 
provided in Ebbsfleet Valley Strategic Site. 
This is expected to grow as local centres 
are built and if Ebbsfleet Central comes 
forward.  

 

1c) leisure and retail uses to 
support local residents, workers 
and visitors 

 A pub has been constructed at Ebbsfleet 
Green (former Northfleet West sub station 
site). 

 The first Local Centre in Eastern Quarry 
reserved matters was recently approved. 

 

1d) community facilities required 
to support the residential 
community 

 The first primary school in Eastern Quarry 
has recently opened (September 2017); as 
has a community hall, with more facilities 
planned in later phases.  

 

 

CS6 Thames Waterfront 
Requirement Progress Status 
a) Supporting residential 
development of up to 3,750 
homes, including on the    
Swanscombe Peninsula as part 
of mixed-use development, 
completion of permitted 
residential development at The 
Bridge and the former Everards 
site; and in the event that 
assessment demonstrates 
cargo-handling not to be viable, 
mixed-use development 
including riverside greenspace 
at Thames Europort.   

 2,060 homes have been delivered in the 
Thames Waterfront Priority Area. This is 
55% of the delivery required to meet the 
3,750 figure by 2026. 

 Everards is complete, with one final phase 
remaining for Ingress Park.  

 The Bridge mixed use site is also nearly 
complete, offering some 1,500 homes 
along with a local centre, community 
facilities and significant employment 
space. 

 Thames Europort has not been 
redeveloped. 

 

b) Development at Swanscombe 
Peninsula to be fully integrated 
with Ingress Park, providing 
shared community facilities and 
local shops.  The need for a 
primary school on the site will be 
kept under review.  Master 
planning of the site will define the 
arrangement of land uses on the 
site and will be informed by 
detailed ecological studies to 
ensure that the biodiversity of the 
Peninsula is preserved. 

 New plans by private sector investors for 
the Peninsula have led to a proposal, 
classified as a National Infrastructure 
Project, for London Resort, an 
international theme park. 

 

c) Supporting employment at 
Swanscombe Peninsula, which, 

 Approximately 4,236 (36%) new jobs have 
been created from new employment  



15 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

subject to further feasibility and 
impact assessments may include 
an  Environmental Technology 
Park, incorporating a low/zero 
carbon Combined Heat and 
Power Plant, utilising Bells Wharf 
and Whites Jetty for the transport 
of goods and material.  At 
Littlebrook, logistics activities will 
be supported.  The continued 
development of Crossways for a 
mix of employment uses will be 
supported, as will The Bridge for 
a mix of B1, B2 and B8 uses and 
other employment generating 
uses. 

floorspace (3,961 net new jobs) in the 
Thames Waterfront Priority Area. 

 The proposal for London Resort is 
anticipated to provide approximately 6,500 
full time equivalent jobs and further in 
Resort hotels. There is also potential 
claimed for indirect jobs (16,000 full time 
equivalent). This would be a leading 
source of employment and leisure facilities 
for this area, Ebbsfleet and the wider 
region. 

 19,409 sq m net gain of employment 
floorspace has been completed at 
Crossways Business Park. 

 86,137 sq m net gain of employment 
floorspace has been delivered at The 
Bridge. 

 Therefore 125,000sqm of employment 
floorspace has been constructed in the 
period, including at Littlebrook, 
contributing to Dartford’s current position 
as a net generator of jobs for residents in 
the sub-region. Job generation levels 
would be significantly accelerated were 
the London Resort scheme to occur. 

d) Supporting new development 
incorporating sporting facilities 
and waterside activities, 
including boating facilities, pubs 
and restaurants, providing that 
river navigation, hydrology, 
traffic, parking and ecological 
impacts can be addressed and 
that development is appropriate 
to the character of the area.   

 7,926 sq m of D1 community floorspace 
has been constructed at The Bridge. A 
primary school, a university technical 
college, a pub/ restaurant and local uses 
and the Fastrack dedicated bus route 
system have all been delivered.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



16 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Summary:  

 Please note data in this section does not account for the high level of growth reported in 
2017/18, which will be reported in the 2018 AMR. 

 The policy-by-policy analysis shows that developments have taken place (or proposals 
come forward) at all the main planned areas for new communities in the Borough (CS1). 
Some, 4,250 homes and 5,000 jobs (from new floorspace) have been delivered in the 
Strategic Sites and Priority Areas since 2006. 

 Development has started at planned locations. Although bringing land forward on large 
brownfield sites is particularly complex, and there was a significant aftermath in house 
building following the recession; the rate of delivery on these sites has caught up 
significantly towards Core Strategy expectations (the majority of housing delivery has been 
on brownfield sites). This is important for ensuring regeneration of Dartford is maintained 
and positive developments continue on these long-term sites.  

 Many residential sites in the Northern Gateway, Thames Riverside, and Stone have 
been completed (policies CS3, CS6 & CS4). 

 The evaluation shows progress in both private development and supporting facilities are 
at ‘early stages’ at Ebbsfleet (policy CS5), particularly as no redevelopment has occurred 
near the International station. However this is relative to the huge scale of the project which 
will extend well beyond the Core Strategy period.  

 More recently, house building at Ebbsfleet has increased, and examples of non-
residential development and new infrastructure provision have been achieved. The EDC 
is to be kept in place to continue to assist and speed up delivery across Ebbsfleet. 

 More residential development needs to be completed in the town centre to match 
expected levels (policies CS2). The amount of development here and at Northern Gateway 
has not yet led to construction of major new health and educational facilities, although 
detailed plans are being finalised with the authorities responsible for delivering this social 
infrastructure. Further information can be found in the Town Centre Framework.  

 

 

 

 



17 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

3. MANAGING	DEVELOPMENT	
 

3.1 These policies set out the sets out how the overall level of development in the Borough 
will be co-ordinated and managed so as to ensure Dartford’s development leads to an 
improvement in the Borough’s environment and economy. This includes ten policies: 

Economy 
 CS7: Employment Land and Jobs 
 CS8: Economic Change 
 CS9: Skills and Training 

Homes 
 CS10: Housing Provision 
 CS11: Housing Delivery 

Retail 
 CS12: Network of Shopping Centres 

Green Belt and Green Space 
 CS13: Green Belt 
 CS14: Green Space 

Transport 
 CS15: Managing Transport Demand 
 CS16: Transport Investment 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



18 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

CS7 Employment Land and Jobs 
Requirement  Progress  Status 
1. In the period 2006-2026, 

identified sites  and potential 
new service jobs provide 
sufficient capacity to achieve a 
net growth of up to 
approximately 26,500 jobs 
through: 

a) The development of 750,000 
sq m gross of employment 
floorspace (B1, B2, B8, A2 and 
sui generis11. The Council will 
work with landowners, partners 
and Locate in Kent to bring the 
sites forward for development 
and to identify users for the 
sites 

b) Take-up of vacancies of 
existing employment estates 

c) Protection of existing 
employment areas for B1, B2, 
B8 and A212, except where the 
site is identified in policies CS3 
and CS6 for non-employment 
uses. 

d) Facilitating job growth in 
services needed to support the 
growth in population, through 
identification of sites and 
granting of planning permission 
for retail, leisure and community 
facilities and working in 
partnership with service 
providers, including Kent 
County Council and the Health 
Authority to ensure that the 
provision comes forward. 

 133,189 sq m of net gain (18%) in 
employment floorspace has been 
recorded since 2006/07 (214,050 
Gross). 

o 28,943 sq m of this is Office 
floorspace (B1a and A2). 

o -9,214 sq m of this is Industrial 
floorspace (B1 & B2). 

o 111,695 sq m is Storage and 
Distribution floorspace (B8). 

o 1,765 sq m of this is Sui Generis 
 
 The total number of employees has 

grown in Dartford Borough by 9,700 
between 2006 and 2014. This is a rise 
of nearly 20%. An estimated 6,200 jobs 
have been created from all new 
floorspace gains (2006-17) 
 

 The adoption of the DP Plan has 
secured the Identified Employment 
Areas to offer them greater protection.  

 

2. Distribution of employment 
floorspace 

Dartford Town Centre and Northern 
Gateway Priority Area 

 Gross B1a/A2: 3,163 
 Gross B2: 1,051 
 Gross B8: 12,789 
 Gross SG: 684 
 Total: 17,687sqm (43%) 

 
Ebbsfleet to Stone Priority Area 

 

                                                            
11 Dartford’s Strategic Employment Land Availability Assessment, Dartford Borough Council, 2010 
and Economy and Employment Technical Paper, Dartford Borough Council, 2010 
12 As identified in the Dartford Economy and Employment Technical Paper, Dartford Borough Council, 
July 2010, section 3 Employment Estates 



19 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

 There has been only a small amount 
of commercial floorspace delivered 
in this Priority Area. 

 
Thames Waterfront Priority Area 

 Gross B1a/A2: 31,658 
 Gross B1: 11,565 
 Gross B2: 7,957 
 Gross B8: 125,556 
 Gross SG: 90 
 Total: 176,826sqm (39%) 

 
Other (North of A2) 

 Gross B1a/A2: 3,001 
 Gross B1: 1,475 
 Gross B2: 975 
 Gross B8: 7,334 
 Gross SG: 308 
 Total: 13,093sqm (48%) 

 
Other (South of A2) 

 Gross B1a/A2: 1,094 
 Gross B1: 2,327 
 Gross B2: 225 
 Gross B8: 1,415 
 Gross SG: 399 
 Total: 5,460sqm (218%) 

 
Net Jobs from employment use floorspace: 

 Town Centre and Northern 
Gateway: -87 

 Ebbsfleet to Stone: 280 
 Thames Waterfront: 3,960 
 Other (North of A2): -74 
 Other (South of A2): 37 
 Total: 4,118 jobs (17%) 

 
Jobs are also provided through a range of 
other uses and development, particularly 
the service sector which has grown strongly 
.e.g. retail and community uses.13 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                            
13 Statistics are provided from Dartford internal development monitoring 



20 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

 

CS8 Economic Change 
Requirement Progress Status 
The Council will seek a 
transformation of the economy by 
focusing on key growth sectors, in 
particular: 
a) Office uses including financial 
and business services; 
government, and ICT related 
activity. 
b) High technology, specialist 
manufacturing and engineering 
(advanced manufacturing) 
c) Logistics, transport and 
distribution. 
d) Environmental technologies. 
e) Creative industries, hospitality 
and leisure. 
f) Built environment and 
construction. 

According to KCC’s BRES 2015-16 Report, 
Dartford has seen growth in: 

 Human health and social work 
activities 

 Transportation and storage 
 Real estate agent activities 
 Professional, scientific and technical 

activities  
 
Looking at patterns since 2009, the highest 
employment sector remains retail, which 
accounts for 22%. The largest overall 
increased between 2009-15 was in 
administrative and support service 
activities, health care, transport and 
construction. The largest decline was in 
manufacturing. 
 
Logistics and distribution has undoubtedly 
grown through new development. 
Hospitality and leisure developments are 
now growing. 

 

4. The development of a 
knowledge-based economy will be 
promoted by the Council through: 
a)The implementation of the 
Science Park at the Bridge 
B) Exploring the potential of an 
environmental technology park on 
the Swanscombe Peninsula. 
a) Continuing to focus on 
research and development in the 
sustainable    technologies field. 

The Bridge has nearly been completed and 
is a mixed use site. This includes a 
business and innovation park to encourage 
a range of office, industrial, science and 
technology activities.  
 
Swanscombe peninsula is currently having 
plans developed for a theme park: London 
Resort. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



21 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

 

CS9: Skills and Training 
Requirement  Progress  Status 
To ensure the provision of a locally 
skilled workforce to support the 
economic transformation of the 
Borough, the Council will: 
 

a) Work with its partners to provide 
training in the skills required for 
future growth sectors, including 
construction, hospitality, retailing, 
environmental technologies, 
logistics, finance, business and IT. 
b) Work with partners to secure 
funding and progress proposals for 
training and education 
establishment including a Higher 
Education presence, linked to 
Dartford Science Park at the 
Bridge, including The Sustainable 
Construction Academy (Suscon) 
and The Institute for Sustainability.  
These will focus on sustainable 
environmental technologies and 
sustainable construction 
techniques.     
c) Work with Groundwork and 
partners to secure continued 
funding for IT training for residents. 
d) Require developments, 
commensurate with their size, to 
contribute to the: 
 delivery of skills training, 

through other agencies if 
appropriate, to develop skills 
needed in association with the 
construction and operation of 
the development; 

 promotion of apprenticeships 
and work placements within the 
development itself and 
throughout the supply chain; 

 provision of local schools with 
curriculum-based educational 
material, linked to the job 
opportunities in the new 
development. 

The Bridge development site has 
established a centre for skills learning. 
There will soon be primary, secondary and 
higher education for all ages provided.  
 
Suscon (part of North Kent College) and the 
Leigh UTC (University Technical College) 
both offer skilled based courses and 
training. Suson is a leading sustainable 
construction training facility.  
 
A learning shop is in operation at 
Bluewater.  
 
 
 

 



22 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

e. Work with developers and 
Employ Kent Thameside14 to 
provide a job shop in the Borough 
on one of the large sites at any one 
time, as phasing permits. 

 

                                                            
14 Employ Kent Thameside is an organisation working to support the Kent Thameside Learning and 
Skills Strategy 



23 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

CS10 Housing Provision 
Requirement  Progress  Status 
1. In order to meet housing needs 
and to provide an impetus for 
regeneration of the Borough, land 
is allocated for housing in 
accordance with the spatial 
strategy set out in Policy CS 1. The 
capacity between 2006 and 2026 is 
as follows: 
Dartford Town 
Centre inc 
Northern Gateway  

up to 
3,070  

Ebbsfleet to 
Stone  

up to 
7,850 

Thames 
Waterfront  

up to 
3,750  

Other sites north 
of A2  

up to 
2,400  

Sites south of A2, 
normally provided 
within  

200  

 

As of April 2018, a total 7,462 homes have 
been delivered during the plan period, 
including the recent monitoring year just 
passed (2017/18). 
 
Disaggregated figures are only available to 
2016/17 i.e. do not currently include the 
over 1,000 units completed in the Borough 
in 2017/18. Totals to 2016/17: 

 Dartford Town Centre: 75/1030  
 

 Northern Gateway Strategic Site: 
766/2040  
 

 Ebbsfleet to Stone: 1012/2600  
 

 Ebbsfleet Valley Strategic Site: 
334/5250  
 

 Thames Waterfront: 2060/3750  
 

 Other Sites North of A2: 1763/2400  
 

 Other Sites South of A2: 422/200  
 

A total 6,431 homes were delivered during 
the plan period (2006-17). 

 

2. The Council will support 
proposals for housing as identified 
through the strategic site 
allocations in Policies CS 3 and 5 
and shown on the Proposals Map. 

This is being undertaken (see page 8 and 
13 for Policies CS3 and 5 respectively). 

 

3. Housing proposals will also be 
supported in the broad locations for 
development, as identified in Table 
1 below and shown on Diagram 2, 
subject to compliance with other 
policies in this Plan and with future 
Local Development Documents.  

This is being undertaken (see pages 3-16) 

 



24 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

4. Planning applications for sites not 
identified as deliverable or 
developable in the SHLAA15 will be 
assessed in the same way as 
planned development by 
consideration of: 
a)The sustainability of the site for 
housing development16; 
b) Whether benefits of development 
outweigh disbenefits; 
c)The capacity of the current and 
proposed infrastructure to serve the 
development taking into account 
committed and planned housing 
development17;   
d) Where spare capacity is not 
available, the ability of the site to 
provide for the requirements it 
generates. 

Windfall criteria are followed and supported 
by the Housing Windfall SPD (2014) and 
the Development Policies Plan (policy 
DP6).  
 
79.4% (target of 80%) of all development 
has occurred on brownfield sites. This is set 
to rise as large brownfield sites at Northern 
Gateway and Ebbsfleet continue to come 
forward. 
 
Accessibility of new housing developments 
to public transport and services is an 
important planning consideration, 
strengthened by the adoption of the DPP. 
 
The 2015/16 AMR reported that through 
infrastructure as at 2011 the vast majority of 
the Borough has access to Town Centre 
and Darent Valley Hospital within 45mins 
by bus.  

 

 

No. of 
homes 

2006-
2011 

Up to 
2,300 

2011-
2016 

Up to 
5,100 

2016-
2021 

Up to 
5,600 

2021-
2026 

Up to 
4,300 

TOTAL 
Up to 
17,300 

 

 2006-2011 saw 2,386 homes delivered. 
 2011-2016 saw 2,883 homes delivered 

– delivery rates declined due to 
recession’s aftermath but have now 
recovered. 

 2016-2021 has so far seen 2,193 
completions in two years (data to 
2017/18 included). 

 This leaves 9,838 units in the remaining 
eight years before the up to 17,300 level 
is breached.  

 As of April 2018, there are over 12,000 
houses in the Borough with planning 
permission. 

 

 

CS11 Housing Delivery 
Requirement  Progress  Status 
The Council will work to achieve the 
delivery of a balanced relationship 
between homes, jobs and 
infrastructure18 from the outset of 
development and in the long term 
by:  

 

a) Working in partnership with 
developers to bring forward delivery 
of infrastructure as part of housing 

Ongoing discussions and agreements with 
both developers and other strategic 
partners for infrastructure are taking place. 
CIL is in place for Dartford, along with the 
STIP programme. Further details are under 
CS15 and CS16. See infrastructure update 
in the 2016 AMR for further information, 
and funding collected for the town centre in 
the Framework. 

 

                                                            
15 Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment, Dartford Borough Council, 2010 
16 Sustainability Assessment of Housing Sites, Dartford Borough Council, 2010 
17 Infrastructure Background Paper, Dartford Borough Council, 2010 
18 Infrastructure includes social and community infrastructure, transport, water utilities, green 
infrastructure and flood defences (Policy CS26 provides further guidance on infrastructure provision). 



25 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

development through financial 
contributions as well as delivery in-
kind. 
b) Working with service providers, 
including Kent County Council, the 
Health Authority and the Highways 
Agency to ensure up-to-date 
assessments of infrastructure 
capacity and the delivery of 
required provision at the 
appropriate time and place. 
c) Working to achieve the funding to 
provide the required facilities (see 
Policy CS 26) 
d) Monitoring the delivery of homes 
and jobs and the relationship 
between the different elements of 
delivery, taking management action 
to address the imbalance where 
critical trigger points are reached 
(see Table 5, Chapter 6). 

Dartford’s job density ratio stood at 1.03 in 
2015/16 (NOMIS). The density figures 
represent the ratio of total jobs to 
population aged 16-64. This has increased 
from 0.88 in 2009. This is higher than 
Dartford’s neighbours:  Gravesham (0.49), 
Sevenoaks (0.82), Bexley (0.56) and 
Thurrock (0.68). Additionally, it is higher 
than the Kent average of 0.78, the South 
East average of 0.86 and GB average of 
0.83 (all figures 2015).  

 

 

CS12 Network of Shopping Centres 
Requirement  Progress  Status 
1. A network of complementary 
shopping centres will be developed 
and supported, comprising:  

 

a) Dartford Town Centre (see also 
Policy CS 2) 

b) Bluewater (see also Policy CS 
4) 

c) Ebbsfleet/Eastern Quarry (see 
also Policies CS 4 and 5, and  
Diagram 6). 

d) Longfield 
(along with Table 4) 
 
2. These will act as the main foci for 
shopping and leisure activity and be 
based on the roles for each centre 
identified in Table 3 below. 
 
3. The Council will work with 
developers and grant planning 
consent for development that 
supports these respective roles.  

Retail floorspace changes in these centres 
is as follows19: 
 
Dartford Town Centre: 

 Net loss of 9,765sqm A1 – primarily 
due to the loss of co-op which is 
currently having new development 
proposals worked up 

 Net loss of 300sqm A2.  
 Net gain of 200sqm A3. 
 Net loss of 430sqm A4. 
 Minimal net changes in A5.  

 
Bluewater: 

 Two large A1 retail expansions have 
occurred to expand stores, including 
H&M. 

 Net gain in 2,000sqm A1. 
 Minimal net changes in A2. 
 Net gain of 2,500sqm A3. 
 Minimal net changes in A4. 
 Net gain in 200sqm of A5. 

 

                                                            
19 Statistics are provided from Dartford internal development monitoring 



26 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

Table 4 will act as a guide to the 
appropriate amount of retail 
floorspace at each of the centres, 
also taking into account the factors 
identified below. 

 
Ebbsfleet: 

 Ebbsfleet is still at an early stage 
with regards to retail. So far, a public 
house/ restaurant has been 
completed at Ebbsfleet Green, 
totalling 734sqm of A3/A4.  

 Approximately 25,000 Retail 
floorspace has been granted 
permission at Eastern Quarry. 

 The first local centre to include 
900sqm of retail floorspace at 
Eastern Quarry has been approved. 

 
Longfield 

 There has been no net change in 
A1, A3 or A4 since the start of the 
plan period. 

 There has been a net gain of 
300sqm of A5, and a net loss of 
300sqm or A2. 

 Longfield District Centre remains 
stable, with minimal changes in the 
last 3 years. 

Dartford Town Centre 
4. Assessment of planning 
applications within the town centre  
boundary will take into account: 
a) the urgent need for regeneration 
and the potential for the proposal to 
contribute to the overall aims of 
Policy CS 2; 
b) the ability of the scheme to 
attract more shoppers from the 
immediate catchment, thereby 
supporting sustainable travel 
patterns; 
c) where proposals exceed the 
guidance levels, in addition to 1 and 
2 above, the  likely impact of the 
scheme on neighbouring town 
centres. 

This clause is taken into account when 
applications are determined. The draft 
Town Centre SPD and the new retail 
policies in the Development Policies Plan 
build on these aims to provide a vibrant 
town centre. Primary and Secondary 
frontages have been identified in the town 
centre with strict guidance on any change 
of uses.  

 



27 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

Bluewater  
5. The assessment of proposals will 
take into account: 
a) the ability of the scheme to 
attract more shoppers from the 
immediate catchment, thereby 
supporting sustainable travel 
patterns; 
b) the ability of a scheme to 
maintain and support Bluewater’s 
role as a  specialist regional 
comparison shopping centre and 
provide an offer which is distinct  
from that of nearby town centres;  
c) the potential of a scheme to 
provide impetus for early delivery in 
the Ebbsfleet Valley and to support 
the success of Ebbsfleet;  
d) proposals exceeding the 
guidance levels will be subject to a 
retail assessment carried out in 
consultation with neighbouring 
authorities and taking into account 
the likely impact of the scheme on 
neighbouring town centres and 
regional considerations. 
 
6. Proposals will also need to 
ensure that: 

a) impact on the highway network is 
minimised through a range of 
measures, including improved 
access by public transport, walking 
and cycling; 
b) the design integrity of the centre 
is maintained; 
c) the parkland setting is 
maintained and enhanced as a 
recreational and biodiversity 
resource and as flood risk 
mitigation; 
d) employment and training 
strategies target local people. 

This clause has been taken into account 
when applications were determined.  
 
Planning permission was granted in 2017 
for a 30,000sqm expansion to the shopping 
centre through part demolition, alteration 
and refurbishment of existing 
buildings/structures and erection of new 
buildings/structures to provide retail and 
related uses (Use classes A1-A5). A Retail 
Impact Assessment (RIA) was carried out 
by the applicant and independently 
reviewed with the impact and potential 
mitigation of proposals on town centres and 
the region fully scrutinised; and addressed 
in the conditions on, and Section 106 
agreement with, the permission. 

 

7. An early review of retail policies 
in this Plan will be undertaken, in 
order to assess changing patterns 
of retail behaviour as a result of the 
new population; the impact on 
market shares arising from 
development in Dartford centres, 
as well as development outside 
Dartford; and to assess the 
effectiveness of the policies in 
ensuring an appropriate balance 

The adopted Development Policies Plan 
confirmed that an early review of retail 
policy will occur, as part of Dartford’s whole 
Local Plan review that will be produced in 
line with the Local Development Scheme. 

 



28 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

between the Dartford shopping 
centres. 
 8. The Development Management 
DPD will contain policies on the 
management of these centres as 
well as the identification and 
management of local centres. 

The adopted Development Policies Plan set 
out individual policies (policy DP14-18) for 
each type of centre and provided District 
Centre and Neighbourhood Centre 
designations.  

 

 

CS13 Green Belt 
Requirement  Progress  Status 
In order to protect the openness of  
the Green Belt the Council will: 
a. Resist inappropriate development, 
in accordance with PPG2, through its 
development control decisions. 

Dartford continues to resist inappropriate 
development in the Green Belt. Data is 
available for recent years, whereby AMRs 
have analysed all the types of 
development permitted in the Green Belt, 
thereby confirming their scale or type and 
providing a framework for identification of 
development likely to impact on the 
permanent openness of the Green Belt. 
 
With the adoption of the Development 
Policies Plan, there are now more detailed 
policies which help protect it. Two largest 
sites built on green belt are a development 
of 149 homes on the former Axton Chase 
School site (approved pre adoption) and a 
development of 30 homes on Hook Place 
Farm. Both were on previously developed 
land.  

 

b. Work with its partners to actively 
manage the Green Belt as a 
recreational and ecological 
resource, through the provision of 
green recreational and biodiversity 
networks linked with the urban area.  
The following projects will be 
implemented:  
 Enhancement of rural reaches of 

the Darenth Valley   
 New Countryside Gateway at 

South Darenth Lakes 
 Dartford Heath –restoration of 

heathland 
 Darenth Country Park 

improvements 
 Darenth Woods natural habitat 

enhancements 
 Beacon Woods Country Park 

improvements 
 Former Mabledon Hospital – 

enhancement of areas of 
ecological value 

 Enhancement of rural reaches of the 
Darenth Valley:   

a) Enhancement Plan produced. 
 New Countryside Gateway at South 

Darenth Lakes: 
a) Part of the wider Darenth 

Valley Landscape  Partnership 
Scheme – which commenced 
2017 

 Dartford Heath –restoration of 
heathland: 

a) Clearing of not native Highland 
vegetation to assist with 
regeneration of heather and 
gorse (with Groundwork and 
NWKCP). Additionally, regular 
maintenance also occurs (with 
assistance from community).  

 Darenth Country Park improvements: 
a) Scheduled grounds 

maintenance activities have 
occurred in relation to 
pathways etc. plus our 
Countryside team work on 

 



29 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

 Better connectivity between 
Dartford and Gravesham 
countryside through Ebbsfleet 
Valley and A2 corridor 

areas such as replacing 
fences, coppicing etc. 

 Darenth Woods natural habitat 
enhancements: 

a) Reactive work occurs primarily 
re maintenance. The Forestry 
Commission has done some 
research relating to 
insects/beetles.  

 Beacon Woods Country Park 
improvements 

a) The Friends of Beacon Woods 
Country Park was set up in 
2012 to help manage the park 
as a community project and 
encourage use of the park. 

 Former Mabledon Hospital – 
enhancement of areas of ecological 
value 

a) Application for crematorium 
approved, to include 
landscaping and ecological 
enhancement. 

 Better connectivity between Dartford 
and Gravesham countryside through 
Ebbsfleet Valley and A2 corridor 

a) EDC have commenced Bean 
Triangle environmental 
improvements strategy. Further 
work to be completed in later 
phases of Ebbsfleet Garden 
City 

2.  Agricultural land uses within the 
Green Belt will be protected. More 
detailed policies will be set out in the 
Development Management DPD. 

DP22 Green Belt in the Borough in The 
Development Policies Plan (2017) sets out 
more detailed green belt policy.   

 

CS14 Green Space 
Requirement  Progress  Status 

1. The Council will work with its 
partners to implement a multi-
functional, high quality, varied and 
well-managed Green Grid20. It will 
deliver this by:  
a)  Facilitating the creation of 
approximately 300 hectares of new 

78.5 ha of open space (34.7%) has been 
provided/designated at large sites. Further 
large areas of open space are planned at 
Ebbsfleet Garden City. 
 
Under the Development Policies Plan, 27ha 
of Protected Local Greenspace 

 

                                                            
20 Green Grid – a strategic network of multi-purpose, attractive public open spaces consisting of green 
corridors, rivers, lakes and landscapes linked via a series of urban and countryside footpaths, Public 
Rights of Way, cyclepaths and roads, and designed to connect the main open areas within the urban 
area to the River Thames, the River Darent, the countryside to the south, the existing communities 
within the urban area, new communities within development sites and communities and open spaces 
beyond the Borough boundaries. 



30 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

or improved green spaces as part of 
new developments by 2026. 

(PLGS)across 27 sites was designated 
which provides similar protection to green 
belt. 

b) Requiring new development 
to make a contribution to the Green 
Grid network as follows: 
 Sites of 20 ha and over: at 
least 30% of the site area 
 Sites of between 20ha and 
2ha: at least 20% of the site area 
 Sites of less than 2ha will be 
considered on a site by site basis. 

Overall, the open space policy 
requirements are being met across the 
borough for large sites (over 20 hectares). 

 

c) Where on-site open space is not 
appropriate or feasible, 
contributions may be sought for off-
site improvements of open space in 
the vicinity of the site.  Provision of 
specific types of green space and 
water bodies to cater for diverse 
community needs, including older 
children and teenagers; natural 
habitats and biodiversity corridors, 
and for mitigation of flood risk, will 
be provided within the overall 
allocation.  

Overall various types of spaces have been 
provided, including: various play spaces, 
pocket parks, play space, larger parks, 
some water bodies and biodiversity 
improvements and flood risk measures, e.g. 
through SUDS. 
 
Enhancements have also taken place. For 
example, Central Park in Dartford Town 
Centre has seen refurbishment and a 
variety of uses maintained, from a 
skatepark to various natural improvements. 

 

d) Working with its partners to 
implement the projects below, in 
addition to those in Policy CS 13, 
through the Council resources and 
grant funding and as part of the 
Thames Gateway Parkland project: 
 Darenth Valley corridor – an 
enhanced path and landscape from 
the River Thames through Central 
Park in Dartford Town Centre to the 
open countryside 
 Central Park – expansion of 
the park, increased facilities and 
restoration of its traditional 
character 
 Thames Riverside Path – 
joining  together the existing 
sections to create a continuous high 
quality path 
 Dartford Marshes – delivery of 
the ‘Managing the Marshes’ project 
which aims to conserve, manage 
and enhance the  grazing marsh 
 New Countryside Gateway at 
South Darenth Lakes 
 Better connectivity between 
Dartford and Gravesham 
countryside through Ebbsfleet 
Valley and A2 corridor 

 Darenth Valley corridor – an enhanced 
path and landscape from the River 
Thames through Central Park in Dartford 
Town Centre to the open countryside: 

a) Enhancement Plan produced 
 Central Park – expansion of the park, 

increased facilities and restoration of its 
traditional character: 

a) Complete 
 Thames Riverside Path – joining  

together the existing sections to create a 
continuous high quality path: 

a) Part complete – bridge pending 
 Dartford Marshes – delivery of the 

‘Managing the Marshes’ project which 
aims to conserve, manage and enhance 
the  grazing marsh: 

a) Ongoing 
 New Countryside Gateway at South 

Darenth Lakes: 
a) Part of the wider Darenth Valley 

Landscape  Partnership 
Scheme – which commenced 
2017 

 Better connectivity between Dartford and 
Gravesham countryside through 
Ebbsfleet Valley and A2 corridor 

 



31 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

 Creation of a nature reserve 
east of Stone Lodge 
 Significant biodiversity 
improvements at development sites 
include Ebbsfleet Valley, 
Swanscombe Peninsula and the 
Northern Gateway. 

a) New footlink provided from 
Eastern Quarry to Ebbsfleet 
International Station. A new 
bridge to Gravesham is under 
construction to link the station 
better with Northfleet.  

 Creation of a nature reserve east of 
Stone Lodge 

a) Scheme being bought forward, 
including remediation works. 

 Significant biodiversity improvements at 
development sites include Ebbsfleet 
Valley, Swanscombe Peninsula and the 
Northern Gateway.  

a) Ongoing 
  e) Protecting and enhancing 
existing open spaces, including 
those shown in Diagram 8 and 
those identified and designated as 
locally important, the diverse 
landscape character, areas of 
nature conservation value, Sites of 
Special Scientific Interest, National 
Nature Reserves and local wildlife 
sites, community and ancient 
woodlands, as well as priority 
habitats and species, both in the 
urban and rural area. Biodiversity 
enhancements will be focussed on 
the Biodiversity Opportunity Areas. 
Protection and enhancement of 
biodiversity on brownfield 
development sites will be based on 
survey data.   

Protection of land has been enhanced 
through a new Policies Map. 1,449 ha of 
land was identified as Borough Open 
Space. 
 
Monitoring of nature designation data is 
undertaken every year to ensure there are 
minimal adverse effects. Over 90% of SSSI 
land remains categorised as in ‘favourable’ 
condition21. 
  

2.   Further guidance on the quality, 
quantity, management, 
maintenance and delivery of the 
component parts of the open space 
will be set out in the Development 
Management DPD and/or future 
SPDs. 

DP23 Protected Local Green Space, DP24 
Borough Open Space and DP25 Nature 
Conservation and Enhancement in The 
Development Policies Plan (2017) sets out 
more detailed greenspace policy.   

 

CS15 Managing Transport Demand 
Requirement  Progress  Status 
1. In order to reduce the need to 
travel, minimise car use and make 
the most effective use of the 
transport network, the Council will:   
a) Encourage mixed use 
development and close 
interrelationship between 

This has occurred, with interrelationship 
being achieved on site through a close 
relationship between local sites and 
facilities. This has to be appropriate to the 
scale of the development and therefore can 
only be seen being delivered on large sites.  
 

 

                                                            
21 AMR 2017 



32 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

complementary land uses: homes, 
jobs, shops and leisure, 
recreational and community 
facilities. 

For example, The Bridge provides 
residential, community, employment and 
retail services all in one place. As Ebbsfleet 
Garden City continues to take shape, the 
vision is that it becomes a centre for both 
residential and employment and the 
subsequent accompanying facilities22. 

b) Require major development sites 
to make provision for Fastrack as 
part of planning proposals.  In 
addition to provision on identified 
sites, extension or improvement of 
the network will also be considered 
on major sites, where potential 
demand from the development 
justifies23 it and where this would 
benefit the wider network. 

Fastrack has been put in place at the 
Bridge and plans to put a link through 
Northern Gateway are in place once the Mill 
Pond site opens. A further link through 
Ingress Park has also opened. Fastrack will 
also run through Ebbsfleet/Eastern Quarry 
to Bluewater once complete. 
 
 

 

c) Work in partnership with Kent 
County Council, other partners and 
transport operators to deliver 
appropriate long term operating 
arrangements to ensure the 
success of Fastrack and ensure that 
the benefits of Fastrack, where 
embedded in existing communities, 
are not lost.   

Further improvements and extensions are 
being considered at the moment through 
collaboration with KCC.  

 

d) Work in partnership with Kent 
County Council and transport 
operators to   improve conventional 
bus services.  Where appropriate, 
major developments will be required 
to facilitate new services, improved 
frequencies or extensions to 
existing bus services.  Provision of 
services will be required to serve 
early residents on developments 
with long build-out times. 

Some new services and temporary new 
services have been introduced to 
accommodate large sites. For example, 
Eastern Quarry early phases are serviced 
by busses.  
 
High capacity and frequent services 
(Sapphire service) running between 
Dartford and Gravesend, which have been 
enhanced over the plan period.  
 
Additional local area busses have been 
introduced to service other local areas, e.g. 
Dart1 and Dart2. 

 

e) Work in partnership with Network 
Rail, train operating companies and 
other partners to enhance capacity 
and journey times of train services 
and to improve stations and station 
interchanges. 

Improvements have taken place at a 
number of stations, although these have 
been limited in scope at some e.g. 
Swanscombe. 
Capacity and journey times need to be 
enhanced further. 
 
Partnership work has expanded. This 
includes dialogue in response to franchise 
for south eastern services and the Kent Rail 
Network Study. In particular, detailed 
exploratory project work is being 

 

                                                            
22 EDC Implementation Framework (2017) 
23 As assessed by means of a Transport Assessment 



33 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

undertaken with Network Rail and TfL as 
part of the ongoing Crossrail extension to 
Ebbsfleet (C2E) working group.  

f) Work in partnership with Kent 
County Council and transport 
operators to deliver an integrated 
transport network and integrated 
ticketing across different modes of 
transport. 

Contactless payment as part of integrated 
fares for London public transport was 
introduced at Dartford railway station. 
 
KCC are developing pilot projects on 
integrated ticketing, but these are not in 
Dartford. In the future, these will hopefully 
expand if deemed successful.  
 
 

 

 g) Work in partnership with 
developers, Kent County Council 
and cycling groups to implement an 
integrated walking and cycling 
network joining communities with 
the facilities they need to access, 
including public transport facilities, 
primarily through the Green Grid 
(see Policy CS 14) and including the 
Public Rights of Way network.  
Grant funding will be sought to help 
implement the network. 

Sustrans have produced a route 
assessment study on key cycle routes in 
the Borough. Improvements will be 
implemented through development and CIL 
funding. The council is developing an initial 
Borough wide strategy.  

 

h) Require that major new 
residential or trip generating 
development is supported by a 
travel plan containing a package of 
measures ensuring sustainable 
travel, linked to monitoring and 
management of targets. 

This is taking place. Both KCC and DBC 
have input. 

 

i) Encourage the use of the River 
Thames for the sustainable 
transport of goods and passengers 
as set out in Policy CS 6. 

Emerging riverside developments are 
expected to include transport of goods by 
river in their construction. The Thames 
Clipper has run a trial to extend services to 
Gravesend (with potential to make 
permanent depending on results) and 
further opportunities for stops in Dartford 
will be explored.  

 

j) Develop a Car Parking SPD, with 
standards taking account of 
availability of alternative means of 
transport, and the need to support 
the requirements of family life 
through provision of visitor parking. 
In advance of the SPD, Kent County 
Council’s standards will be applied 
to new development.24 

A Parking SPD was adopted in 2014. 

 

 

                                                            
24 Residential Parking, Interim Guidance Note 3, Kent County Council and SPG4, Kent County 
Council for non-residential development 



34 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

CS16 Transport Investment 
Requirement  Progress  Status 

In order to enable the transport 
network to respond to the pressures 
of new development, the Council 
will: 
a) Work with its partners to deliver a 
Strategic Transport Infrastructure 
Programme to ensure that the 
transport network operates at 
acceptable levels and that the 
transport infrastructure is in place to 
support new development.  The 
Programme will be kept under 
review to ensure it meets these 
objectives. 

A STIP Board has been set up, and 
development and external funding allocated 
to agreed schemes. The first STIP scheme 
commenced 2018 at St Clements Way. 

 

b) Work with its partners to 
progress design of the schemes 
and identify any land requirements. 
Any requirement for the 
safeguarding of land and/or 
Compulsory Purchase Orders will 
be set out in a future DPD. 

DBC has engaged with partners to progress 
design of schemes, such as the A2 Bean / 
Ebbsfleet junction. At this point, no DPD 
has been set out on CPO matters, as this 
has not been required.  

c) Seek an appropriate level of 
contributions from development, 
either financially or in kind, to fund 
the infrastructure required.  This will 
initially be sought as pooled 
contributions through Section 106 
Agreements.  The Council will, at 
the earliest opportunity, introduce a 
Community Infrastructure Levy as a 
longer term funding mechanism. 

CIL was introduced in April 2014. Since this 
point, new Section 106s have not been 
applied to STIP schemes. 

 

d) Work in partnership to achieve 
funding for any identified shortfall 
towards the   Strategic Transport 
Infrastructure Programme. 

This is being taken forward by the STIP 
Board and partnership grouping. 

 

e) Off-site transport improvements 
relating directly to an individual 
development, including site access 
and local junction and road 
improvements will be required 
through S106 and S278 
agreements in addition to any 
pooled payments towards the 
Strategic Transport Infrastructure 
programme. 

Small scale junction and crossing 
improvements have been provided off site 
though S106 and S278 agreements, E.g. 
on Bean Road. 

 

f) Work with Kent County Council to 
address local road improvements, 
public transport, walking and cycling 
initiatives through Local Transport 
Plan funding. 

DBC has engaged with KCC on schemes 
and approach within both the Local 
Transport Plan and Freight Plan for Kent. 

 

 



35 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

SUMMARY: 

 This broad theme covers a range of strategic aims for the economy, green 
infrastructure and transport.  

 It can be seen from evaluation that major positive outcomes have been achieved in 
Dartford’s economic performance (policies CS7-10), above and beyond economic 
growth elsewhere. How housing development is balanced with economic growth 
locations and has been achieved is set out in policies CS10-11, including a jobs density 
ratio of 1.03.  

 Development progress is overall on track on this basis, with significant development 
as planned on major sites at Thames Riverside, north of Dartford Town Centre 
and at Stone. Levels of development on large sites have been catching up after the 
recession, but delivery was sustained through targets being approached or passed on 
smaller sites/ rural locations. Only Borough-wide figures on housing completions are 
available for 2017/18, but this total again exceeded 1,000 dwellings.  

 Given positive signs more recently, residential development at Ebbsfleet and the town 
centre should accelerate with planning permissions in place. 

 With changes in the retail sector and emerging new concentrations of consumers a 
review of retail policy will be necessary under policy CS12 (and more recent policy 
DP14). 

 Retail matters were considered closely in preparing the Development Policies Plan. In 
terms of the main retail centres in the Borough (Core Strategy policy CS12) a varying 
degree of change is found in the assessment.  

 Bluewater has seen some incremental expansion, although its large scale major 
increase in floorspace has been permitted under policy CS12. There has been stability 
at Ebbsfleet Central (no development) and Longfield. National restructuring of retail 
provision was felt in Dartford Town Centre (e.g. increased café/retail floorspace, less 
A1 goods floorspace), although more recently new supermarkets and independent 
businesses have opened. An improved local environment for retail and leisure is being 
taken for through the Town Centre Framework SPD.  

 The Core Strategy objective of protecting the Green Belt (policy CS13) has been 
achieved. The Development Policies Plan and new Policies Map have enhanced this 
and (particularly) an enhanced planning framework for managing the many other 
greenspaces in the Borough. 

 Improvements have been achieved in greenspace provision, particularly through 
new developments (CS14). However the rate of progress in achieving upgrades 
sought for existing greenspaces, and outdoor facilities in the Green Belt, has been 
slower in some instances than desirable. 

 Transport is a major issue in Dartford. Analysis below against anticipated Transport 
projects shows progress, particularly in achieving objectives in CS16 Transport 
Investment.  

 Policy CS15 has a mixed list of travel projects associated with service and 
infrastructure providers. Overall a number of large long term projects remain at ‘early 
stages’. Some of these have been completed, but further work is required; particularly 
increasing the rate of delivering major ambitions for new networks of transportation 
modes other than the car i.e. Fastrack, river transport, upgrading rail services. 



36 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

4. CREATING	STRONG	AND	PROSPERING	COMMUNITIES	
 

4.1 These policies focus on the life of communities and addresses the issues that are 
important to people’s everyday lives and local neighbourhoods. This includes building 
homes that are popular and meet the functional requirements of households, providing 
a mix of homes that is appropriate to needs and supports economic growth, and 
provision of local facilities to help healthy lifestyles, community wellbeing, and cultural 
and personal enrichment. This section includes six policies: 

 CS17: Design of Homes 
 CS18: Housing Mix 
 CS19: Affordable Housing 
 CS20: Gypsies and Travellers 
 CS21: Community Services 
 CS22: Sports, Recreation and Culture Facilities 

CS17 Design of Homes 
Requirement  Progress  Status 
To achieve living environments 
that enrich the quality of life and 
provide the conditions for 
communities to flourish the Council 
will: 
a) Require the application of 
the principles of the Kent Design 
Guide in developing housing 
proposals 

The Development Polices Plan builds on 
these objectives in addition to the Kent 
Design Guide.  

 

b) Require that the criteria 
identified as locally important are 
addressed in the design of homes.  
These include: 
 Internal spaces that are 
appropriate and fit for purpose 
 Adequate internal storage 
and recycling storage space 
 Garages, where provided, 
are of a fit for purpose size 
 Secure arrangements for 
management and maintenance of 
communal areas. 
 Useable private amenity 
space, usually provided as a 
garden in family houses and a 
balcony, patio or roof garden in 
flats. 
 High quality communal open 
space 
 Priority for those on foot or 
bicycle in internal estate roads 

The Development Polices Plan builds on 
these objectives and enforces national 
space standards. Additional expectations 
include for internal and external space, 
usability and storage; and communal open 
space. Given the details and variations in 
residential units built, it is not possible to 
quantify the delivery of these aspects; 
however it is believed the 2017 DP Plan is 
likely to secure an increase in the extent 
which sites meet all these guidelines.  

 

2. Further policies and 
guidance on these matters will be 

DP2 Good Design in the Development 
Polices Plan builds on these objectives.  



37 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

set out in the    Development 
Management DPD and SPD’s. 
3. Sites will be developed at a 
variety of densities, depending on 
their location and accessibility to 
public transport.  The form and 
density of housing will vary across 
the larger sites, in response to 
accessibility and other 
characteristics of each part of the 
site.  Variations in density across a 
site should be used to develop 
different character areas. 

Densities across Dartford have varied but 
remained in line with Core Strategy 
principles. Land has been used efficiently 
as appropriate, and dwelling size not 
adversely impacted. This has allowed for 
different types and character of 
development to be created across the 
Borough.  

 

4. Broad indications of 
appropriate average net densities 
are as follows: 
a) Rural Village sites: below 40 

dwellings/ha 

Rural village sites have kept within the 
40dph threshold. For example, Axton 
Chase development of 149 units was at a 
dph of 30. Hook Place Farm is 15dph. 
However, the Mount (14 units) was higher 
at 64 dph due to nature of the site and it 
being a conversion. 

 

b) Dartford town centre, Northern 
Gateway, Ebbsfleet Valley 
Strategic Site, Thames riverside 
sites (outside Conservation Area) 
and other major sites which 
integrate Fastrack: over 50 
dwellings/ha 

This is being achieved, with all large 
development sites appropriately exceeding 
50dph.  

 

c) Other urban sites: 35-55 
dwellings/ha 

This is being achieved. With the majority of 
sites falling within the designated density 
range. However, some earlier approved 
(pre adoption) large sites are slightly 
higher/lower. 

 

 

CS18 Housing Mix 

Requirement  Progress  Status 
1. In order to achieve a mix of 
housing sizes that meets needs and 
provides an appropriate long-term 
balance in the housing stock, the 
Council will: 
a) Aim to keep the proportion of 
houses to flats at an approximate 
ratio of 70:30 of the housing stock 
over the Plan period.  This will be 
achieved by:  
 normally requiring new 

development comprising 100 
homes or more to provide 
approximately: 

-    70% as family houses of two 
bedrooms or more, with the 
exception of locations 
identified below 

Since the start of the plan period, larger 
sites that have been completed or are 
under construction have had a split of 49% 
flats, and 51% houses. The 2011 Census 
reported that there was an existing housing 
stock of 78% houses and 22% flats. 
 
A variety of housing sizes have been 
achieved. 35% of the 6780 units at larger 
sites that are either complete or under 
construction are 2 bed flats – this makes up 
the largest proportion. The next highest 
proportion are 3 bed houses at 28%, 
followed by 4 bed houses at 13% and 1 bed 
flats at 12% 
 
On smaller sites, the split is 52% flats and 
48% houses over 2013-2016. 

 



38 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

-   Of which, 5% provided as family 
houses with 4 or more 
bedrooms, with the exception 
of locations identified below 

-    30% as flats 
 On developments of less than 

100 homes, there will be a 
presumption in favour of 
providing a majority of family 
houses of 2 bedrooms or more 
with the exception of the 
locations below. 

 In the following locations a 
higher proportion of flats may be 
acceptable: 

-  Dartford Town Centre Priority 
Area (including Northern 
Gateway (see Policy CS 3(1)) 

-   Ebbsfleet Valley Strategic Site 
(see Policy CS 5(3)) 

-   Thames Waterfront sites 
b) Require that, where 
flats/apartments are provided, the 
accommodation is designed to a 
high quality, with generous internal 
space standards; the provision of 
private amenity space, such as 
balconies or roof gardens, wherever 
possible; and provision of outdoor 
and/or indoor communal space. 

Through the adoption of the Development 
Policies Plan, all applications need to meet 
the Nationally Described Space Standards.  
 
EPC new build data, indicates that houses 
and flats have ‘got larger’ in Dartford, with 
new developments having a higher average 
size than those in existing neighbourhoods 
(see Density Study) and are compatible 
with CABE national averages. 
 
Larger schemes have provided an element 
of communal space, for example, Ingress 
Park has produced a community facility. 
Provision has been / is to be provided at 
large mixed use sites such as The Bridge 
and Ebbsfleet.  

 

c) Require developments to 
demonstrate that they are providing 
the maximum practical proportion of 
homes built to Lifetime Homes 
standards25. Further details will be 
set out in the Development 
Management DPD. 

It is unclear that the proportion of dwellings 
built as Lifetime Homes was maximised, 
however this national standard has been 
phased out. Now, Policy DP8: Residential 
Space and Design in New Development in 
the Development Policies Plan sets out how 
development should contribute to 
accessible / adaptable accommodation 
unless strong justification for why this is not 
possible, using new nationally described 
criteria.  

 

d) Support the provision of 
specialist accommodation for older 

There have been 34 gains in C2 bed 
spaces, and 33 losses in C2 bed spaces  

                                                            
25 Dartford Strategic Housing Market Assessment, Dartford Borough Council, 2010 



39 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

people26 and wheelchair accessible 
housing. 

(Net of +1). There are also 87 bed spaces 
currently with permission. 
 
The Development Policies Plan Policy DP8 
as stated above sets out accessibility and 
adaptability requirements, encouraging 
wheelchair accessible housing.  

 

CS19 Affordable Housing 
Requirement  Progress  Status 
1. To ensure that the needs of 
households requiring affordable 
housing are met, the Council will: 
a) In the urban area: require 
private housing development of 15 
units or more(net) or site size of 
0.5ha or more to deliver 30% of the 
units as affordable housing. 

Overall there have been over 1,100 
affordable homes demonstrated by local 
evidence to have been built in the plan 
period to 2016/17(this does not include 
discount sale). Government data suggest 
this has been complemented by acquisition 
of units by Housing Associations.  
At least 1,000 new affordable homes 
anticipated in the next 5 years. This policy 
operates in the context of strong national 
policy. 

 

b) In the rural area (to the south of 
the A2): require private housing 
development of 2 or more units 
(net) to deliver 50% of the units as 
affordable housing. 

In the rural area, mostly commuted sums 
were provided in place of affordable units at 
small sites. Larger sites such as Axton 
Chase and Hook Place Farm delivered 
affordable units on site. 

 

c) Promote tenure mix which meets 
the needs and aspirations of 
residents by requiring a minimum 
of 50% and maximum of 80% of 
affordable housing developed as 
part of private developments to be 
provided as intermediate housing, 
with the remainder provided as 
social-rented housing.  The amount 
will be determined on a site by site 
basis, taking into account site 
characteristics and development 
viability, and in the light of regularly 
reviewed assessment of local 
housing need. 

The tenure split for affordable homes 
completed is 71% affordable rent and 29% 
shared ownership. However this is line with 
the Development Policies Plan that 
acknowledges 50% affordable rent, or 
more, may now be more appropriate and 
achievable in the current housing market.  

 

d) Working with its partners, 
including Registered Social 
Landlords, private developers and 
the Homes and Communities 
Agency to ensure that the 
intermediate homes provided are at 
a cost which addresses local 
needs. This would require shared 
ownership levels predominantly at 

Continued work is ongoing with registered 
providers, with the Housing Team taking 
the lead on this.  

 

                                                            
26 Dartford Strategic Housing Market Assessment, Dartford Borough Council, 2010 



40 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

25% to 50% share, as financial 
viability allows. 
e) Require that, where possible, an 
element of 3 plus bedroom social-
rented housing is provided as part 
of the affordable housing element. 

This has occurred in some circumstances. 
For example, at Axton Chase 2 social 
rented 3 bed homes were delivered.   

f) Work with HCA to achieve public 
sector funding towards affordable 
housing, in order to make 
development viable. 

Government schemes allowed for housing 
revenue incomes to be used to deliver 
social housing.  

 

CS20 Gypsies and Travellers 
Requirement  Progress  Status 
The Council will work with Kent 
authorities to agree a sub-regional 
distribution of traveller and 
travelling showpersons pitches.  In 
identifying sites to meet an agreed 
requirement, the Council will take 
into account. 
a) Impact of proposed pitch 
provision on adjacent residential 
communities 
b) Accessibility of a proposed 
location to educational, health, 
community facilities and public 
transport; 
c) Protection of the openness of 
the Green Belt; 
d) The availability and delivery of 
sites; 
e) Other planning constraints, 
including flood risk 

The sub-regional distribution of gypsy and 
travellers has not progressed. However, the 
council has engaged with other Kent 
authorities on traveller need and pitch 
provision through Duty to Cooperate 
engagement.  
 
Since the start of the plan period, 16 
pitches have been approved by the Council 
and a Gypsy and Traveller Need 
Assessment was carried out. 
 
Progress on the development and 
implementation of policy and site allocation 
for gypsies in the Borough has been 
delayed by lack of certainty and 
government interventions in Dartford on the 
national approach towards gypsy and 
traveller sites, since the 2011 adopted Core 
Strategy. 

 

2. The Council will provide four 
additional pitches to meet the needs 
of existing    households on the 
Council-owned Claywood Lane 
traveller and gypsy site. 

This was provided.  

 

3. Potential for additional pitches 
will be explored on or as extensions 
to existing sites as well as in new 
locations, subject to potential sites 
meeting the criteria above and 
addressing the needs of the gypsy 
community. 

GTTS Implementation Strategy has been 
developed which looks at future site 
provision. 

 

4 The Council will produce an 
Implementation Strategy for the 
delivery of identified sites. 

 

CS21 Community Services 
Requirement  Progress  Status 



41 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

1. To ensure that community needs 
for services are provided in an 
appropriate location and in a timely 
and effective way, the Council will: 
a) Require that community services 
are provided as part of major 
development proposals, where 
provision is needed to meet the 
generated demand. 

Large new developments such as The 
Bridge, Ebbsfleet and Northern Gateway all 
have community facilities planned/ 
implemented. For example, education 
facilities have been provided at The Bridge, 
the first primary school at Ebbsfleet opened 
in 2017 and a primary school in Northern 
Gateway is anticipated to open its doors in 
2019.  
 
Net 31,130 sq m of D1 and D2 community 
floorspace has been delivered in Dartford 
since 2006. 

 

b) Seek that, where possible, new 
facilities are provided in a way that 
allows benefits to be shared by 
existing and new communities.  
They should be located close to the 
population they will serve, with 
reference to natural community 
boundaries and access routes 

Continued discussion and planning occurs 
to being forward wider infrastructure for the 
Bough as a whole, analysing need for 
education and health care for example.  
Proposals for a new secondary school in 
Stone are is currently in detailed planning 
stages to serve the wider community and 
the growing developments.  

 

c) Require that, provision of the 
facilities is appropriately phased so 
that residents of a development can 
have access to required facilities at 
an appropriate stage.  Where 
permanent provision is not possible 
from the outset, temporary provision 
will be sought for early residents. 

Where possible, this is achieved through 
advanced planning and through discussion 
with infrastructure partners and providers. 
Policy DP21:3 has also been introduced to 
safeguard land.  

d) Continue to work with the Health 
Authority to identify the most 
appropriate distribution of new 
provision and seek ways to 
implement this. 

Planning is currently underway to provide 
health hubs at key locations across the 
Borough to support the growing 
communities.   

e) Work in partnership with Kent 
County Council, the Health 
Authority and other delivery 
partners to ensure that new 
development makes an appropriate 
contribution towards land and 
facilities based on the need 
generated by the development. 

CIL was introduced in Dartford in April 2014 
– with key projects for funding being 
discussed with wider stakeholders.  

 

f) Consider favourably co-location of 
services, multi-purpose spaces and 
satellite provision, where this 
adequately serves community 
needs and provides a strong focus 
for communities. 

Where possible, this is considered through 
discussion with infrastructure partners and 
providers. For example, the ambition to 
have health hubs across the north of the 
borough to provide sufficient care. 
Additionally, the creation of new local 
centres at Ebbsfleet and at The Bridge. 

 

g) Work with Kent County Council to 
identify an additional site for a 
household waste recycling centre. 

This has not yet taken place. 

 



42 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

h) Identify additional burial capacity 
for the period post 202627. 

This has not yet taken place. 
 

 

 

CS22 Sports, Recreation and Culture Facilities 
Requirement  Progress  Status 
1. The Council will extend 
sports, cultural and recreational 
facilities in the Borough, nurture 
and develop community-based 
sports and cultural projects and 
develop an elite offer as a way of 
encouraging participation 

Since the 2006 Playing Pitch Study was 
undertaken, there have been an additional 
25 playing pitches delivered. Of these, 20 
are publicly accessible, boosting the 
percentage of pitches available for 
community use to over 72%. All but one of 
the Borough’s 19 Artificial Grass Pitches 
(AGPs) have been delivered since 2006, 
with 2 also being refurbished in 2015. 
 

 

  2. The Council will work with its 
partners to implement consents for 
sports, recreation and culture 
facilities at Eastern Quarry, 
Ebbsfleet and Bluewater.  The 
Council will also seek to improve 
leisure and recreation facilities in 
Dartford Town Centre.  
Opportunities to provide a 
replacement swimming pool and 
leisure centre for Fairfield Pool at 
the Acacia Hall Complex will be 
explored 

Ebbsfleet is still at an early stage, but 
sports and recreation facilities are planned 
through later phases.  
 
Fairfield Pool and Leisure Centre has 
undergone significant refurbishment and 
extension (rather than replacement at 
Acacia) Plans to bring Acacia back into 
public use are ongoing, and in Line the 
Dartford Town Centre Framework.  

 

3. Stone Lodge has been identified 
as a site where sport and 
recreational uses requiring more 
extensive use of land would be 
appropriate.  Working in 
partnership, the Council will 
encourage the development of 
centres of excellence for sport and 
recreational facilities at this 
location.  Where the 
sport/recreational element is not, 
by itself, financially viable, the 
Council will consider non sporting 
development on part of the site in 
order to enable the provision.  Any 
development should include 
proposals for access to the 
facilities by community-based 
organisations. 

Discussion for Stone Lodge is still ongoing 
but community facilities are still expected to 
be part of the scheme, including a 
secondary school and a rugby club. An 
application for the first phase (the rugby 
club) was prepared in early 2018, with the 
school and residential application expected 
in 2019. 

 

4.  The Council will encourage 
leisure uses of an outdoor nature 
or set within generous greenspace 

Swanscombe Peninsula is currently having 
plans worked up for a theme park, London  

                                                            
27 Infrastructure Background Paper, Dartford Borough Council, 2010 



43 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

at Swanscombe Peninsula.  The 
Council will also encourage water-
based activities28 on the Borough’s 
recreational lakes and along the 
River Thames, to the extent that 
navigation, hydrology, water quality 
and ecological protection of the 
lakes/river permits, where the 
development scheme can be 
designed to ensure the provision of 
related land-side facilities, car 
parking and access and where 
development is appropriate to the 
character of the area. 

Resort. This could set aside extensive land 
both ecologically and recreationally.  
 
The Public Rights of Way in the Borough 
are being retained, with Ingress Pier site 
redesigned to retain the right of way along 
the waterfront. Improvements at Northern 
Gateway are also set to encourage walking 
and cycling.  

5.  Appropriate existing sport, 
recreational and cultural facilities 
will be protected, unless it can be 
demonstrated that the facility is no 
longer needed or an equivalent 
replacement facility in terms of 
quality, quantity and accessibility is 
provided elsewhere. 

Minimal loss of facilities has been seen 
over the plan period; with further enhance 
facilities provided (as above). The 
Development Policies Open Space DP24 
provides further protection for these 
facilities.  

 

6. Community sport and cultural 
facilities will be required at major 
development sites, in scale with the 
needs of the community.  Smaller 
scale sporting facilities in the rural 
villages, will be supported, where 
these serve local needs 

Community sport and cultural facilities are 
planned at Ebbsfleet and will be provided in 
future phases. The Bridge is also set to 
have sports pitches and a new Rugby Club 
is to be provided at Stone. Rural provision 
has been supported and largely stable. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                            
28 Generally of a non-motorised nature on recreational lakes 



44 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

 

 

 

 

SUMMARY: 
 

 Homes have been designed with the essential features expected under policy 
CS17, and (as required) the DP Plan adopted providing further policies and 
guidance. Analysis of new and existing local densities has informed this evaluation, 
showing that the policy-appropriate densities have been achieved, varying across 
the Borough. 

 The mix of homes (CS18) is in line with the overall objective to retain 70% of the 
housing stock as houses. This has been achieved despite new development having a 
roughly equal balance of flats and houses, and monitoring shows the broad 
presumptions within the policy to maintain the balance have not been fully met 
because there are a number of major areas where exemptions are set out in the 
policy. 

 Data suggests CS18 home size objectives are being achieved. However broader 
aspirations for providing residential accommodation specifically designed for older or 
less mobile people now and in the future are likely not to have been met so far; not 
helped by changing government standards.  

 Affordable housing delivery has increased significantly but overall has not fully met 
all requirements in policy CS19; national planning policy (and the recession) 
subsequently had a direct impact on when this policy can be applied and the extent 
to which housing delivery can be directed towards policy objectives. With major sites 
now coming forward, and approximately 1,000 affordable units permitted, strong 
future delivery is expected. 

 An Implementation Strategy for Gypsy & Traveller pitch delivery has been 
completed; as has provision expected at Claywood Lane (CS20). It is unclear if the 
total level of pitch delivery has been sufficient to meet needs; and fundamental 
definitions in relation to the applicability of this policy have been changed by 
government.   

 Major new sites have included community facilities for new and existing residents 
in line with CS21, with more planned. Introduction of the CIL Charging Schedule has 
captured additional funds for infrastructure.  For the main services, progress is being 
seen where there is a need; for example in terms of confirming the location of new 
schools and delivering extensions. Continued work is required to help health 
authorities deliver new services. It is unconfirmed if the need remains for the 
envisaged additional burial, and household waste centre, land. 

 Requirements set out in policy CS22 (Sports, Recreation and Culture Facilities) 
have largely been achieved e.g. council-led new provision and retention of facilities. 
Further major new facilities are in progress. 

 



45 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

 

 

 

 

5.	SUSTAINABLE	GROWTH	&	DELIVERY	
 

5.1 These policies focus on how to achieve sustainable growth in the Borough, looking at 
carbon emissions, flood risk and water management. Additionally, delivery and 
implementation policy is also covered in this section. This particularly looks at the co-
ordination and delivery of infrastructure alongside new development, and necessary 
long-term actions and implementation. This section includes four policies: 

 CS23: Minimising Carbon Emissions 
 CS24: Flood Risk 
 CS25: Water Management 
 CS26: Delivery and Implementation 

CS23 Minimising Carbon Emissions 
Requirement  Progress  Status 
1.To minimise carbon emission 
through energy efficiency and use 
of renewable energy, the Council 
will: 
 

There has been overall decline in CO2 
emissions from sources over time, most 
notable from industry/commercial sources, 
although the level of domestic emissions has 
fluctuated in recent years it has continued to 
decline in 2015. Total CO2 emissions from 
Transport sources have increased since 
2014, rising to their highest levels since 
2007. In terms of per capita emissions, 
Dartford’s 5.9t per capita in 2015 remains 
very slightly above the Kent (5.8t) and 
regional (5.4t) averages. 

 

a. Require all new development to:  
Demonstrate that reductions in 
energy use through passive design 
and layout of development have 
been explored and applied, where 
practical. 

Building for life assessments have been 
considered for large schemes, including 
energy reducing design principles.  
 
Whether or not every development proposal 
has been designed from the outset with 
respect to energy use is not able to be 
verified. Energy Performance Certificates 
issued are primarily in the top three 
categories in Dartford. 

 

b. Require housing development of 
100 units or more to: 
 Achieve at least Code Level 
429 (or its equivalent) in the energy 

This has been superseded by Development 
Policies Plan due to new national 
requirements.  
 

 

                                                            
29 Sustainable Code for Homes, DCLG, 2008 



46 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

category in advance of mandatory 
requirements 
 Design buildings in a way 
that enables the potential for zero 
carbon through the later retro-fitting 
of zero and low carbon 
technologies, for example through 
solar thermal, photovoltaic 
systems, ground source heat 
pumps and connection to a CHP 
plant, where development 
commences prior to introduction of 
Code Level 6 30 

Some dwellings have been fitted with solar 
thermal and photovoltaic. There have not 
been any with ground source heat pumps. 

c) Require new non-residential 
development over 1,000 square 
metres gross floorspace to meet 
BREEAM ‘excellent’ (or any future 
national equivalent). 

This has been conditioned and built where 
required. 

 

d) Subject to assessment, seek that 
development on the following sites 
provides low/zero carbon CHP 
either on or off-site to supply the 
development with heat and power: 
 Eastern Quarry (see also 
Policy CS 5) 
 Ebbsfleet (see also Policy 
CS 5) 
 Northern Gateway (see also 
Policy CS 3) 
 Swanscombe Peninsula 
(see also Policy CS 6) 

No sites have provided off-site CHP.  

 

e) Where the supply is provided in 
the later phases of development, 
infrastructure to enable future 
connection should be provided in 
the early phases.  On these sites, 
the potential to supply existing 
buildings or smaller development 
sites with heat or energy from the 
CHP plant should be explored. 
Implementation of further sites and 
networks for low/zero carbon 
decentralised energy, as identified 
through the Kent Thameside Eco –
Assessment Study will also be 
encouraged. 

CHP was originally considered and 
conditioned on the Northern Gateway East 
and Mill Pond sites. As plans progressed, a 
variation occurred that improved the 
building fabric to reduce energy demand 
and to also install communal photovoltaic 
arrays to reduce carbon emissions and be 
Code Level 4 compliant.  
 

 

f) Work in partnership to improve 
the energy efficiency of the existing 
building stock, as well explore 
opportunities to retrofit existing 
buildings with decentralised energy 
sources as well as water demand 

The council has undertaken a number of 
schemes to bring forward energy efficiency 
in homes across Dartford.  
 
1,070 households (2.5%) in Dartford have 
been in receipt of Energy Company 

 

                                                            
30 Sustainable Code for Homes, DCLG, 2008 



47 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

management measures31, through 
the identification of funding and 
implementation of programmes. 

Obligation (ECO32) Measures since the 
scheme began in 2013 with regards to 
energy efficiency in the home as of March 
2016 

g) Work in partnership to establish 
an enabling body to facilitate a 
local network generating and 
distributing decentralised energy, 
in order to maximise the 
opportunities for low/zero carbon 
generation and supply. 

There has been no progress on this so far in 
the plan period.  

 

 

CS24 Flood Risk 
Requirement  Progress  Status 
a) Ensure that sites in Flood Zone 
2 and 3a, shown to be acceptable 
for development following 
application of the Sequential Test 
and parts A and B of the Exception 
Test 33, demonstrate that part C of 
the Exception Test can be passed 
and that residual risk is managed 
through a Flood Risk Assessment 
(FRA) and an appropriate Flood 
Plan.  Windfall sites will be subject 
to the same tests to assess 
whether they are appropriate for 
the development proposed 

All planning applicable applications have 
provided an appropriate Flood Risk 
Assessment and Flood Plan. 

 

b) Engage with the Environment 
Agency and Defra in the further 
stages of the Thames Estuary 
2100 Project (TE 2100), and seek 
not to foreclose any medium or 
long-term options through 
proposals in this Plan. In particular, 
the Council will protect the Dartford 
Marshes from development, in the 
event that the area is required to 
implement flood protection 
proposals or compensation 
freshwater habitats 

DBC is engaging with EA on the first phase 
TE 2100. EA are engaging on the DBCs 
CIL stakeholder panel.  

 

c) Require the SUDS34 
‘management train’35 to be applied, 
as appropriate, in all new 
development.   In Water Source 
Protection Zones, SUDS will need 

This is required, and this is in liaison with 
KCC who are the flood authority. 
 
DBC requires SUDS in applicable 
applications. 

 

                                                            
31 Measures to reduce hot water use will reduce energy use. 
32 ECO is a Government energy efficiency scheme to reduce emissions through home energy saving 
improvements such as insulation or heating upgrades available to persons who receive benefits. 
33 This has been carried out for identified sites through the PPS 25 Flood Risk Sequential Test 
Borough-wide Assessment, Dartford Borough Council, 2010 
34 Sustainable Urban Drainage Systems 
35 Kent Thameside Water Cycle Study, Entec, 2009 



48 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

to demonstrate that any surface 
water run-off infiltrating the ground 
will not lead to deterioration of 
groundwater quality. 
d) Identify and implement a green 
infrastructure network through the 
safeguarding of existing areas of 
open space and a requirement for 
generous provision of green space 
and water bodies in new 
development (see Policy CS 14). 

CS14 assists with this but the new DP24 
and DP25 in the Development Policies Plan 
assists with protecting existing open space 
and waterbodies.  

 

 

CS25 Water Management 
Requirement  Progress  Status 
1.To manage the supply and 
quality of water and waste water / 
sewerage treatment capacity 
serving the community, to protect 
and enhance the quality of surface 
and groundwaters36 together with 
assisting in moving towards ‘water 
neutrality’ in the Thames Gateway, 
the Council will: 
a)  Work with the water utility 
providers and monitor development 
to ensure that new development 
and water services are co-
ordinated and that the pace of 
development does not outstrip the 
water supply and waste water / 
sewerage treatment capacity at 
any time.  Where development is 
not capable of being adequately 
supplied, the Council will review 
the phasing of development and 
work with the utility providers and 
developers to address the capacity 
constraints at the earliest 
opportunity. 

Continued liaison with water companies has 
occurred with updated trajectories provided 
when required, and supply maintained.  

 

b)  Require all new homes to 
achieve at least level 4 of the Code 
for Sustainable Homes in terms of 
water use (105 litres per person 
per day) in advance of mandatory 
requirements.  Where it can be 
demonstrated that a development 
is unable to meet these standards, 
permission will only be granted if 
the applicant makes provision for 
compensatory water savings 
elsewhere in the Borough 

This occurred and has now been reapplied 
by the Development Policies Plan. 

 

                                                            
36 European Water Framework Directive (2000/60/EC), (Dec 2003 UK) 



49 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

  c) Sites of 500 units or more will 
be expected to act as exemplars. 
In addition to 2 above, they will be 
required to reduce dependence on 
potable water through rainwater 
harvesting, recycling of used water 
and reduction of water ‘hungry’ 
activity, and should be designed to 
enable later retrofitting to achieve 
the highest levels of the Code for 
Sustainable Homes in terms of 
water use 

No major particular exemplars of major 
prominence have been developed. Some 
sites have explored the use of grey water 
and implemented some schemes.  
 
The EDC Implementation Plan also 
indicates their support for applications to 
being forward appropriate techniques to 
promote water sensitive urban design. 

 

d) Require all non-residential 
developments of 1,000 sqm and 
above to meet the BREEAM 
‘excellent’ standards of water 
efficiency 

This has been required as a planning 
condition where appropriate.  

 

  e) Work with and encourage 
water utility providers and social 
landlords to fit existing homes and 
other buildings with more efficient 
devices and appliances; reduce 
leakage; and expand metering. 

This has happened, primarily through the 
Water Utility providers who are leading on 
this.  

 

 

CS26 Delivery and Implementation 
Requirement  Progress  Status 
1.   In order to ensure that adequate 

and appropriate infrastructure37 
is provided in a timely way, the 
Council will: 

 

      a) Work in partnership with 
public sector providers, utility 
companies and developers to 
facilitate the delivery of high 
quality infrastructure that is 
commensurate with the scale 
and needs of the Borough’s 
communities.  

Partnerships have enhance on 
infrastructure, for example the major 
preparatory work on potential Crossrail 
Extension via the ‘C2E’ group. 

 

b) Collect and use contributions 
from developers to support 
improvements in services and 
infrastructure that are required 
as a result of development, 
using S106 Obligations in the 
short term. The Council will 
introduce the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) at the 
earliest opportunity to fund 
infrastructure.  In advance of 
CIL, development will be 

CIL introduced in 2014, and Borough 
governance structure now in place. 

 

                                                            
37 Appropriate infrastructure includes: transport schemes and initiatives, water supply and sewerage, 
community facilities (see Paragraph 4.24), flood defences and green infrastructure 



50 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

required to contribute 
proportionally, either financially 
or in kind, to land and build 
costs for service and 
infrastructure needs which arise 
from demand generated by that 
development. Infrastructure and 
service needs will be assessed 
on the basis of long-term 
requirements, taking into 
account infrastructure provider 
guidance  and projected 
development impacting on the 
facility over the lifetime of the 
Plan and, in the case of Eastern 
Quarry and Ebbsfleet, full build-
out of the schemes.  

 
c) Prioritise the requirement for 

planning obligations, where the 
full requirement would render 
the development unviable in 
prevailing economic conditions.  
Where a development cannot 
meet the infrastructure 
requirements necessary to 
make it acceptable, the Council 
may seek the deferment of 
payments through a S106 
Obligation, with contributions 
phased in line with increase in 
sales values subject to an open 
book, independent financial 
viability appraisal at the cost of 
the applicant.  Priorities will be 
considered according to the 
circumstances of the site.  
Transport, education, health 
facilities and affordable housing 
will have a high priority.   

Planning obligations prioritised.  

 

d) Bid for funding through 
appropriate and available 
private and public sources. 

Extensive bidding has occurred, with 
particular success in gathering resources 
for the transformation of Dartford town 
centre. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



51 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

 

 

 

 

SUMMARY: 

 Minimising Carbon Emissions (CS23) has occurred in terms of overall CO2 levels; 
although a significant shift in government policy has been changed the potential for 
delivering many of the specific projects originally envisaged. Non-commercial 
developments have delivered ‘BREEAM’ Excellent sustainability levels; however no 
CHP or enabling body has occurred locally.  

 Successful management of flood risk has occurred in line with policy CS24. 
 Water efficiency/ management (policy CS25) has been achieved as anticipation; with 

the only exception being an exemplar large development. 
 Major steps forward have occurred in relation to the delivery of infrastructure under 

CS26. Partnerships have been extended, and revenues are increasing, particular for 
further infrastructure in the Borough.  

  



52 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

CONCLUSION 

The new government regulations state: “a local planning authority must review a local 
development document within the following time periods- in respect of a local plan, the review 
must be competed every five years, starting from the date of adoption of the local plan.” A 
review of the Core Strategy was necessitated on this basis. 

Notably this review has found its most fundamental policies, namely CS1 and CS10 on 
housing delivery and distribution to be strong and successful in achieving planned 
outcomes. The Borough is achieving record rates of new homes delivery (the highest in all 
areas in Kent & Medway), development has fully commenced – or completed - at the large 
brownfield sites identified, economic performance has accelerated, and the Green Belt is 
being maintained. This will be confirmed by a breakdown of the over 1,000 dwellings 
completed in 2017/18. 

The Core Strategy has several years of its lifespan to run. It is regarded as fully fit for purpose 
and will continue to be given full weight. This is supported by the 2017 Development Policies 
Local Plan, and the compliance with national policy and other evidence presented to the 
Inspector who examined the Plan and found it to be ‘sound’ to help deliver the Core Strategy 
less than 12 months ago.  

What has been found is that there a number of common causes for the specific limited areas 
where the Core Strategy has not yet fully delivered: 

 Projects that will be completed within the plan period but have been subject to 
extensive delay. This is predominantly attributable to the impact of the recession. This 
is either through a pause in major private sector investment, or alternatively the 
consequence of reduced public sector resources. Delayed delivery has particularly 
occurred on certain major mixed use sites. 

 Extensive ‘moving of the goal posts’ by government: shifting what planning and 
policy can cover, and how it is implemented or measured (energy efficiency being a 
prime example). 

 Areas where the scale of change explicitly planned in the Core Strategy was always 
anticipated to bring uncertainty to be managed, and an expectation of need for 
review i.e. strategic retail policy. 

A letter from central government indicates a review should indicate whether a new Local Plan 
is necessary:  if one or more policy needs updating or it does not remain relevant and 
effectively address the needs of the local community. 

From this angle, and looking at the evidence summarised here in terms of progress in 
achieving objectives, it is considered that a small minority of Core Strategy policies could 
arguably benefit from a partial or full update; certainly by 2021 or onwards when a new Plan 
may be adopted. These particular policies are not grouped around any particular aspect of 
sustainable development: economic, environmental or social.  

There has been progress in all broad aspects to deliver the Core Strategy’s local vision of 
developing and regenerating the Borough. This has led to major planning permissions that 
have commenced implementation but are of a scale that growth locations will continue to 
evolve beyond the formal plan period end of 2026.  



53 
Dartford Local Plan  Core Strategy Policy Monitoring Review 

It is in this context, particularly of complementing new and existing residents with additional 
infrastructure, and decisions over the scale/ location of supporting non-residential 
development, that any updated Local Plan is likely to be produced to guide sustainable 
development in Dartford.  



Dartford Planning Policy                                                                               Appendix C

1
Local Development Scheme 2018/19 to 2020/21

Dartford Borough Council Local Plan

Local Development Scheme 2018

1. Purpose of this Document

1.1 A Local Development Scheme (LDS) is a project management document produced to set out and 
maintain an up-to-date and relevant planning strategy. 

1.2 It confirms Dartford’s existing and emerging planning policy framework. The LDS clarifies how 
Dartford Council intends to tackle the need to review and refresh policies for the Borough’s long-
term development. The LDS sets out the council’s timetable for preparation and adoption of future 
Local Plan documents over the following three years. 

1.3 A clear planning policy programme explains both:
 The characteristics of current and forthcoming documents. This identifies their overall role 

and scope and the issues they are expected to address, see the outline for the main 
document in section 6.

 The key stages in producing policy. Landowners  are thereby informed of the introduction of 
new policy approaches. Moreover, this provides organisations and the public with notice of 
forthcoming opportunities to get involved in Local Plan production. The timetable is 
illustrated in section 7.

1.4 Effective involvement of organisations and local communities improves planning policies, and is a 
requirement of producing sound Local Plans. Clarity on planning policy production can be seen as 
important to supporting the legal requirement for effective co-operation on Local Plan production 
between public bodies (Duty to Cooperate).

1.5 Planning ahead needs to account for recent changes, but also to have regard to likely future 
opportunities and risks. These matters are considered in section 4.

1.6 Dartford Borough faces a combination of potential future changes or areas of uncertainty in its long-
term development, including:

 Very large developments within the Borough there are underway anticipated to remain under 
construction for ten or more years ahead.

 Major new  infrastructure schemes that may occur in, or with impacts on, the Borough
 Significant uncertainties over further amendments to the national planning legislation and 

policy, and new planning strategies being explored in adjoining areas. 
 Undertaking cross-boundary planning in the context of an increasingly complex set of 

strategic functional relationships with a number of other administrative areas and 
organisations.

1.7 This LDS outlines the planning policy programme put forward in response or Dartford.

2. Current Planning Policy Documents 
2.1 Planning policies with Development Plan status comprise of Local Plans it adopts, Neighbourhood 
Plans successfully produced, and Minerals and Waste Local Plans prepared and adopted by the County 
Council.

2.2 Development Plan documents in the Borough produced by Dartford Council are  currently made up of:



Dartford Planning Policy                                                                               Appendix C

2
Local Development Scheme 2018/19 to 2020/21

 The Dartford Core Strategy (2011).
 The Dartford Development Policies Plan (2017) and Policies Map.

2.3 The Ebbsfleet Development Corporation has been responsible for dealing with most planning 
applications in its area since 2015 as explained in Chapter 2 of the Development Policies Plan; however it 
cannot produce Local Plans. Dartford’s current and emerging planning policies apply within the Ebbsfleet 
part of the Borough.

2.4 The planning system in this country is led by Local Plans, with national policy embedded in them. The 
recently-adopted Development Policies Plan provides explains the existing and future relationship between 
national and local planning policies. Paragraph 1.6: “The Development Plan has been prepared with regard 
to national policy. Dartford Local Plans promote sustainable growth, infrastructure development and 
regeneration within the Borough, while seeking to enhance a sense of place, and maintain and enhance 
Dartford’s heritage, open space and existing or emerging residential neighbourhoods. The policies in the 
Development Policies Plan are considered to be in conformity with national planning policy contained in the 
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and associated online guidance; and finalisation of the Plan 
has involved confirming the consistency between national policy and Core Strategy policies, on which the 
Development Policies Plan is based.” 

2.5 Kent County Council adopted the Kent Minerals & Waste Local Plan in 2016, which is also part of the 
development plan for the Borough. It is intending to produce further supporting Local Plans on these topics 
within this LDS period.

2.6 A neighbourhood planning area for Stone was confirmed in 2015. However no draft Neighbourhood 
Development Plan has been prepared at the date of writing. If progressed successfully, a Neighbourhood 
Plan for the whole of Stone Parish would  be ‘made’ as part of Dartford’s  development plan by the end of 
period covered by this LDS (2020).

3. Existing Supporting Documents
3.1 Documents - other than Local Plans - supporting planning and regeneration in the Borough are 
highlighted here. The Development Policies Plan (Figure 2) presents the current structure of Dartford’s 
planning policy documents:

3.2 Supplementary Planning Documents (SPDs) expand or add details to policies laid out in Local Plan 
documents. The ‘Dartford Development Policies Plan & Overall Programme’ Cabinet Report (December 
2014, paragraph 3.4) noted:  “The following are expected to remain important parts of the Borough’s
planning policy framework:
- The Dartford Housing Windfall SPD 2014
- The Parking Standards SPD 2012
- The Northern Gateway SPD 2012



Dartford Planning Policy                                                                               Appendix C

3
Local Development Scheme 2018/19 to 2020/21

These should be accorded significant weight, having been through the formal process and consultation set 
out in the relevant legislation. In contrast other development guides/ briefs still in existence (available on
the Council’s website) have lesser weight.” It should therefore be noted that other documents may apply in 
providing guidance.

3.3 The 2017  Development Policies Plan confirmed a Town Centre SPD was in production. This is 
expected to be adopted in 2018 and will form a very weighty and important consideration for planning 
applications in, and the forward planning of, Dartford Town Centre.

3.4 The Authorities Monitoring report (AMR) will continue to be produced annually to report on the 
performance and relevance of these policies and Local Plans, and to provide data on against economic, 
environmental and social objectives. The AMR will also report on ongoing Duty to Cooperate activity. As 
with the Five Year Supply of housing land, which is updated annually, this is an outcome of monitoring at 
the close of the financial year. They therefore tend to be produced in the latter part of the calendar year.

3.5 The Dartford Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) came in to force on 1st April 2014. The Borough’s CIL 
Charging Schedule, introduced after viability testing, public consultation and Examination in Public, sets out 
£/sqm levies on certain types of development to help fund infrastructure. Viability assessment supporting 
Dartford’s CIL was prepared before the major upturn in house prices and delivery.

3.6 It is considered the CIL has become established in Dartford and revenues are now increasing. A 
formalised local governance regime to inform expenditure decisions is close to completion. An updated 
version of the Infrastructure Delivery Plan is now available and will be implemented. Given this, and as 
national government are not currently putting forward significant changes to the system, Dartford’s CIL 
Charging Schedule is proposed to remain in place; subject to potential future review.

3.7 The council is aware that timetabling information on CIL and SPDs is useful so will ensure applicable 
details are made available for information purposes through the council’s website. 

3.8 Brownfield Land Register is a requirements of new regulations. The first Register was produced in 
December 2017 and in line with regulations will be updated annually, at the end of the calender year. The 
2017 Register contained 30 brownfield sites, large and small, on Part 1; and zero entries on Part 2. 

3.9 The Dartford Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) sets out how the crucial process of public 
engagement will shape planning in the district. Dartford’s new SCI was adopted in 2017 following public 
consultation. Its principles are salient for guiding public involvement in planning decisions. 

4. Review and Risk Assessment

4.1 To set out a new Local Development Scheme timetable to update planning policies as necessary, 
future uncertainties, and potential risks to progressing plan production need to be assessed. 

4.2 A positive timescale to move ahead should be set out. Risks identified in revising policy need to be 
balanced against risks of a ‘no new Plan situation’: insufficient guidance being available to support bids for 
new infrastructure and for the major proposals at Dartford Town Centre, Ebbsfleet and other growth 
locations. It is essential a suitable local framework is in place for decision takers. In preparing this, close 
regard is had the scale of risks and scale of implications arising, alternative scenarios and opportunity 
costs, and mitigating actions.

4.3 The chance, and the implications, of changing national legislation and policy for Local Plans are both 
high.  This needs careful evaluation.

4.4 The Right Homes in the Right Places 2017 consultation proposals by government was centred on two 
key proposed changes:

 A new methodology for calculating local housing demand.



Dartford Planning Policy                                                                               Appendix C

4
Local Development Scheme 2018/19 to 2020/21

 The introduction of specific requirements, with target dates, to demonstrate how the Duty to 
Cooperate is being fulfilled. 

These two changes have an interrelationship that introduces major local uncertainty and risk to Local Plan 
preparation. The draft NPPF for consultation in spring 2018 introduces further changes, but has helped 
confirm the government’s intent to fully apply these two changes.

4.5 North and west Kent, and surrounding areas, face growing housing demand; to be addressed in the 
context of strategic planning responsibilities fragmented across several different public authorities. Adding 
to this, there are potential long-term implications in Kent arising from the changes that may be considered 
necessary by the Planning Inspectorate to finalise the London Plan. 

4.6 It is an option to prepare a Local Plan jointly. If feasible, this would likely address Duty to Cooperate 
legislation. However regard has to be had to the actual context and practicalities (for example, as outlined 
in evidence for the adopted Development Policies Plan):

 There is a lack of clarity on the terrain over which Duty to Cooperate needs extends, and queries for 
a non-single authority Local Plan would arise as to how it could logically and robustly be produced: 

o The Borough has strong east-west flows reflecting communications; however Dartford is a 
well-connected Borough that also has other influential strategic connections e.g. the north-
south M25 and High Speed trains from Ebbsfleet to Ashford.

o Strategic planning for housing would consider links eastwards into Kent from Greater 
London, but this is not reflected in administrative arrangements. Although some discussion 
has occurred with authorities in the South East, the draft London Plan does not help clarify in 
this respect.

o Also it must be noted Dartford also has a vibrant commercial sector. This means the scale 
and pattern of movements into the Borough for jobs and facilities such as Bluewater and 
Darent Valley Hospital is likely of cross-boundary significance, but does not necessarily align 
well with likely housing market geography. 

 Little appetite has arisen elsewhere eg in north/ west Kent, for a joint Local Plan. Collective 
arrangements are in place or well advanced in London and Essex. Clear and continued commitment 
between organisations would be necessary to introduce and resource Local Plan production, and to 
ensure cross-boundary agreement is maintained. 

In this current context a move to a joint Local Plan is likely to result in significant delay in delivering 
housing, economic development, and the regeneration of the Borough. 

4.7 In any event, it is considered attempting to coordinate an alignment of Local Plan arrangements, to 
begin possible Joint Plan production, is likely to be a period of years rather than months. Further delay may 
occur if the cross-boundary working relationship is not maintained when the Plan reaches key decision-
taking stages.

4.8 Conversely, good cross-boundary working relationships are already in place on matters such as 
planning decisions at Ebbsfleet, including the cross-boundary Ebbsfleet Development Corporation, and 
future infrastructure (for instance the C2E Crossrail extension partnership). 

4.9 It should be remembered other changes to national planning policy are occurring, notably over housing 
methodologies. It is proposed this risk is dealt with through a Dartford Local Plan that sets a timescale that 
is responsive to Duty to Cooperate sensitivities and general extra preparation necessitated.

4.10 The proposed production timetable set out in this LDS is considered to be appropriate to allow up to 
date policies to be maintained. Other potential factors include: 

 Medium chance/ high levels of implications: Ongoing recruitment and retention issues could continue, 
presenting difficulties in the recognised context of skills shortages in the planning profession. 

 Medium chance/ medium  levels of implications: Political change; Dartford’s local elections are 
scheduled for May 2019, County Council elections in the Borough are 2021; a general election may not 
be until 2022 (or could be sooner). However the risks of most changes in national policy are already 
largely factored in.



Dartford Planning Policy                                                                               Appendix C

5
Local Development Scheme 2018/19 to 2020/21

 Low chance/ medium levels of implications: Additional resources needed following unexpected 
outcomes of engagement with key stakeholders and the public (an abnormally large volume of 
comments at consultation stages, or demands for further technical evidence),

4.11 In conclusion, the legislative need and political commitment to have up-to-date plans in place remains 
firmly in place. A flexible strategy to planning policy production is possible within Dartford and can deal with 
both short term pressures and longer term expectations, and this philosophy has influenced the programme 
proposed here.

4.12 The Borough has already adopted and been applying a successful strategy in line with national policy 
and the need for regeneration in Dartford. It is proposed the Borough should be allowed to the opportunity 
to maintain its proven strategy of delivering new homes and better neighbourhoods through an updated 
Local Plan for Dartford Borough. Delay can be minimised through a Dartford Local Plan allied with the 
expanded Duty to Cooperate mechanisms the government have now outlined.

4.13 Monitoring and review of the LDS, and cooperative cross-boundary actions, will be carried out 
through the Authorities Monitoring Report (AMR). This is important to enable communities and interested 
parties to be aware of progress.



Dartford Planning Policy                                                                               Appendix C

6
Local Development Scheme 2018/19 to 2020/21

5. Future Local Plan Policies: Proposed Approach 

5.1 The Core Strategy will continue to apply into the medium term. This is supported by its sufficiency as a 
strategic plan, having recently been considered and accepted through the process of preparing and 
adopting the Development Policies Plan. It is achieving the delivery of all the major areas for regeneration 
identified in the Borough; and is found  to accord with current national policy.

5.2 The Core Strategy, and the major brownfield land identified, is supporting a five year supply of 
deliverable housing land: the Borough has been hitting the high rates of house building projected. Record 
rates of housing delivery have been consistently achieved (albeit following a significant post-recession lag). 

5.3 The stated time horizon of the Core Strategy (to 2026) remains relevant in many respects, however (as 
expected) many developments and potential infrastructure projects will extend beyond this period. The 
Development Policies Plan (paragraph 3.5) states: “Following adoption of this Plan and when greater clarity 
is available in relation to Ebbsfleet and other strategic matters, the Council anticipates commencing a 
review of Core Strategy provisions. This would result in a new Local Plan for the Borough looking at 
updated long-term development strategy (up to and) beyond 2026, including a retail review (see Policy 
DP14:3).”

5.4 New government regulations require that: “a local planning authority must review a local development 
document within the following time periods- in respect of a local plan, the review must be competed every 
five years, starting from the date of adoption of the local plan.” A re-appraisal of the Core Strategy is 
necessitated on this basis. It is probably safe to assume that with emerging national planning policy (or for 
other reasons) at least one policy will, allowing time to prepare a new policy, require work to start on a new 
Local Plan. 

5.5 The form and scope of Local Plans has been changeable. Overall it appears the government is now 
more pragmatic about the structure of development plans (for example whether contained in one or more 
Local Plans) provided they deal effectively with strategic matters- most notably housing supply. 

5.6 Locally, good progress on housing delivery means strategic priorities must include infrastructure 
delivery. A focus on overall strategy for development and infrastructure is also warranted as the Borough 
now also benefits from newly adopted Local Plan focussed on development management. Provisions are in 
place to better deal with the majority of (smaller) planning applications in line with existing government 
policy. 

5.7 Accordingly, it is proposed that the form and scope of the next Local Plan be taken forward by a first 
consultation focussed on the major strategic issues facing the long-term development of the Borough. 

5.8 Commonly a further ‘Regulation 18’ consultation takes places under to allow informal public comments 
on draft proposals/ preferred options, if necessary. This is not stipulated, and reaching Plan publication 
stage (‘Regulation 19’) in a timely manner is generally preferable as the Plan can be submitted and the 
input of an Inspector gained; nevertheless a time contingency has been allowed depending on the outcome 
of the first consultation and new local evidence. 

5.9 Also, further major revisions may occur to national policy (from the draft new NPPF) when it is finalised 
later in 2018. These steps, and the associated further stages required to take forward Local Plan 
production, are the focus on this LDS and the timetable to 2020/21. 

5.10 Specific dates for future stages are considered unrealistic at present. They can be confirmed and 
publicised via the website. A reasonable projection of expected broad dates has been featured in the LDS 
timescale. In addition to current uncertainties, the fact remains that on submission to the Secretary of State, 
steps forward are in the hands of the Planning Inspectorate, who have their own resource constraints and 
will decide on steps necessary to finalise the Plan. 

5.10 A Dartford Core Strategy review/ new Local Plan will be a fundamental corporate and collaborative 
undertaking requiring considerable up front evidence gathering, including major cooperation on strategic 



Dartford Planning Policy                                                                               Appendix C

7
Local Development Scheme 2018/19 to 2020/21

matters, updated housing need evidence  and a fresh programme of public participation.  With this work, 
adoption of a new Local Plan strategy is not possible until 2020 at the earliest. However it is considered 
important broad dates are outlined and understood to explain the local approach to dealing with strategic 
issues.

6. Stages in Local Plan Timetable 
6.1 Local Plans are produced through an iterative process structured by national regulations, with public 
consultation / examination at milestone stages. This is set out in the diagram below, extracted from the 
online national planning policy guidance. The parallel process of Sustainability Appraisal is also highlighted:

6.2 Supporting statutory processes for Local Plans are significant, such as The Duty to Cooperate, Habitats 
Regulations Assessment and testing of Local Plan options by formal Sustainability Appraisal. These will all 
be significant considerations in any new strategic Local Plan. Other legislation can also impact on how 
planning policy has to be prepared. 



Dartford Planning Policy                                                                               Appendix C

8
Local Development Scheme 2018/19 to 2020/21

6.3 Core Strategy Review /  New Local Plan  Profile:

Role / Subject A revised strategic approach for the Borough, including 
any changes to account for:

 Progress in delivering major sites and 
regeneration, including in the EDC area

 Updated information on development and 
infrastructure needs, including new national 
methodology for housing need (and other 
government policy changes)

 Duty to Cooperate progress
 National infrastructure and major new 

investment decisions e.g. transport projects

Informed by new technical studies/ Statements of 
Common Ground.

Conformity National policy, with regard to other policy. Produced 
in accordance with Sustainability Appraisal and 
Habitats Regulations requirements.

Coverage Whole Borough including EDC 
area within Dartford.

Potential Key Partners Include EDC, KCC, LPAs and public 
bodies (Duty to Cooperate), TfL/ 
GLA, Parish/ Town Councils, and 
residents and workers across the 
Borough.

Timetable:

Initial public consultation (Regulation 
18) Summer 2018

Publication of Plan for formal 
consultation (Regulation 18) Spring 2020

Submission for Examination in Public Autumn 2020

Adoption (subject to being found 
sound by the Inspector at Examination 
in Public)

Late 2020 onwards



Dartford Planning Policy                                                                               Appendix C

9
Local Development Scheme 2018/19 to 2020/21

The current aim is to publish a draft Plan in the latter part of next year (2019) or 2020 for formal public comments: Regulation 19 
stage. This leads to submission of the Plan to the Secretary of State (Regulation 22), after which point the timescale is determined 
by a Planning Inspector. This should enable adoption of a Plan in 2020 or 2021.

This requires significant evidence gathering and the early public participation (Regulation 18) starting in 2018. A strategic issues 
consultation is planned for mid 2018, particularly focussing on clarifying the position of key landowners, national agencies and local 
planning authorities (The Duty to Cooperate) including the EDC. Depending on the outcome of this, a further public consultation 
may be held under Regulation 18 with more detail. The issues arising from public consultation and the Duty to Cooperate will 
influence when a draft Plan can be published.

2018 2019 2020 2021
Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1

Core Strategy Review Local Plan:
Reg-
ulation

Outline of 
phase-

Explanation of steps and requirements-

R18 DBC Evidence 
gathering + 
early public 
participation 

 A review of 2011 Core Strategy policies is required
 A new Local Plan would require extensive supporting evidence
 Preparation of consultation documents and explanatory 

background materials in line with Dartford SCI 2017
 At least one stage of public participation under this Regulation

R19 DBC Plan 
publication+ 
formal 
consultation 

 Preparation of ‘final draft’ plan 
and formal supporting 
documents

 GAC confirm plan is considered 
sound by DBC

 Then a 6 week period for 
representations to be made on 
its ‘soundness’ by public

R22-
25

Submission to  
Secretary of 
State (SoS),  
examination 

 Public representations on Plan ‘soundness’ 
sent to SoS,  with full evidence base

 SoS appoints independent Planning 
Inspector (PINS) to consider the soundness 



Dartford Planning Policy                                                                               Appendix C

10
Local Development Scheme 2018/19 to 2020/21

of Plan  by SoS 
+ potential 
modifications 
consultation 

and legal compliance of the Plan 
 Inspector set schedule for Examination in 

Public including hearing days
 Inspector commonly requires a period for 

further consultation on modifications
 Could extend into 2021, depending on PINS

R26 DBC Adoption  GAC confirm the Plan 
is legally in force.

 Requires SoS 
confirmation of 
soundness.

 May not occur until 
2021 onwards.

ONGOING REPORTING
 Main monitoring 

results collated 
after end of 
financial year.

 Brownfield Land 
Register required 
annually (by 
December)

AMR, Brownfield 
Land Register & 5yr 
Housing Supply 
produced by DBC

AMR, Brownfield 
Land Register & 5yr 
Housing Supply  
produced by DBC

AMR, Brownfield 
Land Register & 5yr 
Housing Supply  
produced by DBC



1 
 

APPENDIX D 

Dartford Five Year Deliverable 
Housing Land Supply 2018 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Planning Policy Team, May 2018 Draft 

   



2 
 

Contents 

                     

                      Page 

1. Executive Summary                3 

 

2. Dartford’s Adopted Local Plan: Housing Strategy         4 

 

3. The Deliverable Housing Sites             6 

 

4. The Five Year Housing Requirement and Need        8 

 

5. Conclusions                  9 

 

Appendix 1. Required Dwellings (Housing Need plus Regeneration basis)    10 

Appendix 2. Deliverable Housing Sites            11 

Appendix 3. Deliverable Sites in the 5 Year Supply (2018/19 to 2022/23)    12 

Appendix 4. New Standard Methodology on Housing Need       15 

Map: Dartford 5 Year Housing Land Supply 2018          16   

   



3 
 

1. Executive Summary 

 

This  is  Dartford  Borough  Council’s  calculation  of  its  deliverable  housing  land  supply  required  by 

national policy. It covers the period 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2023. 

The Core Strategy sets out housing land delivery in Dartford between 2006 and 2026, featuring: 

 Policy expressed as an “up to”  land capacity  figure (totalling up to 17,300)  to both meet 

housing needs and  to provide an  impetus  for  regeneration of  the Borough. This  level of 

delivery would significantly be in excess of local housing needs. 

 Three  large  priority  areas  for  regeneration  with  deliverable  sites  identified  for  major 

housing  development,  at  Dartford  town  centre  and  Northern  Gateway,  the  Thames 

Waterfront  and  Ebbsfleet  to  Stone,  which  includes  large  consented  sites  now  being 

delivered by the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation.  

Ambitious growth and regeneration plans are materialising with improving levels of housing delivery 

and acceleration of site preparation. Housing completions last year (2017/18) continued to be high, 

with 1,032 dwellings completed.  Starts on sites recorded in 2018 indicate that recent high delivery 

levels should be maintained. 

Dartford  Borough  Council’s  adopted  spatial  strategy  responds  to  the  specific  local  context  of 

availability  of  major  degraded  and  despoiled  sites,  where  development  can  bring  regeneration 

benefits; and delivery of housing up to an environmentally acceptable limit, which is set well in excess 

of Borough housing needs. A robust methodology in line with Government guidance and best practice 

has been adopted. This results in a deliverable housing land estimate of 5.21 years in the Borough, as 

assessed against full delivery of the Core Strategy ‘up to 17,300’ figure.  

It should be noted that National government have developed a new standardised methodology for 

calculating  housing  need,  this  is  explained  further  in  appendix  4.  On  the  basis,  there  remains  a 

deliverable housing land supply of comfortably over five years. 

 

 

   



4 
 

2. Dartford’s Adopted Local Plan: Housing Strategy   

2.1   Policy CS10:1 (Housing Provision) of the Core Strategy sets out potential capacity for housing 

land as follows:  

 

2.2   These capacity figures total 17,270 dwellings (rounded to up to 17,300 in Table 2).  Chapter 4 

sets out the Five Year Housing Supply Requirement. 

2.3   The capacity based total in policy CS10 is a maximum, in recognition of constraints set out in 

the Sustainability Appraisal. It significantly exceeds the identified housing need of 11,700 homes 

over  the  Plan  period.  (Latest  national  forecast  growth  projections  continue  to  indicate  that 

future local need will be significantly below the CS10 level of 17,300 households in the period; 

see the diagram in section 4).  Whilst the Core Strategy was adopted in 2011, prior to the NPPF, 

it  complies with  the  requirement at para 47  to ensure  that  the  ‘…Local Plan meets  the  full, 

objectively assessed need for market and affordable housing…’.   

2.4      The Core Strategy ‘up to’ housing figure exceeds the current housing need figure by almost 50%, 

demonstrating  the  Council’s  commitment  to  ‘…boost  significantly  the  supply  of  housing…’ 

(paragraph 47). As this ‘up to’ figure is not restricted to local housing need levels, as set out 

further  in  Section  4  below,  this  has  implications  for  how  it  is  applied  in  Five  Year  Supply 

calculations and the methodology for how any backlog is addressed (see Appendix 1).   

2.5   The  Core  Strategy  (policy  CS1)  identifies  the  focus  for  development  as  maximising  specific 

regeneration opportunities in the Borough, locations that have been nationally and regionally 

recognised.  The priority opportunities identified in policy CS1 includes sites with the potential 

to each deliver thousands of homes and is based on bringing forward major identified sites and 

infrastructure,  and  reuse  of  previously  developed,  degraded  or  despoiled  land.  These  Core 

Strategy  sites  underpin  the  approach  of  the  Borough’s  spatial  strategy  to  both  provide  for 

housing need and to provide the impetus for regeneration.  



5 
 

2.6  Three major priority areas are identified in CS1: Ebbsfleet to Stone, The Thames Waterfront, 

and Dartford Town Centre & Northern Gateway, all of which are in progress. Sites in these three 

areas provide a significant component of Dartford’s Five Year Housing Supply.  

2.7  The majority of large scale sites identified in the Core Strategy have commenced construction 

and are delivering new homes at pace, for example sites to the north of Dartford town centre.  

Further major sites are being advanced through the interventions of the Ebbsfleet Development 

Corporation,  with  delivery  continuing  to  gain  momentum  and  further  site  preparation  and 

infrastructure provision for further phases now taking place.    

2.8  The Borough’s Deliverable Housing Sites are outlined in chapter 3 and Appendix 4. The five year 

forecast of delivery demonstrates clear  future potential, particularly  taking  into account  the 

number of sites under construction and with planning permission, for new homes to continue 

to be provided at sites that would enable the quantum of land supply set out in Core Strategy 

Policy to be achieved.    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



6 
 

3. The Deliverable Housing Sites  

3.1   The NPPF requires that local planning authorities identify a supply of specific deliverable sites 

to provide five years’ worth of housing against their housing requirement. The framework states 

that to be considered deliverable, sites should: 

 be available now 

 currently offer a suitable location for development 

 have a realistic prospect of delivering housing in the next five years, in particular that 

development of the site is viable 

3.2   Under  national  policy,  sites  with  planning  permission  are  likely  to  be  deliverable.  However 

guidance adds that planning permission or allocation in a development plan is not a prerequisite 

for  a  site  being  deliverable  in  terms  of  the  five‐year  supply.    Realism  is  required  as  to  the 

expected volume of completions within the period. 

3.3   Appendix 3 and the map attached to this document detail the sites included in the deliverable 

supply, and their status.  A large supply of suitable developable land for housing was identified 

in the Council’s SHLAA and has come forward; this is expected to provide capacity well beyond 

2026.  

3.4   The sites in this Five Year Supply are drawn from careful consideration of the land identified in 

the  SHLAA,  and  selectively  include  additional  sites  with  planning  permission  or  in  some 

instances  a  planning  application  submitted/  discussions  in  progress.    In  updating  the  land 

supply,  current  deliverability  of  the  previously  identified  sites;  the  currently  anticipated 

trajectory, associated risks, and an assessment of the local delivery record are considered as 

required by national guidance. (See Appendix 1 for discussion of past rates of delivery).  

3.5   The supply featured here does and will reflect further input from developers, including through 

consultation held with developers/ landowners and infrastructure providers in the future (June‐

July 2018).  

3.6  Certainty  in  delivery  of  the  strategic  sites  in  Dartford  has  increased  in  recent  years  with 

significant progress both at planning and construction stages by the private and public sector. 

With this established trend, and  investment  in progress, the projected delivery  level reflects 

market  confidence  in  Dartford  based  on  intelligence  from  developers  and  housing  delivery 

levels  in  recent  years  in  the  Borough.  It  reflects  the  number  of  homes  under  construction, 

observed in the Council’s recent annual housing supply survey (April 2018).   



7 
 

3.7  The  projection  takes  into  account  the  benefit  of  government  funding  support  and  targeted 

interventions being progressed at Ebbsfleet by the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation (EDC).  

On  some major  sites,  the delivery estimate  reflects  the multiple housebuilders on  site; plus 

housing delivery addressing different market sectors, including affordable housing as defined in 

current  policy,  other  additional  housing  products  promoted  by  the  government,  as  well  as 

conventional commercial build housing.    

3.8  These activities support the projected delivery of 6,712 dwellings (Appendix 3).   

 3.9  The list of sites in Appendix 3 omits a number of further prospective large developments.  Based 

on pre‐application advice provided,  it  is considered that there is strong potential for at  least 

some of these to be brought forward  in the five year period.   However, the deliverability of 

these sites cannot be fully assessed at present. In addition to the healthy supply of specifically 

identified sites at Appendix 3, this further capacity provides a realistic prospect that the Core 

Strategy  identified  capacity  can be  fully achieved.    These  further  sites provide an additional 

‘buffer’ of land ensuring choice and competition in the market for land, as required by the NPPF 

(paragraph 4.3 below and Appendix  1 discusses applicability of a proportionate buffer).  

3.10  Placing this projection in context, there has been impetus for delivery from continuing buoyancy 

in the local housing market and demand has continued to further push up prices through to 

February 2018 (according to latest available statistics1). The consequent growth in completions 

at large sites has resulted in just over 1,000 new homes being delivered in the Borough in the 

last year.   

3.11  In terms of current development activity, up to 3,778 dwellings are forecast at sites that are 

already under  construction  (56% of  the 6,712 delivery  five  year  forecast). Adding  sites with 

deliverable planning permissions, shows over two‐thirds (81%) of the total (5,429 dwellings) to 

be permitted or already under construction. Categories of site delivery are shown in Appendix 

3. 

 

 

 

                                                            
1 ONS UK House Price Index, February 2018 



8 
 

4. The Five Year Housing Requirement and Need 

4.1   The Core Strategy’s spatial strategy has been explained in Chapter 2. Full details of the resulting 

Core Strategy ‘up to’ requirement and how it has been calculated for the five year period is set 

out in Appendix 1.   

4.2   The Core Strategy ‘up to 17,300’ figure is consistent with NPPF provisions, allowing for housing 

in excess of needs, and providing sustainable development objectives are met. It would be a 

misinterpretation of Core Strategy policy and contrary to growth strategy set out in the Plan to 

apply the 17,300 figure as if it were an absolute requirement that is intended to be precisely 

achieved for local need to be met, or a figure that should be exceeded.  

4.3  Calculations addressing the up to 17,300 dwellings policy in Appendix 1 therefore do not directly 

add a nominal buffer to the ‘up to’ five year supply, as this would risk contravening Dartford’s 

Core Strategy housing supply policy CS10. However as noted, a  range of  further, potentially 

deliverable sites are available which can provide choice and competition in the market  land, 

should the identified sites not come forward as expected.   

4.4   The ‘Liverpool’ methodology (addressing under‐supply due to the recession within the whole 

Plan  period,  rather  than  within  the  five  year  period),  is  appropriate  and  reflects  the  Core 

Strategy and  the  levels and  form of growth the Borough will accommodate; being based on 

bringing  forward  large previously  developed  sites  requiring major  site  preparation  and  new 

infrastructure over the whole plan period (or beyond). These circumstances are highly relevant 

(a principle recognised in a number of appeal decisions); moreover there is no single prescribed 

approach for localities set in national policy. 

4.5  The five year housing requirement in Dartford from April 2017 to March 2022 is therefore up 

to 6,441 homes.  

4.6  The government’s new methodology on standard housing need (set out in appendix 4) outlines 

a need in Dartford for 3,890 homes over 5 years.   



9 
 

5. Conclusions 

5.1  Dartford Borough Council’s adopted spatial strategy responds to the specific  local context of 

major  sites  and  areas  in  need  of  regeneration;  prioritising  delivery  of  particular  sustainable 

developments and accommodating increased housing delivery levels far in excess of Borough 

housing needs. The realisation of substantial development planned in the Borough is occurring 

as  shown  in  completion  levels  in  recent  years,  and  now  facilitated  through  the  focus  and 

resources of the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation.  

5.2    As  set out previously,  the Core Strategy does  ‘boost  significantly  the supply of housing’ and 

provides sufficient deliverable land to enable ‘meeting the full, objectively assessed needs for 

market and affordable housing…’ (NPPF paragraph 47).    

5.3  Dartford  Borough’s  6,712  deliverable  dwellings  equates  to  more  than  five  years  supply  of 

deliverable housing  sites measured against  the Core Strategy  ‘up  to’ policy ambition, and  is 

shown to be substantially in excess of the proposed national methodology housing needs (see 

paragraph 4.6)  

5.6 The  Council  is  confident  given  the  track  record  (recent  delivery  performance,  current 

construction,  the  development  pipeline  and  the  focused  interventions  of  the  EDC)  and 

developer intelligence that there is sufficient potential for deliverable sites over the five year 

period to achieve the full capacity set out in Core Strategy policy.  It also allows clear potential 

for other sites, currently not individually identified in Appendix 3, to provide a significant buffer 

(paragraph 3.9).  

 

5.7 The deliverable housing land supply is confirmed as 5.21 years as assessed against achievement 

of the full ‘up to’ 17, 300 housing figure identified in the Core Strategy.    

   



10 
 

Appendix 1: Required dwellings (Housing Need plus Regeneration basis) 

A. Completions 2006/7 to 
2017/18 

7462  =6431+1031:  
past plus 2017/18 completions 

B. Core Strategy planned total 
2006/7 to 2018/19 

Up to 9640  =2300 + 5100 + (5600*(2/5)):  
see phasing in CS Table 2 

C. Shortfall 2006/7 to 2016/17  Up to 2178  =B‐A 

D. Core Strategy planned total 
2018/19 to 2022/23 

Up to 5080  =5600*(3/5)+ 4300*(2/5) 
see phasing in CS Table 2 

E. Address shortfall  1361  =[5*(2178/8)]:  C annualised over remaining 
plan years and then multiplied by 5 to provide a 
proportion of the shortfall to be met within the 
five year period.  

F. TOTAL  Up to 6441  =D+E.  

 

 This is a land capacity‐based rather than a housing needs based requirement.  It is not stated 

in the NPPF but government guidance states: “Local planning authorities should aim to deal 

with any undersupply within the first 5 years of the plan period where possible.”   However 

practice demonstrates and case law that in some circumstances it is accepted that a longer 

term view of dealing with undersupply is acceptable. Since the Core Strategy ‘up to’ figure is 

not only based on housing needs, the rationale for meeting the backlog of need in as short a 

time as possible in order to address unmet need, is not applicable  

 Calculations above recognise the impact of the recession had in delaying the achievement of 

key sites.  Given the magnitude and nature of these key strategic sites this will be rectified 

over a longer time than the five year period.  

 Therefore given all this the shortfall in Row E is addressed in the five year period to be fully 

accounted for by the end of the plan period (‘Liverpool’ method).  

 It  is not appropriate to  increase by way of a standard buffer an  ‘up to’ housing  level. That 

would conflict with the Sustainability Appraisal underpinning the plan.  Here the buffer is nil.  

 

 

   



11 
 

Appendix 2: Deliverable housing sites 

Sources and deliverability of sites identified in the 5 year supply: 

Source of site  Deliverability Assessment 

Sites  under 

construction 

All assessed as deliverable. In the case of large sites with long‐term 

phasing  plans,  only  the  portion  considered  deliverable  within  5 

years has been included.  This has been assessed on the basis of 

information  from house‐builders  about  future  estimated  annual 

delivery  rates  and  emerging  evidence  in  connection  with  the 

delivery of Ebbsfleet Garden City. In addition, current evidence of 

delivery and occupancy  rates at  these  and other  recently  active 

sites has been taken into account, as well as proposals for multiple 

house‐builders or phases on‐site concurrently. 

Sites  with  planning 

permission 

Most  assessed  as  deliverable.    The NPPF  states  that  “sites with 

planning permission are considered deliverable unless there is clear 

evidence that the scheme will not be implemented for example that 

it will not be viable”.  In some cases the five year supply shown may 

reflect only initial phases of a scheme. 

Sites  Identified  in 

Dartford  SHLAA  July 

2010  (excluding 

sources above) 

All  sites  identified  in  the  Council’s  SHLAA  not  in  the  sources  of 

supply above, have been re‐assessed.   Revised delivery estimates 

have  been  derived  from  discussions  with  landowners  and 

developers including in some cases pre‐application discussions. In 

some  cases  the  five  year  supply  shown may  reflect  only  initial 

phases of a scheme. 

Windfalls  Sites under construction or with planning consent that were not 

previously  identified  in  the  SHLAA  due  to  their  capacity  being 

under 5 units, are shown as an amalgamated windfall figure under 

each of these headings.  A conservative estimate of 121 windfall 

homes over the 5 year period is allowed for in addition to these.   

The  amalgamated  windfall  figure  is  based  on  historic  rates  of 

windfall  delivery  and  historic  build‐out  rates  taking  account  of 

windfall sites under construction or with planning consent.   

 

 

 

 



12 
 

Appendix 3: Deliverable Sites in the 5 year supply (2018/19 to 2022/23): 

Site Ref 

(map to be 

supplied with 

final 

document) 

Site Name  5 Year Delivery 

Sites Under Construction: 

1/45/91  Ebbsfleet Valley Strategic Site1  2900 

2  The Bridge  93 

3  Ingress Park ‐ Eastern Extension  169 

11  Hedge Place road  56 

14  Orchard Street/Kent Road  6 

28  Land at Coleridge Road, Temple Hill  51 

34 
Northern Gateway East (GSK) and Mill 

Pond 
318 

45  Eastern Quarry (EQ2)  1600 

88  St Clements Valley  32 

91 
Ebbsfleet Green (formerly Northfleet 

West Sub Station) 
600 

128  Darenth Road  82 

284  Empire Sports Ground  29 

521  Depot Rear of 2 Temple Hill  6 

531  165 ‐ 173 Hawley Road  12 

  Windfalls2  24 

  Sub ‐total  3778 



13 
 

Sites with planning permission: 

7  Craylands Lane  110 

8  Greenwood  8 

12  St Marys Church Hall, Church Hill  6 

19  Rear of 131 The Brent  6 

20  Knockhall Road  64 

32  Lowfield St Redevelopment site  400 

42  Two Brewers public house  11 

47 
Northern Gateway West Abbott 

Murex 
403 

48  St James Lane Pit (Stone Pit 2)  350 

295  Land North of Cotton Lane  16 

503  Land at Beacon Drive, Bean  6 

514  Village Heights, Greenhithe  33 

525  Land North of St Mary’s Road, Stone  152 

526  Instone House, Instone Road  8 

527  Cressener Place  5 

529 
1st‐3rd Floors,  27‐31 High Street, 

Dartford 
13 

530  Fox and Hounds, Green Street Green  6 

            Small Windfalls2  54 

            Sub – total  1651 

Other Land Identified in Dartford  

Strategic Housing Land Availability Assessment3: 



14 
 

4 
Former Croxton and Gary site (part of 

Swanscombe Peninsula site 40) 
220 

16  Powdermill Lane  48 

36  Station Approach  200 

38  Co‐op Site, Dartford Town Centre  150 

41  Thames Europort  100 

43  Vauxhall Farm  70 

46  Glentworth Club  70 

87  Stone Lodge  200 

118  Car Park rear of Two Brewers  23 

517 
Land adj to Old Rectory, St Mary’s 

Road 
68 

524  Dartford Magistrates Court  12 

  Sub – total  1161 

 
Windfall Allowance (additional to 

above categories) 2 
122 

TOTAL 5 year supply sites  6712 

 

1       This covers the site in the Ebbsfleet Valley Strategic Site (Eastern Quarry, Ebbsfleet 

Green and Ebbsfleet Central). Ebbsfleet Central planning consent has been 

implemented although dwelling construction is not yet underway. 

2      Windfalls are sites which have not been specifically identified as available in the Local Plan 

process.  They  normally  comprise  previously‐developed  sites  that  have  unexpectedly 

become  available.  These  primarily  include  small  sites  under  five  units,  conversion 

schemes and small scale Prior Approval development which are not considered  in the 

Council’s SHLAA.  

3  July 2010 

 

 



15 
 

Appendix 4: New Standard Methodology on Housing Need 

 National government have developed a new standardised methodology for calculating housing 

need. This is currently being consulted on as part of revisions to the National Planning Policy 

Framework. 

 The methodology uses a calculation from national household projections and an adjustment 

ratio to take account of market signals (done through using a ratio of house price to earnings of 

four). The need figures are capped at an increase of up to 40%.  

 The housing need figure set out in the consultation for Dartford indicate a need for 778 homes 

per annum (this is up from minimum local housing need of 585 in the Core Strategy). The 778 

homes per annum is within the ‘up to 17,300’ homes (865 per annum).  

 Under this new methodology (and the current published housing need figures), there would be a 

requirement of 3,890 homes over 5 years. This would equate to an 8.63 year supply using the 

current sites set out in this document.   

 



16 
 

 



CABINET
24 MAY 2018

RESPONSE TO CONSULTATION ON POWERS FOR DEALING WITH 
UNAUTHORISED DEVELOPMENT AND ENCAMPMENTS  

1. Summary

1.1 This report brings to Members’ attention the Ministry of Housing, Communities 
and Local Government (MHCLG), Home Office and Ministry of Justice 
consultation regarding powers for dealing with unauthorised development and 
encampments.  

1.2 This report summarises the draft responses to the consultation questions. 
MHCLG acknowledge that there have been long-standing concerns about the 
issue of unauthorised development and encampments. These were most 
recently voiced during the debate in the House of Commons on 9 October 2017, 
when the Government heard strong views that, in spite of a range of powers 
already in place, unauthorised development and encampments remain a 
significant issue which causes genuine difficulties for communities. 

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1  That Cabinet approves, or amends, the proposed response to the consultation, 
as set out in Appendix A to the report.  

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The issue of Unauthorised Encampments (UEs) and unauthorised 
development (caravans used for permanent accommodation on land 
without the benefit of planning consent) has been a challenge for Local 
Authorities, the Police and private landowners across the country for 
many years. Since 2010, the Government asserts that it has taken 
concerted action to address the difficulties for communities caused by 
unaithorised development and encampments, which include:-

 trespassing on private land 
 occupying public land, including playing fields and children’s 

playgrounds 
 damage to property 
 extensive litter and waste 
 the public and private cost of cleaning or protecting 

unauthorised sites 
 noise and antisocial behaviour 
 abusive and threatening behaviour 
 carrying out development without planning permission 

In March 2015 the Government issued advice in Dealing with illegal and 
unauthorised encampments to all local authorities, the police and 
landowners to encourage them to work collaboratively to tackle 



CABINET
24 MAY 2018

unauthorised encampments and to remind them of the array of powers 
which exist for tackling such situations. 

3.2. The Council had been ‘on the front foot’ prior to this. A period in the 
early 2000’s where Dartford experienced significant numbers of UEs led 
directly to the Council’s stance of not tolerating UEs and to the formation 
of the Enforcement Team within Enforcement & Regulatory Services to 
provide the capability to follow proper process and effect prompt 
removal of UEs from council land. The team had an immediate impact 
and has generally been able to deal effectively with most UEs since. 
However, more recently, differences in approach between this Council 
and other partners, specifically Kent Police and KCC had led to a 
mismatch of expectations. A report from the Enforcement and 
Regulatory Services manager was submitted to the Police Deputy Chief 
Constable outlining concerns regarding Police policy which, at the time, 
suggested that the ‘problem’ of UEs was a matter for the local authority 
to resolve. This led to a change in Kent Police policy to reflect a more 
pragmatic, collaborative approach to UEs in Kent.

3.3. With cooperation from the local Police managers at Dartford, a 
Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) was drawn up and agreed at 
Director/senior Police officer level and a renewed, unambiguous 
Council/Police approach to ALL UEs in the Borough ensued. 
Subsequently the numbers of UEs reduced and the processes for 
‘dealing’ with each respective UE was refined according to the 
circumstances.  

3.4. The issue of unauthorised development is very different to unauthorised 
encampments in terms of the enforcement procedures that have to be 
applied, impact, duration and the ability of those affected to legally 
challenge enforcement action. However the issues and impacts arising 
from UEs and unauthorised developments are often linked in terms of 
public perception. The Council has taken a similarly robust attitude to 
unauthorised development in the borough, albeit with mixed results due 
to the different regulatory process. 

3.5. The consultation attempts to address both unauthorised development 
and unauthorised encampment. The Council’s proposed response to 
the consultation is as set out in Appendix A.  The consultation link can 
be found at:

https://consult.defra.gov.uk/waste/crime-and-poor-performance-in-the-
waste-sector/

4.   Relationship to the Corporate Plan

       This report relates to the Corporate Plan strategic aims:-

 To reduce anti-social behaviour
 To ensure a high quality street-scene. 

file:///C:/Users/smayell/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/QV3IXS41/lt.defra.gov.uk/waste/crime-and-poor-performance-in-the-waste-
file:///C:/Users/smayell/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/QV3IXS41/lt.defra.gov.uk/waste/crime-and-poor-performance-in-the-waste-


CABINET
24 MAY 2018

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other admin implications & risk assessments

Financial Implications None as a result of this report

Legal Implications None as a result of this report

Staffing Implications None as a result of this report

Administrative Implications As above

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Consultation questions and proposed response

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Mark Salisbury 
(01322) 343339

Teresa Ryszkowska
(01322) 343631

Enforcement and 
Regulatory Services

Regeneration

Strategic Directorate 
(External) Services 

N/A





Appendix A

Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government, Home Office, and Ministry of Justice

POWERS FOR DEALING WITH UNAUTHORISED DEVELOPMENT 
AND ENCAMPMENTS  

Open consultation 

1. What evidence is there of unauthorised development and encampments in your 
community, and what issues does this raise for the local community?

Unauthorised encampments almost always create community tension within the general 
community and often cause actual disruption to daily activities for residents, visitors and 
businesses. The Council maintains a log of unauthorised encampments that take place on public 
and privately owned land in the borough.  This demonstrates that several encampments are 
experienced in the Borough each year. Such cases have additionally caused some community 
tension in areas in close proximity to sites where unauthorised development is suspected by the 
community. This has manifested through complaints to Police, local council members and 
Planning officers.

Unauthorised development also causes community tensions but generally to a more tightly 
focussed community i.e. the near neighbours of the unauthorised development. Evidence of 
unauthorised development primarily exists within established sites where some expansion of 
plots, caravans and mobile homes has been identified through periodic site visits or through 
community intelligence. Whilst unauthorised development in planning terms, the breach is 
usually with the agreement of the site owner and this results in it being more difficult to identify 
incidents of unauthorised additional caravans.   

2. We would like to invite evidence of unauthorised encampments which have occurred in 
the last 2 years, as follows:

a) the number of instances where trespassers have occupied land without authorisation, 
including the location and scale of the encampment.  

b) whether the land in a) required cleaning or repair once the encampment had left, and if 
so, what was the cost?  
 
c) how was each unauthorised encampment encouraged to leave, how long did it take, 
and was the local authority able to move them on; or did the police became involved?

DATE
A

LOCATION OF U.E    A LAND 
OWNERSHIP

NO. OF 
VEHICLES  
A

REMOVED   C REMOVAL   C DAYS    C AND 
COSTS B 

03/04
/2016

The Bridge 
Development Plot 3

Dartford 
Borough 
Council 
(DBC)

4 06/04/2016 Section 77 papers 
served left of own 
accord

3
£105

08/04 Binnie Road Bridge DBC 1 10/04/2016 Section 77 papers 2

https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/ministry-of-housing-communities-and-local-government
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/home-office
https://www.gov.uk/government/organisations/ministry-of-justice


Appendix A

/2016 Development 
Dartford

served left of own 
accord

£70

10/04
/2016

Binnie Road Bridge 
Development 
Dartford

DBC 8 14/04/2016 Section 78 papers 
served left of own 
accord

4
£140

14/04
/2016

Northfleet Industrial 
Est adj. unit R1

Private 2 19/04/2016 Left of own accord 5

14/04
/2016

Watling Street adj. 
Bluewater S/C

Kent County 
Council 
(KCC)

8 20/04/2016 Section 78 papers 
served left of own 
accord

6

21/04
/2016

Birchwood Road 
recycling layby

KCC 1 26/04/2016 Section 77 papers 
served left of own 
accord

4

29/04
/2016

Morgan Drive DBC 1 09/05/2016 Section 77 papers 
served left of own 
accord

10
£350

08/05
/2016

Rennie Drive the 
Bridge Development

Private 6 10/05/2016 left of own accord 2

25/05
/2016

Leigh Academy 
Green St Green Rd

Private 9 25/05/2016 left of own accord 0

21/07
/2016

Fairfield Pool, 
Lowfield Street, 
Dartford

DBC 4 25/07/2016 Section 77 papers 
served left of own 
accord

4
£140

24/07
/2016

Watling St Dartford KCC/DBC 4 27/07/2016 Section 77 papers 
served left of own 
accord

4

05/08
/2016

Central Park Dartford DBC 10 06/08/2016 Section 61 Police 
removal

1
£35

06/08
/2016

Common Lane 
Wilmington

Private 10 07/08/2016 Section 61 Police 
removal

1

13/09
/2016

Cotton Lane Stone 
Bowls club

DBC 2 16/09/2016 Sec 77 papers 
served left of own 
accord

3
£105

2017
16/01
/2017

Blackmans Close 
Retail Park 

Private 2 18/01/2017 Eviction notices 
served by 
landowners

2

01/02
/2017

Shepherds 
Lane/Rochester Way.

DBC/KCC 11 08/03/2017 Sec78 papers 
served left of own 
accord

7
£252

14/03
/2017

Princes Park Stadium 
Dartford F.C.

DBC 5 14/03/2017 Police attended 
travellers left

1
£36

18/04
/2017

Birchwood 
Road/Leydenhatch 
Lane

DBC/KCC 1 22/04/2017 Sec 77 papers 
served left of own 
accord.(tent also)

4
£144

26/04
/2017

Central Road TNT Private 12 01/05/2017 Eviction notices 
served by 
landowners

5
£20,000
(estimated)

12/05
/2017

Fairfield Pool, 
Lowfield Street, 
Dartford

DBC 7 13/05/2017 Sec 61 removal by 
Police

2
£72



Appendix A

27/06
/2017

The Green, Wellcome 
Avenue, Dartford

DBC 4 29/06/2017 Sec 77 papers and 
removal order

2
£72

07/07
/2017

Prospect Place car 
park

Private 3 08/07/2017 Police attended 
travellers left

2

16/07
/2017

Hilton Double Tree 
car park

Private 2 17/07/2017 Police attended 
travellers left

1

02/08
/2017

Riverbridge car park - 
Crossways Ind. Estate

Private 14 03/08/2017 36 vehicles 14 
caravans  left of 
own accord 
following Bailiff 
attendance

1

04/08
/2017

Swanscombe Park DBC 14 04/08/2017 From crossways, 
Sec. 61 Police

1
£36

04/08
/2017

Asda Greenhithe car 
park

Private 14 05/08/2017 As above 1

10/08
/2017

RWE Power - 
Littlebrook Power 
Station

Private 5 13/08/2017 Bailiffs attended 
travellers left

3

23/09
/2017

Hook Green Lane 
field (Diary)

Private 8 25/09/2017 Sec 61 removal by 
Police

2

29/09
/2017

Bean/Greenhithe at 
end of Mounts 
Road/Alkerden Lane

Private 6 30/09/2017 Bailiffs attended 
travellers left

1

03/10
/2017

former Co-Op site 
Hythe/Orchard 
Street

DBC 25 04/10/2017 Sec 61 removal by 
Police

1
£36

16/10
/2017

Green Street Green 
Road layby

DBC/KCC 1 18/10/2017 Sec 77 papers 
moved own accord 
- Hawley Rd on Rd

2
£36

2018
09/01
/2018

Stone Lodge Bowls 
Club Car Park

DBC Parish 11 10/01/2018 Sec 77, Sec 61 1
£36

10/01
/2018

Central Road TNT / 
GSK

Private 11 18/01/2018 High Court Order 8
£20,000 
(estimated)

19/01
/2018

Central Car Park 
Market Street

Private 12 23/01/2018 Sec 61 4

23/01
/2018

Central Road TNT / 
GSK

Private 12 25/01/2018 left of own accord 2

02/03
/2018

Central Road TNT / 
GSK

Private 3 06/03/2018 landowner 
enforcement action 

3

06/03
/2018

Rennie Drive - Bridge 
Development / UK 
Power Network

Private 3 08/03/2018 landowner 
enforcement action

2

The above does not include opportunity costs of staff and police attendance in each case, estimated 
at £5,000.



Appendix A

3. Do you think that the existing powers made available to local authorities to remove 
unauthorised campers from land are effective?

Only to a limited extent. The involvement of court proceedings make it impossible to enforce the 
swift removal (within hours as opposed to days) of unauthorised campers who (in our 
experience) know the procedure well.

We have refined our processes as far as possible within the constraints of legislation.

4. Do you think local authorities could improve their use of existing powers?

Yes and we have done this. For the last 3 years we have been leaders in the county, and beyond, 
in terms of our proactive, joined up approach for the use of both local authority, civil and Police 
Powers.

5. What other powers may help local authorities deal with unauthorised encampments?

Powers to seize assets such as vehicles in circumstances where lawful instructions to leave land 
are ignored without further reference to court proceedings.

6. Do you consider that the current powers for police to direct trespassers to leave land are 
effective?

No. The powers rely on additional circumstances to be established against specific criteria before 
the Police can act.

7. Would any new or revised powers that enable police to direct trespassers to leave land 
make it easier to deal with unauthorised encampments?

Yes. There is often (in our experience) ambiguity and subjectivity in the Police considering  
section 61, together with local force policy criteria, before a decision is made whether  to use 
the power or not.

8. Do you consider that the Government should consider criminalising unauthorised 
encampments, in addition to the offence of aggravated trespass? If so, how should a new 
offence differ, and what actions and circumstances should it apply to?

Yes. The current offence of Unauthorised Trespass requires the aggravating factors of 
intimidation to the landowners. It should be sufficient that the unauthorised Encampment in 
itself is an offence given that every UE (in our experience) has caused serious inconvenience to 
the landowner and / or other lawful users of the land.

9. What barriers are there to the greater use of injunctions by local authorities, where 
appropriate, and how might they be overcome?

In our experience, the use of injunctions does not prevent and deter UE’s; the same (often 
lengthy) timescales before court proceedings can ensue are prevalent. In our experience, it is 
often the objective of unauthorised campers to trespass at a location for no longer than a week 
before moving on, knowing that is typically the time needed for court proceedings.



Appendix A

10. Do you have any suggestions or examples of how local authorities, the police, the courts 
and communities can work together more successfully to improve community relations 
and address issues raised by unauthorised encampments?

For some 3 years we (at Dartford) have introduced a Memorandum of Understanding between 
the Council and the Police. This sets out strict criteria for joint attendance at the scene of every 
UE and includes evidence capture, consideration of fast and effective use of powers and the 
welfare considerations of the unauthorised campers. The success of this approach has led to this 
MOU has now being adopted countywide across Kent and Medway.

11. Are there ways in which court processes might be modified in a proportionate way to 
ensure unauthorised encampments can be addressed more quickly?

The use of virtual courts should be considered. In Kent, there have been a significant number of 
Magistrates Court closures making the issue of finding a court ‘slot’ at a court outside of the 
district particularly difficult. A virtual court process, which could be accessed from every civic 
centre, even out of hours, would potentially speed up the legal process of dealing with UE’s.

12. In your view, what would the advantages and disadvantages be of extending the IPO 
process to open land?

Extending the Interim Possession Order process to open land would possibly afford advantages 
for private landowners in particular. The ‘interim’ aspects of this process, as well as lengthy 
county court time, could deter the use of it.  

13. Are you aware of any specific barriers which prevent the effective use of current planning 
enforcement powers?

No, however, permissions in the Green Belt, which are often ‘personal’, are almost impossible 
to monitor and enforce effectively.  National policy/guidance should require that the nature of 
development consented should be clearly set out, for example  no more than one mobile 
home and one tourer caravan not two caravans (unspecified) where the development 
encompasses one pitch.

14.  If you are aware of any specific barriers to effective enforcement, are there any 
resourcing or administrative arrangements that can help overcome them?

The Council has used a number of mechanisms to deter land being used for unauthorised 
development and expedite the removal of the development or to regularise the situation 
through planning consent. These processes can take a considerable amount of time due to 
procedures that have to be followed and the quantity of evidence required and requires specific 
planning knowledge and experience. This means that actions are resource intensive and are 
often expensive to the Council, particularly where legal costs are involved.  Where it is 
considered that there is sufficient justification to take enforcement action, this invariably leads 
to an enforcement appeal. In most cases, enforcement notices have been dismissed and often 
planning permission is granted for the unauthorised caravans or sites to remain.  A key material 
consideration taken into account at appeal is the existence of a five year supply, and the policy 
approach to be applied in the determination of planning applications I regards this factor as set 
in the PPTS. Providing sufficient certainty that supply exists is challenging to the Council for a 
number of reasons. Even where a site owner has secured planning consent there is no certainty 
that they will bring the site forward lawfully, meeting all planning conditions, or the extent that 



Appendix A

the site will meet identified local needs. Additionally when taking into account specific site 
requirements and the high value of land outside of Green Belt in the Borough it is difficult to 
identify suitable land that has reasonable certainty of delivery.  

Appeal decisions are often made personal to the appellant due to them being located in the 
Green Belt and/or temporary permissions are granted. This can lead to the need for further 
enforcement action and repeats the resource costs to the Council if the provisions are not 
adhered to. In most cases, it then becomes even more difficult to enforce because the 
household has matured and needs of young children have to be taken into account. 
  
There is a need for more human resources (Planning Enforcement and planning officers) to deal 
effectively with planning breaches and the subsequent enforcement appeals or negotiations on 
planning applications. To ensure the process is taken forward in an appropriate way for all 
parties, ensuring personal circumstances of the travellers are properly taken into account.  The 
types of beaches often encountered in the Borough ie unauthorised development within an 
established site,  takes considerable time in establishing the legality of individuals on sites (see 
13 above), human rights and welfare of individuals, and due to the inability of many travellers 
to read and/or able to follow administrative processes. Negotiations and discussions with the 
applicants and their agents, requires qualified planners to deal with these issues or planning 
qualified enforcement officers.  This type of work takes a disproportionate amount of resource 
and time when compared to most other planning and enforcement cases. Gypsy planning and 
relevant legislation is a complex and specific planning specialism.   However, the Council does 
not have the resources to employ a planner specifically to carry out this role.  In dealing with 
applications and appeals, it can be difficult to ensure that there is a planner who is familiar with 
gypsy legislation, issues and the families in the local area. The appellants usually have agents 
who specialise in gypsy law and this can lead to disadvantage and considerable work for the LPA 
plus increased time to deal with the appeals.  

15. Are you aware of any specific barriers which prevent the effective use of temporary stop 
notices? If so, do you have a view on how these barriers can be overcome?

No

16. How do you think the existing enforcement notice appeals process can be improved or 
streamlined?

The process is essentially the same as for other appeals. However, it is delayed through the 
administration process. There is often a long delay in validating an appeal): a time limit could be 
set by PINS for validation to be completed.  A number of cases seek a Public Inquiry or hearing, 
which results in a delay to find a date plus they can sometimes last for several days and are very 
costly for LPAs, diverting resources.   In the Council’s experience of past cases there have been 
personal verbal attacks on officers. 

The feasibility of determining such appeals through the written representation process should 
be considered which would remove some of the emotive issues from the process.



Appendix A

17. How can Government make existing guidance more effective in informing and changing 
behaviour?

Ensure that the information is as accessible as possible and written in language that can be 
easily understood for public awareness.

18. If future guidance was issued as statutory guidance, would this help in taking action 
against unauthorised development and encampments?

Yes,  for unauthorised encampments but probably not  so effective for unauthorised 
development as  cases can be extremely varied, with often more limited negative consequences 
to local amenities, local environment and communities. 

19. Are there any specific barriers to the provision of more authorised permanent and transit 
sites? If so, is there any action that the Government could take to help overcome those 
barriers?

The major barrier to providing more authorised permanent and transit sites is the high cost of 
appropriate development land within Dartford borough, taking account of the pressure for land 
for new homes and the presence of a significant amount of Green Belt.   Sites need to comply, 
with not only planning policy but also caravan site regulations and fire regulations.  Both public 
and private sites have to be supported by adequate hardstanding, water and sewage 
infrastructure.  Therefore in addition to land costs, associated costs of setting up a traveller site 
also represent a barrier to the Council and  to some private site owners .Whilst some traveller 
sites are run by a private landlord with rental pitches, the majority of private sites are small and 
wholly provide for one to three households within one extended family.  Authorised permanent 
site demand is primarily for these kinds of small private sites rather than large public sites and 
therefore to encourage authorised camping, a large number of smaller sites should be 
established as traveller households often will choose not to be accommodated in a different 
setting. This is extremely challenging to both the Council in identifying land supply and for those 
who wish to purchase land for site use, particularly taking into account the high cost of land 
highlighted above. 

 Provision of transit and public permanent sites entails similar issues to those set out above, but 
have additional ongoing maintenance and management requirements which result in additional 
resource and cost implications.  Taking the above factors into account, the identification and 
provision of authorised permanent and transit sites is challenging to local authorities. The 
Government  should consider whether additional funding should be made available to  local 
authorities, particularly in areas with planning and cost  of land constraint,  to provide the 
ability to  purchase  suitable land and assist  the costs of site infrastructure where required. 
Financial support to enable provision, maintenance and management of facilities for transit and 
public sites would also assist in overcoming barriers to provision and would assist in reducing 
the number of unauthorised developments and incidences of UEs.

20. What impact would extending local authority, police or land owner powers have on 
children and families and other groups with protected characteristics that public 
authorities must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to under their Public 
Sector Equality Duty?

Extending powers would have no further impact on children and families and other groups with 
protected characteristics in Dartford. The MOU (aforementioned) ensures that the welfare 



Appendix A

aspects of an UE are considered whilst dealing robustly with the offences / breaches that have 
been committed.  These matters already need to be ascertained with regard to taking any 
action with regard unauthorised development, therefore no further impact is envisaged. 

21. Do you expect that extending the powers referred to above would have a positive or 
negative impact on the health or educational outcomes of Gypsy, Roma and Traveller 
communities? If so, do you have any evidence to support this view, and/or suggestions 
for what could be done to mitigate or prevent any negative impacts?

We believe that there would be no change to the impact on the health or educational outcomes 
of Gypsy, Roma and Traveller communities. In our experience the vast majority of UE’s have not 
consisted of Gypsy, Roma and traveller communities who are travelling specifically due to 
accommodation insecurity, but are groups who choose to live a nomadic lifestyle.  However, 
this is likely to be different with regard extending powers to deal with unauthorised 
development, where without alternative accommodation being made available, 
accommodation uncertainty may have a greater negative impact on health and education 
outcomes. 

22. Do you have any other comments to make on the issue of unauthorised development and 
encampments not specifically addressed by any of the questions above?

In answering the questions within this consultation, it is difficult not to appear discriminatory in 
the context of the responses. However, the answers can only be provided from the experiences 
of the local authority and the Police in dealing with UE’s in Dartford. The issues of organised 
travelling criminal gangs, modern slavery, domestic abuse and safeguarding issues have all been 
identified within the context of some UE’s and bringing perpetrators to justice from travelling 
communities is extremely challenging from the Policing perspective and other prosecuting 
agencies such as the Environment Agency.  We are committed, with our partners, to ensure 
that fair treatment, guardianship and protection to the vulnerable is afforded to all parts of our 
communities but it must be acknowledged that UE’s can have a devastating effect on settled 
communities and place considerable demands upon responsible agencies. We are content that 
our joint MOU is cited as good practice but would welcome extending the associated powers to 
deal with UE’s even more effectively to benefit both settled and travelling communities.

In the case of unauthorised development it is not only planning and enforcement resources but 
resources involved in granting private licenses for gypsy sites and ensuring requirements are 
maintained. Most of the Council’s unauthorised traveller development is on private authorised 
sites where the numbers of caravans has increased beyond that consented. Many of these 
result in overcrowding and fire risk etc, and therefore are operating without planning consent 
or licensing approval. There is limited resourcing for licencing of authorised sites and for 
enforcing licensing. In Dartford, recently adopted local plan policy has linked planning 
consideration of site applications to an understanding of applicable parts of caravan licensing eg 
the capacity  and layout of a site have the ability to meet future caravan licensing requirements. 
Therefore in addition to comments above with regard unauthorised development. Appropriate 
joining up of different regulatory requirements should be reflected in national policy/guidance.



CABINET
24 MAY 2018

STONE LODGE RUGBY FACILITY

Please note, this item will be “To Follow”





CABINET
24 MAY 2018

CHANGES TO ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH OUT OF HOURS 
SERVICE

1. Summary

The report proposes changes to the out of hours’ service provided by 
Environmental Health that will better target resources whilst also making the service 
more accessible to residents.

2. RECOMMENDATION

      That Members endorse the recommendations set out in the report.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 Prior to entering into a shared Environmental Health (EH) service with 
Sevenoaks District Council, Dartford Environmental Health provided an 
out of hours (OOH) service operating on Friday and Saturday evenings 
during the summer months to match the demand for the service.  On 
entering into the shared service with Sevenoaks District Council in 2012, 
the OOH Service adopted the Sevenoaks service’s hours and currently 
deals with complaints from residents within both Sevenoaks and 
Dartford districts throughout the year between 17:00 and 22:00 Monday 
to Thursday, 17:00 to 00:00 Friday, 08:00 to 00:00 Saturday and 08:00 
to 22:00 Sunday.

3.2 The OOH Service receives an average of 180 calls per annum relating 
to Dartford. Demand for the service varies significantly throughout the 
year and by day of the week with the majority of calls being received 
between May and October between 18.00 and midnight on Friday and 
Saturday and on Sunday 10.00-12.00. It follows that an average of less 
than one call per week falls outside Dartford’s previous operating hours. 
Many of the calls received are not urgent, do not require immediate 
action and can be managed the next working day during office hours in 
accordance with agreed performance indicators.

3.3 Over the past 18 months, several experienced officers have left the OOH 
Service. That, together with the recognition that the Service is receiving 
relatively few calls but operating within constraints, both legal and local, 
that are often not fully appreciated by customers, has prompted a service 
review. 

3.4 The review concluded, and Sevenoaks District Council’s Cabinet has 
agreed, that the OOH service should be targeted at times of peak 
demand, as per the previous Dartford service, but offered throughout the 
year.  This report recommends this revised service to Dartford Borough 
Council’s Cabinet. 



CABINET
24 MAY 2018

3.5 It is further recommended that the opportunity be seized to enhance and 
extend access to the service by deployment of new technology.  The 
response for serious or emergency public health complaints, whenever 
they occur, will be unaffected by the proposal set out within this report.

Current Service Model

3.6 The OOH service operates Monday to Thursday 17:00 to 22:00, Friday 
17:00 to 00:00, Saturday 08:00 to 00:00 and Sunday 08:00 to 22:00. The 
service is extended to cover public holidays with the exception of 
Christmas Day and Boxing Day when a “telephone response” service is 
provided.  

3.7 During operational hours, members of the public can contact a duty 
Environmental Protection Officer in respect of environmental complaints 
including noise, odour and smoke etc. 

Calls received after 22:00 or 00:00 and before office opening hours are 
recorded and passed to the Environmental Health Team the next 
working day.

3.8 The OOH duty officer is provided with details of residents who have 
called the OOH service and is expected to call them back within 1 hour. 
The duty officer will provide advice as required and where appropriate 
will undertake site inspections and take action to resolve a complainant’s 
concerns.  Calls received very rarely constitute a significant public health 
matter or an emergency situation which requires immediate attention. 

3.9 Where a call is received regarding a complaint already being 
investigated by the Environmental Health team, or is subject to 
enforcement action, or is deemed to present either a significant public 
health risk or nuisance the OOH duty officer is expected to visit the 
address to obtain evidence and take appropriate enforcement action. 

3.10 OOH duty officers are not paid for call outs and are expected to take time 
off in ‘lieu’ (TOIL) for any OOH visits made during their standard working 
week.  This time is taken during normal office hours and thereby depletes 
the resource available to undertake day to day statutory duties.

3.11 Only appropriately trained and experienced officers can cover the OOH 
service. For each week of the year, the OOH Service is covered by one 
officer from within the Environmental Health team. Officers volunteer for 
these duties and they are carried out in addition to the standard 37 hour 
working week. 

3.12 A decision to return to a Friday and Saturday evening service will lessen 
the demand for OOH officers to cover periods when demand is 
particularly low. This is supported by the analysis of calls below which 
shows that the current OOH service is not effective use of resource.



CABINET
24 MAY 2018

3.13 As explained in this report, the service as currently structured finds it 
difficult to gather the evidence necessary to assess whether actionable 
nuisance exists. In any event, few officers live close enough to be able 
to provide a timely response to an OOH call and self-evidently can only 
provide the service to one complainant at a time.

3.14 Management has therefore looked for a way to target resource at the 
key hours for OOH calls whilst also providing a means of enhancing and 
increasing access to the service for residents.  

Current Costs of Service

3.15 Officers are paid a standby allowance to be on-call but are not paid a 
call out fee or overtime for any hours they work investigating or 
undertaking enforcement OOH.  They are instead expected to claim 
TOIL which includes any travel time to and from their home. 

3.16 Owing to the nature of the area covered by Dartford and Sevenoaks 
most officers live outside of the district and consequently travel time is a 
significant contributor to these costs.

3.17 The total cost to Dartford and Sevenoaks for providing the current OOH 
service is therefore estimated in real terms to be in excess of £22,000 
pa.

Service Volumes

3.18 As stated, in the years since April 2014 the OOH Service has received 
an average of 180 calls per annum relating to Dartford.  

3.19 The majority of calls (70%, circa 130 pa) are received between May and 
October each year between 18.00 Friday to midnight Saturday and on 
Sunday, 10.00-12.00.

3.20 Over 80% of the calls received by the OOH service are in respect of 
noise. The majority of which are in respect of amplified music/ behaviour 
noise from neighbouring domestic properties. A small number relate to 
noise from DIY or construction activities, especially on Sunday 
mornings. 

3.21 Other types of complaint received by the OOH service on Sundays can 
include; alarms, bonfires, and behaviour noise such as banging and 
crashing but these are minimal. Overall, the numbers are very small, with 
the OOH service receiving just 2-3 calls per month on Sundays for 
Dartford. 

3.22 Only 18% of calls in 2016/17 and 25% of calls in 2017/18 received by 
the OOH Service resulted in an Officer undertaking an OOH visit.

3.23 Officers would typically only undertake a visit in response to an OOH 
complaint where it is considered that they can either obtain evidence to 



CABINET
24 MAY 2018

support legal action (either immediate or during working hours) or make 
an immediate and effective difference to the customer.  Types of call 
which commonly result in an OOH visit include:-

 Ongoing noise problems which are currently under 
investigation by EH

 Ongoing/ Sounding alarm (vehicle or property)
 Drainage problems resulting in a sewage overflow (not within 

the remit of the statutory undertaker)
 Complaints about licensed premises where it is alleged there 

is a significant noise problem.
 Noise from large construction sites (such as those operated 

by a major contractor) where noise is outside of District 
Council ‘recommended hours’

3.24 The OOH duty officers work alone. Kent Police do not have the resource 
to provide support to Local Authorities undertaking OOH visits. Officers 
must therefore consider the health and safety implications of lone 
working and must not put themselves at risk.  This can limit the 
effectiveness of the OOH service to resolve complaints, at the time, to 
the satisfaction of residents. For example, the service is unable to 
approach and stop or reduce the noise from ‘one off’ parties for this 
reason.

3.25 Although the OOH Service receives a large number of new/ 1st time/ one 
off event type complaints, this type of call is unlikely to result in action 
being taken OOH and is commonly dealt with through the provision of 
advice.  This type of call could reasonably be responded to within normal 
office hours (in accordance with the Service’s agreed Performance 
Indicators). 

Proposed new model of Service
3.26 Management have reviewed various options for the OOH Service and 

consider that the following makes best use of staff resources whilst most 
closely matching customer demand. 

3.27 As set out above, analysis of the calls received by the service indicates 
that most customers contact the service on Friday and Saturday nights 
between 18:00 and 00:00 and Sunday mornings (10:00 to 12:00) during 
May to October.

3.28 The majority of calls on Sundays result from noise from DIY/ 
Construction Sites or neighbour to neighbour noise- this type of 
complaint rarely constitutes an actionable nuisance on the first occasion 
and so can be reasonably dealt with on the next working day.

The OOH cover could therefore be targeted to 18:00 to 00:00 on Friday 
and Saturday nights, thus returning to hours very similar to the former 
Dartford service.



CABINET
24 MAY 2018

3.29 Statistics indicate that the Environmental Health team receive 
significantly more complaints about nuisance during the summer months 
when residents are sensitised (windows are more likely to be open) and 
noise is more likely to take place externally. The Service could be further 
restricted to the summer months but as service demand during these 
months tends to be driven by the weather it is difficult to predict the 
demand and plan the response i.e. April can be glorious and result in 
open windows and outdoor entertaining with consequent increase in 
demand but it can also be cold and provoke no additional demand. 

It is therefore proposed to offer the OOH Service throughout the year on 
a Friday and Saturday evening between 18.00 and 00.00.

3.30 During these times all calls in respect of environmental health (other than 
1st time complaints) will be passed to the OOH Duty Officer for review 
and investigation as per the current service.

At other times OOH calls will be reviewed and logged by the Dartford 
OOH call handling agent and passed to EH on the following working day.

3.31 A revised procedure note and operational manual will be provided to the 
call handling agent to ensure they provide accurate advice and 
assistance to a customer at the time of their call.  Customers will be 
signposted to further guidance available on the Council’s website and 
provided with practicable steps to begin collecting required evidence, 
such as diary sheets, but see 3.33 below. 

3.32 The proposed system would not impact the response to serious or 
emergency public health matters which would continue to be dealt with 
24/7/365 and would provide an enhanced response during periods of 
highest demand. 

3.33 As part of the review, management also considered whether technology 
could assist both customers and Officers and, in effect, extend the 
‘reach’ of the OOH service. Following evaluation and a short trial the 
Council has obtained the licence for an application (The NoiseApp) that 
runs on smart phones and will enable a resident complaining of possible 
noise nuisance to be ‘registered’ such that they are able to take their 
own recordings of the noise as it happens. The recordings are uploaded 
to the Council’s website and reviewed during normal hours by an Officer 
who can assess and determine the appropriate next steps, in many 
cases without the delay caused by needing to visit. 

3.34 The App will be particularly useful in cases where the nuisance occurs 
without pattern and for short duration, making it extremely difficult for an 
Officer to witness at first hand. Use of the App will provide a reliable and 
effective ‘triage’ for allocation of the Council’s noise nuisance recorders 
(see below). 



CABINET
24 MAY 2018

3.35 Officers are currently considering whether a small number of devices 
could be purchased and be available for loan to residents wishing to 
make use of the App but without access to a smartphone.

Out of Hours work not impacted by this review 
3.36 EH are able to use alternative monitoring techniques and methods to 

either support or replace investigations currently undertaken by the OOH 
Service.  These will ensure the service provided continues to be high 
quality.

3.37 EH currently has nine (9) noise nuisance recorders for use across both 
districts.  These can be deployed proactively into resident’s properties to 
capture intrusive noise.  An external microphone enclosure can be used 
to enable the equipment to be set up externally as required.

3.38 Officers will continue to undertake proactive visits out of hours as 
necessary during their own case investigations.  The team will also 
proactively monitor any event likely to have significant environmental 
health implications (major festival events etc.).

3.39 EH will continue to investigate use of new technologies that will empower 
customers to collect accurate noise data themselves outside of normal 
service hours (e.g. The NoiseApp).

Emergency Planning arrangements are not impacted by this review.
Benchmarking against other Local Authorities

3.40 For the purposes of the review, Environmental Health teams in Kent 
have been contacted requesting details of their OOH service.

3.41 The level of service provision varies throughout Kent.  Of the 11 
surveyed, 3 offer no OOH Service at all (Ashford, Canterbury & 
Tonbridge and Malling), and 7 offer a streamlined service (either reduced 
operational days or by significantly restricting matters that can be dealt 
with). One Local Authority did not respond.

No other Local Authority within Kent operates a service comparable to 
the current OOH Service. 

3.42 Payment for OOH varies considerably between Kent authorities and the 
remuneration currently offered to participants in the EH Partnership 
OOH is competitive.

3.43 Within Kent, 2 OOH Services are either fully or partially undertaken by 
compelling staff to participate through their contract (contract condition).  
All others are staffed using volunteers (i.e. participation is not 
compulsory).



CABINET
24 MAY 2018

Other Options Considered and Rejected by Management 

Keep Service as currently operated

3.44 Whilst all officers can theoretically be required to participate in the 
service, through clauses in the employment contract, many Officers do 
not have sufficient experience/ expertise to be able to easily manage the 
majority of calls received by the OOH Service (noise).  Therefore it is 
considered that it would be necessary to provide training on ‘statutory 
noise nuisance’ and OOH systems for these officers in advance of their 
participation in the service.

3.45 Consideration would have to be given as to how OOH shifts would be 
allocated fairly amongst Officers who are currently part time or those who 
are primary carers. Many staff live significant distances from the 
authority boundaries and the impact of this on the service and costs 
would also need to be thought about.

3.46 It is likely that enforcing the contract of employment will adversely affect 
morale as the OOH service has been run on a voluntary basis 
historically.  Furthermore, the current service model is labour intensive 
and wellbeing and health and safety considerations need to be a priority 
consideration.

3.47 This option would continue to impact upon daytime delivery of the 
Environmental Health service (impact of TOIL) and ability to achieve 
Performance Indicators.

Provide a weekend only service

3.48 Analysis indicates that the OOH Service receives 74% of all calls on the 
Friday night, Saturday and Sunday.  

3.49 Such a service would enable all calls to be responded to within 24hrs as 
is currently the case but would reduce number of hours the OOH duty 
officers are required to be on standby to 35hrs (from 55hrs).

3.50 Enforcement of the officers’ contract clause may still need to be applied 
as in option 1 to adequately staff this option and all considerations with 
regard to part time staff/primary carers/distance from authority 
boundaries would still apply.

3.51 This option will continue to impact upon day time delivery of the service 
(impact of TOIL) but the impact will be lessened.

Weekend Summer Service

3.52 As per option above but during peak periods only [e.g. May-October]. 
Discounted for the reasons stated in 3.29 above.



CABINET
24 MAY 2018

No longer provide an OOH Service
3.53 The Council could consider removing the OOH Service.  The Council 

does not have a legal obligation to provide such a service and most 
complaints could be adequately investigated using pro-active techniques 
during the working week.

3.54 This option would however affect the Council’s ability to respond 
effectively to some complaint types (notably alarms and noise from 
licensed premises).

3.55 This option would generate a saving for Sevenoaks and Dartford 
Councils and would remove any impact upon the daytime delivery of the 
Environmental Health service.

3.56 There appears to be an increasing trend for events and festivals to be 
held each summer. Known events would continue to be supported 
outside of the OOH service. 

4.   Relationship to the Corporate Plan

       This report relates to the Corporate Plan strategic aims to:-

Use the Council’s statutory functions to increase public safety in the Borough 
and,  

Reduce anti-social behaviour. 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other admin implications & risk assessments

Financial Implications The proposal is expected to be funded within 
current budget. The current salary cost of 
operating the OOH service is £14,872 split 
between Dartford and Sevenoaks Councils. This 
will be marginally less for the proposed model with 
the small saving funding the new technology.

Legal Implications The Environmental Protection Act 1990 places a 
duty upon every local authority to take reasonably 
practicable steps to investigate a complaint.  The 
method for discharging this duty is not dictated by 
statute and the Council has no statutory duty to 
maintain an OOH service and is entitled to 
determine what constitutes reasonably practicable 
investigation as determined by s79 of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990.
Legislation does not specify timescales within 
which the investigation of a complaint shall take 
place (the Council’s Performance Indicator for 



CABINET
24 MAY 2018

complaint response is 5 working days).

The NoiseApp has been reviewed to ensure 
compliance with the requirements of the GDPR.

Staffing Implications The proposed service model will reduce the 
number of hours worked by Officers and it is 
expected that it can continue to be provided by 
Officers on a voluntary basis. If this is not the case 
management will take advice from HR and/or 
consider other service models and a further report 
will be submitted to Members.

Administrative Implications As set out in the body of the report.

Risk Assessment There is a risk that if more Officers leave the 
service it may render the OOH service impractical 
to run. Members will be informed should this be 
the case.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

None

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

May 
2018

Annie Sargent 
(01322) 343085

Environmental 
Health 
Strategic Director 
External Services

N/A





CABINET
24 MAY 2018

OBJECTIONS TO DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL (OFF-STREET 
PARKING PLACES) ORDER 2018

1. Summary

1.1 New hours of operation for some of the Council’s car parks and the introduction 
of parking management in two facilities, one new (The Grove, Swanscombe) 
and one existing (Highfield Road (South)), were proposed and the applicable 
fees and charges approved as part of the Council’s GAC (Budget) on 26th 
February 2018. However, objections were received for the introduction of 
parking management in the Council’s ‘Highfield Road (South) Car Park’ during 
the Order making process.

1.2 This report summarises the results of the statutory traffic regulation order 
consultation undertaken from 15th March to 5th April 2018.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Cabinet consider objections received to the Dartford Borough Council 
(Off-street Parking Places) Order 2018 and determine how to proceed.

3. Background and discussion

3.1. A management review of parking place management due to the loss of 
parking provision to development and changes to the way in which the 
town centre is visited proposed that:

 Parking management be introduced in Highfield Road (South) car 
park due to periodic complaints about commuter parking; 
observations of residents fixing and/or leaving cars in it; and revenue 
spend for green maintenance (trees and hedging). Management of 
the facility will reduce saturation providing more spaces for visitors to 
the locality.

3.2. The change from an unmanaged (free) car park to a managed (pay) car 
park was included in the fees and charges approved under delegation 
by Cabinet and included in the General Assembly of the Council 
(Budget) on 26th February 2018.

3.3. Upon completing the statutory consultation for the ‘Dartford Borough 
Council (Off-street Parking Places) Order 2018’ in order to formalise the 
proposal four objections were received against the management of 
Highfield Road (South) Car Park. These were from a local resident, one 
commuter and from two of the local councillors, who submitted a joint 
response. The objections are summarised below, together with Officer’s 
comments.



CABINET
24 MAY 2018

Objection 
from Summary of Objection Officer comments

Resident Expressed concern re. lack of 
nearby on-road parking due to 
DYLs and proximity of 
college/school impacting her 
and her husband’s ability to 
park 

The resident lives a considerable 
distance north of the car park in a 
different section of Highfield Road. Like 
many others in that section of Highfield 
Road, the property has hardstanding as 
its front garden. It is common (albeit 
illegal) practice for the residents here to 
drive over the footway to park on 
hardstanding within property boundaries. 
There are also opportunities to park on-
street closer to this section of Highfield 
Road, e.g. Heath Road where there is 
ample capacity.

Commuter Questioned the need to charge 
but acknowledged some mis-
use of the car park. Stated that 
many of those using the car 
park work in the town centre 
and that £25 per week in 
parking fees is not affordable 
for her. Would like fees to be 
free or reduced. Concerned 
about displacement.

The rationale for introducing parking 
management is to address mis-use and 
free up spaces for residents and short 
stay visitors. The proposals include a 
monthly Season Ticket rate of £60 which 
equates to a weekly rate of under £14 
rather than the £25 identified by the 
commuter for a five day week. 
Furthermore, the £60 Season Ticket is 
valid for six days a week bringing the day 
rate down to £2.31. The monthly Season 
Ticket meets the commuter’s wish for a 
reduced parking fee. Displacement into 
nearby residential streets is possible, but 
not expected as kerb-space is already 
either managed or saturated.

2 x Local 
Councillors
(jointly)

Expressed concerns that:-
Proper consultation was not 
carried out and residents in the 
vicinity do not support the 
proposal and/or were unaware 
of the proposal;
There is a lack of clarity around 
the rationale for introduction of 
charges and dispute that the 
car park is used heavily by 
commuters and subject to mis-
use;

There was lack of research to 
establish current usage/activity 
or consider impact of any 
displacement. Made the point 
that residents have previously   
requested introduction of a CPZ 

The proposal introduces charges to an 
existing car park. A significant number of 
objections was not anticipated as many 
residents appear to park on their 
driveways or on the street. Low usage of 
the car park at weekends strongly 
supports that week-day demand/usage is 
from commuters. Managing the asset will 
help to make the facility available for 
residents in the vicinity and visitors; stop 
undesirable uses; and help to cover the 
cost of its maintenance.

Displacement can occur due to pricing 
elasticity, but there are few places to 
displace to in the vicinity of this car park. 
Kerb space is either already managed or 
‘saturated’ by residents’ vehicles and 
vehicle crossovers.



CABINET
24 MAY 2018

because commuters park on 
the roads of Tree Estate.

The statutory notice was only 
displayed on a number of 
lampposts in the vicinity of the 
car park and the draft order only 
available at the Council offices 
during office hours. Felt that 
this excluded those with 
mobility, sight issues or who 
missed the notices or work 
during office hours. Concerned 
the Council is in breach of the 
Disability Discrimination Act.

The statutory process requires 
publication of the Notice in the local press 
and Notices placed on site and complies 
with the requirements of the Equalities 
Act. The Council followed this process 
and users of the car park will have seen 
the Notices placed on site, hence 
responses being received. The low 
response (less than 4% of users) is fairly 
typical for facilities/kerb space used 
predominantly by commuters.

3.4. The statutory process requires that ‘valid objections must be 
considered’. Cabinet is asked to consider the objections received as 
detailed above, together with officer’s comments and determine how to 
proceed from the following options:

1. Introduce the parking management as proposed.
2. Introduce the parking management as proposed and monitor the 

displacement effect to specified streets nearby and consider a review 
of the regulations six months later.

3. Introduce the parking management as proposed and amend one or 
both of the on-street pay-and-display bays on Heath Street to limited 
waiting to allow for short visits to residents and businesses nearby.

4. Do not introduce parking management at the facility and allow 
inappropriate uses to continue and continue to maintain the facility 
without income to off-set costs.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

None.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications The car park is situated on land held for housing 
purposes. Maintenance costs will therefore be 
paid from the Housing Revenue Account should 
the decision be taken not to manage the facility 
and will impact the resources available for the 
repair and maintenance of the Council’s housing 
stock.

Implementation costs include the installation of a 
new pay-and-display machine as agreed at 
Cabinet’s meeting 12th April 2018 Item No. 132. 
The installation cost of £4k can be eliminated if 



CABINET
24 MAY 2018

proposal 4 at paragraph 3.4 is selected.

Income estimates have not been included in the 
budget to date but it is likely that around £5k 
would be raised in parking charges over the 
course of a year.

The installations cost for lines ad signs is 
estimated at £750 and will be met from an 
existing budget for ‘Tarmac areas’.

On-going costs will also include any business 
rates due.

Legal Implications The completion of the statutory process for the 
traffic regulation order including the ‘sealing’ of 
the TRO.

Staffing Implications Supervising the installation of the scheme and 
on-going patrols and enforcement of the scheme 
will be met by existing staff.

Administrative 
Implications

The provision of Season Ticket issue via existing 
Council systems.

Risk Assessment Vehicle displacement may occur resulting in 
residents from neighbouring streets requesting 
parking management regulations.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

None.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Car Parks Order: Highfield 
Road (South).

- Principal Transport 
Planner

Planning & 
Regeneration

N/A



CABINET
24 MAY 2018

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
12 JUNE 2018

CORPORATE PLAN – KEY ACTIONS AND PERFORMANCE 
INDICATORS MONITORING REPORT

1. Summary

1.1 This report provides the progress with the latest set of Corporate Plan key 
actions and performance indicators for quarter 4 of 2017-18.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Members note the contents of the key action and performance indicator 
monitoring reports attached at Appendices A and B.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Corporate Plan 2017-20 was approved by the General Assembly of 
the Council on the 17 July 2017 (Min. No. 34 refers). The Plan delivers 
the vision and priorities for the Council and Borough through the 
following five themes:

 Economic Development and Regeneration

 Health and Wellbeing

 Safer Communities

 Environment and Sustainability

 Housing and Stronger Communities

3.2. The Plan also includes the following theme relating to the Council itself:

 A Council Performing Strongly

3.3. Each theme includes a series of key actions setting out what the Council 
wants to achieve, and a set of performance indicators relating to the 
Council’s own service performance and the wider performance of the 
Borough.

3.4. Appendices A and B presents an update on the progress with meeting 
the key actions and performance indicators for the fourth quarter of 
2017-18.

3.5. The performance indicators either present data only or they have targets 
assigned to them. Most indicators report quarterly but some indicators 
may report annually, and these have been identified in the report.



CABINET
24 MAY 2018

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
12 JUNE 2018

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

4.1 This report presents the data on the Corporate Plan Performance 
Indicators.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative 
Implications

None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Key Actions Monitoring Report
Appendix B – Performance Indicators Monitoring Report 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Corporate Plan 2017-20 Sarah Williamson
(01322) 343470

Policy and Corporate 
Support

Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A



1

APPENDIX A
DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL – CORPORATE PLAN 2017-20

Key Actions Monitoring Report – Q4 2017/18
1. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION
Strategic Aim: To ensure that regeneration in Dartford is sustainable and of benefit to all of our communities

Key Action Q4 Update

Work with landowners and developers to bring forward the next phases 
of development on Lowfield Street, which includes community space 
and housing

Development has planning consent and S106 has been signed.  Awaiting submission 
of details for pre-commencement conditions on first phase of the scheme at the 
northern end.  A  Reserved Matters application has been submitted (April 2018) for 
the parcel of land towards the southern end of the site which is to provide the 
affordable housing.

Appoint and work with a developer to redevelop the Co-op site The development agreement has been finalised. Work is now progressing to satisfy 
the title conditions.

Design and implement a Town Centre improvement scheme which will 
include an improved public realm and improved access into and 
around the Town Centre, particularly for those on foot

Cabinet considered a report 12/04/2018 and agreed delegated authority for project 
progression.

Full business case submitted for LEP's Accountability Board 27/04/2018 - awaiting 
outcome of £4.3m LGF bid.

Create an enhanced space in Market Street which links the town to the 
Park and enhances the setting of the Library and Museum with room to 
expand the market space and provide a public square

Cabinet considered a report 12/04/2018 and agreed delegated authority for project 
progression.

Full business case submitted for LEP's Accountability Board 27/04/2018 - awaiting 
outcome of £4.3m LGF bid.

Work with developers and the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation to 
deliver 6,000 homes

675 homes delivered to date at the Ebbsfleet Garden City sites which have 
commenced in Dartford: Eastern Quarry (528) and Ebbsfleet Green (147). Delivery 
has been slower than expected but consents are in place for the 1st phase of 1,500 
homes at Eastern Quarry. An amended masterplan and revised S106 have been 
agreed for the remainder of the site, which comprises 4,750 units.

Work with developers, Kent County Council and Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation to plan for the improvement of the Fastrack 
system and its extension to the new developments

Ingress Park Fastrack secondary access route expected to be operational shortly. 
Fastrack route through the Millpond development and Northern Gateway East being 
constructed as part of the new development. Work started on Fastrack route through 
Eastern quarry.

Rejuvenate the Acacia Hall site by providing a new entrance into 
Market Street, removing unsuitable buildings, improving the riverbank 
and increasing the number of car parking spaces

Works out to tender and planning/ Listed Building Consent applied for; anticipated 
approvals June 2018; site start July/August, subject to planning.



2

Set up a business advice website which will provide information and 
useful links for businesses in the area or looking to relocate to Dartford

A website has been developed which is currently used as a portal for the Dartford 
Business Awards. We are working with the Kent & Medway Growth Hub, and local 
businesses to make the site an active portal for business news and advice.

Introduce a new Dartford Business Awards competition The 2018 Dartford Business Awards was launched in April.
Continue to develop the quality of the Town Centre appeal, 
attractiveness and ambience

We continue to support Town Centre improvements and events to improve viability 
and vitality.

2. HEALTH AND WELLBEING
Strategic Aim: To reduce overall health inequality in Dartford and to provide for a rich and varied quality of life

Key Action Q4 Update
Develop a new rugby facility on the Stone Lodge site, in conjunction 
with related green space, including formal and informal recreational 
facilities

Works out to tender and planning application made; anticipated planning approval 
late May 2018 with a site start June/July, subject to planning.

Continue to deliver public health initiatives across the Borough, 
including Healthy Weight, Dementia Awareness, Don't Sit Get Fit, 
Health Walks and Healthy Workplaces

Community Postural Stability classes are gentle exercise classes for older people at 
risk of falls. In quarter 4, 21 sessions ran. The number of attendances were 174. 
Attendees were 78.

There are currently 6 Health Walks in the Borough. In quarter 4, 67 Health Walk 
sessions ran. The number of attendances were 600. Attendees were 273. There were 
26 new people that joined the walks.

Get Active’s aim is to promote low cost physical activity opportunities across the 
Borough.  In quarter 4, 20 sessions ran and the number of attendances were 232. 
Attendees were 95.

Why Weight is a free 12 week adult weight management programme designed for 
residents with a BMI of 28+. In quarter 4, 70 people were engaged with the 
programme. 42 of these completed the course of which 9 achieved a weight loss of 
>5%.

Don’t Sit Get Fit/Dynamo’s are family weight management programmes. 29 families 
have been booked to start. 21 families completed the programme.

In terms of Dementia Awareness, the Healthy Lifestyles Coordinator continues to 
attend local meetings and events.

Healthy Workplaces is run in partnership with The Grand, Gravesend. The healthy 
business award scheme has no longer been available to promote or use since 
December 2017. Despite this, 4 of the 5 businesses engaged are happy to continue 



3

to work on the Healthy Workplace programme. Two further companies have been 
signed to the programme.

Continue to grant fund organisations which support better physical and 
mental health outcomes

6 Salute to Youth grants were awarded to organisations during this period totalling 
£10,762 including funding towards starting a new Parkrun on Dartford Heath. One 
grant payment was carried over to the next quarter due to a late delivery of goods 
purchased. The Community Grant was fully allocated in quarter 3.

Work with Places for People to develop the Council's leisure offer

Despite facing increased issues with the parking and gym space, Fairfield has 
completed the busiest quarter of the year, which has shown in club growth and club 
live members reaching 3,470 at the end of March 2018. This is the highest the site 
has achieved since re-opening. The site swim lessons have again reached a club 
high of 2,022 swimmers and shows that there is still growth in the local area and an 
appetite for local residents to join a great leisure centre.

Work with commercial and community groups to widen residents' 
access to culture and arts in the Town Centre

The Council is working with local arts organisations to curate a series of exhibitions in 
the Sir Peter Blake Gallery. There is currently an exhibition of poetry written by local 
residents and preparations are under way for the Summer Exhibition and the 
Children’s Summer Exhibition.

Deliver a range of free and paid for events throughout the year A number of events are being planned for 2018, including the Steam Fair, St Georges 
Day and Dartford Festival.

Continue to deliver green space as part of residential and business 
developments

Green space and play areas have been provided as part of development on Castle 
Hill and St Clements Lakes.  Design of green spaces and waterside areas is being 
progressed at Northern Gateway and Millpond.  Work is commencing on sports field 
provision at The Bridge, with proposals for an informal kickabout area at the western 
end of the site also being progressed.  Masterplanning work is being undertaken on 
the green space provision as part of the Stone Lodge development. Further green 
space provision will be planned as new planning applications come forward.

Work with Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning 
Group to bring forward plans for a health hub on the Co-op site

One Public Estate have now come back with an offer of funding by way of a non-
repayable grant. This funding has been accepted. A meeting has been arranged 
between the Council, Muse and the CCG to discuss plans for the hub and funding 
options.



4

3. SAFER COMMUNITIES
Strategic Aim: To create a safer borough in which to live, work and socialise

Key Action Q4 Update
Continue to utilise measures such as Community Protection 
Warnings/Notices, Public Space Protection Orders, and Acceptable 
Behaviour Agreements to modify behaviour that impacts negatively on 
others

This initiative continues and the CSU, Housing and EH utilise these tools to good 
effect.

Work with partners to deliver programmes designed to reduce anti-
social behaviour

Successful funding bids have been granted by the PCC to bolster CCTV capability 
and DTAC towards detecting and thereby reducing anti-social behaviour. 

Ensure that businesses are meeting their regulatory safety duties in 
relation to food hygiene and employee/public health and safety

100% of high risk food premises inspections were achieved. 89% of all lower risk 
premises were achieved, despite staff shortages. 97% of food businesses in Dartford 
are compliant with food law.

Continue joint Police and Council Licensing Team visits to licensed 
premises in Dartford to ensure adherence to licensing conditions and 
to ensure the responsible sale of alcohol

The excellent relationship with the Council licensing officers and Kent Police 
continues to flourish and there have been some very good results in terms of joint 
advice and enforcement activity in the town's pubs and clubs. There has also been 
very innovative training in safeguarding and counter terrorism for taxi and private hire 
drivers.

Continue to develop the Better Cars and Better Cabs accreditation 
scheme in Dartford

Council licensing have set a new trend in introducing a series of workshops in 
partnership with Kent Fire and Rescue and Kent Police. This involves bespoke 
training in safeguarding, counter terrorism, relevant legislation and road safety 
measures. The scheme is proving very successful.

Continue to work with partners to reduce crime and anti-social 
behaviour in Borough businesses and public open spaces, providing 
vital intelligence and assistance to the Police and reassurance to both 
day and night time economy businesses and the public

DTAC is recognised as being one of the best business crime partnerships in the 
country. The initiative to introduce Community Protection Warnings instead of 
banning notices has been successful and the implementation of a Public Spaces 
Protection Order in the Town and Central Park areas seeks to reduce anti-social 
behaviour particularly excess drinking in public places. 



5

4. ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY
Strategic Aim: To promote an environment which is attractive, with improved air quality and which provides a realistic choice of travel

Key Action Q4 Update
Procure a new waste collection contract Work is on schedule.

Enforcement Officers will continue to appropriately enforce legal 
requirements in respect of littering, dog fouling, fly tipping, and parking

The Council have led on the introduction of the new £400 Fly Tip FPN (£250 early 
payment fee) and remain one of very few local authorities within Kent to have made 
best use of this, although others are coming on board gradually. The Council has also 
supported the DEFRA consultation ‘Waste Duty of Care’ which seeks to introduce a 
new FPN for household duty of care offences for fly tipping at a cost of £400 reduced 
to £250 if paid within 10 days. 

A scheme to actively involve communities in helping to keep their local 
area clean will be implemented

Volunteer scheme is up and running, equipment to facilitate volunteer litter picking 
has been purchased. A number of groups have been established.

Work with developers to agree standards of design, layout and energy 
efficiency on proposed developments

Energy efficiency standards now incorporated in national building regulation 
standards. Standards for design and layout have been agreed through the 
Development Policies Plan Document, adopted in July 2017.

Work with partners to ensure that the Lower Thames Crossing, east of 
Gravesend, is expedited at the earliest possible opportunity

Design of scheme being progressed by Highways England.  Submission of 
application due late 2018, with decision in 2020.  If private finance route is followed, 
construction to start 2023 with completion in 2027.

Produce a scheme for the repair of the Civic Centre, which will include 
energy efficiency measures Completed.

Monitor air quality in the Borough in accordance with national 
requirements and seek to identify and implement measures within our 
control which have a positive impact upon air quality and/or reduce the 
potential health impact of pollution incidents

The air quality levels continue to be monitored and all actions within our available 
powers are taken to minimise pollution levels.



6

5. HOUSING AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES
Strategic Aim: To facilitate quality choice and diversity in the housing market, assist in meeting housing need in Dartford and deliver high quality 
services to service users

Key Action Q4 Update
Encourage, facilitate and enable all types of housing to be built, which 
will meet the various types of need in the Borough. This will include the 
Council's own build programme

Target achieved for delivery of affordable homes in the Borough for 2017/18. The 
Council’s new build programme is progressing well on time and within budget. Phase 
2 of the Council new build programme is close to being finalised for approval.

Work with developers and registered providers to deliver 120 
affordable homes during 2017/18

Delivery target achieved. 173 affordable homes were delivered in 2017/18 against a 
target of 140.

Include community facilities as part of major new developments

First primary school at Eastern Quarry has been opened. A primary school at 
Ebbsfleet Green is being progressed.  Land has been acquired for primary school at 
Northern Gateway, a Trust has been selected and the school is expected to open in 
2019.  A secondary school is to be provided as part of the Stone Lodge development, 
expected to open in 2020.  Plans for a health hub as part of the development of the 
former Co-op site in Dartford Town Centre are being progressed.  Management 
arrangements for the community centre at Ingress Park are being put in place.

Provide grants to communities and individuals through the Community 
Grant and Salute to Youth Schemes

6 Salute to Youth grants were awarded to organisations during this period totalling 
£10,762 including funding towards starting a new Parkrun on Dartford Heath. One 
grant payment was carried over to the next quarter due to a late delivery of goods 
purchased. The Community Grant was fully allocated in quarter 3.

Deliver or support events such as Dartford Festival, St Georges Day 
and the Festival of Light Programme has been drawn up, and budget approved.

Submit a bid to the Heritage Lottery Fund for the refurbishment of 
Dartford Museum

The Council is working with HLF to bring the Museum to the point where a realistic 
bid could be made, however the funding arrangements have now been considerably 
changed by HLF and officers are looking at the effect this could have on any bid. 
Work on bringing the catalogues up to date continues.

Maximise the number of people registered to vote The number of electors being added to the Register of Electors is increasing. Active 
canvassing chasing outstanding applications has seen return rates increase.



7

6. A COUNCIL PERFORMING STRONGLY
Strategic Aim: To provide high quality services that reflect public aspirations and demonstrate improvement

Key Action Q4 Update
Deliver a Channel Shift programme providing excellent service to 
customers, where, how and when they want it and delivering value for 
money

Continuing.

Deliver a Flexible Working Scheme to reduce the running costs of the 
Council

Agile working continues to be trialled in two departments within the Council for a 
period of six months (one in Internal Services and one in External Services).  
Feedback on successes and concerns will be received and reviewed before rolling 
out further.

Undertake a continuing review of budgets and processes to ensure 
maximum value for money and ensuring a balanced budget

Budget approved in February. Next cycle to start in July with review of Medium Term 
Financial Plan.

 
Undertake a programme of repairs to the Civic Centre which will 
reduce running costs 2017/18 programme delivered on time and within budget.

Work with other Local Authorities in Kent, the Local Government 
Association and Government to introduce 100% retention of Business 
Rates

Kent pilot agreed by government and starts April 2018. Work continues with other 
local authorities on agreeing exact mechanisms for how gains are distributed.

Work with the Boundary Commission to review warding arrangements 
in the Borough and introduce any changes by May 2019

The Council’s response to the LGBCE’s draft recommendations goes to GAC on 5 
April. Once agreed, this will be submitted to the LGBCE. The LGBCE’s final 
recommendations will be published in June 2018 and will come into effect from the 
May 2019 elections. Work is progressing on the Community Governance Review. A 
briefing session was held with the parishes on 28 March. The parishes and other 
interested parties have until 27 April to make their submissions. Draft 
recommendations will be published in June and will also come into effect from the 
May 2019 elections.

 





1

APPENDIX B
DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL – CORPORATE PLAN 2017-20

Performance Indicators Monitoring Report – Q4 2017/18
Performance Indicator Status

Alert

Warning

OK

Data Only Indicator (no target)

1. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT AND REGENERATION

Council Performance Indicators
2016/17 Q1 2017/18 Q2 2017/18 Q3 2017/18 Q4 2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Community Infrastructure Levy 
income £2,061,024 £66,196 £185,089 £392,687 £150,085 £794,057  

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) has been applied to 
eligible development since April 2014. During quarter 4 of 
2017/18, one payment has been made, which is one part of 
three instalment payments associated with a large 
development. Payments can rise or fall from quarter to 
quarter, as CIL is only triggered upon commencement of 
consented development. 15% of the revenue generated from 
CIL liable developments in a local area, will be passed to 
town/parish councils and applied to projects in local 
neighbourhoods, and a further proportion of the total CIL 
revenue will be used for administrative costs. In December 
2017 Cabinet resolved that no CIL allocations would be made 
during the financial year 2018/19, due to identified potential 
infrastructure project plans not being sufficiently advanced. 
However, this situation will be kept under review.

Overall Borough Indicators
2016/17 Q1 2017/18 Q2 2017/18 Q3 2017/18 Q4 2017/18 2017/18 Note

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target

Overall business birth rate 740
Not 

measured for 
Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
N/A  

The Business Demography data set refers to new business 
registrations as business births. Latest available figures show 
there were 740 business births in 2016 which is up 0.68% from 



2

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 2017/18 Q2 2017/18 Q3 2017/18 Q4 2017/18 2017/18

Target
Note

Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

the previous year. In Kent overall (KCC area), the business 
birth rate in 2016 was 8,730. This is an annual indicator and 
2017 data is due at the end of November 2018.

Overall business death rate 495
Not 

measured for 
Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
N/A  

The Business Demography data set refers to businesses that 
have ceased to trade (identified through de-registration of the 
administrative units, that is, VAT and PAYE) as business 
deaths. Latest available figures show there were 495 business 
deaths in 2016, which is up 25.31% from the previous year. In 
Kent overall (KCC area), the business death rate in 2016 was 
7,325. This is an annual indicator and 2017 data is due at the 
end of November 2018.

District wide unemployment rate 1.2% 1.2% 1.2% 1.1% 1.3% 1.3%  

There were 865 unemployed people in the Borough in March 
2018, which represents an unemployment rate of 1.3%. This 
has increased since the previous month (40 more unemployed 
people in March than in February). In Kent overall (KCC area), 
the unemployment rate in March 2018 was 1.9%.

Total monthly Town Centre footfall 6,226,617 1,816,413 1,993,454 1,455,695 329,370
(Jan)

5,594,932
(Apr – Jan)  The contract has not currently been renewed and hence we 

are no longer receiving footfall data.

Number of new homes completed 
(April-March) 1,162

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
1,031  Housing delivery continues to be strong.

2. HEALTH AND WELLBEING

Council Performance Indicators
2016/17 Q1 2017/18 Q2 2017/18 Q3 2017/18 Q4 2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: 
Total Fairfield Centre Visits 459,270 133,341 130,179 110,826 130,570 504,916  

Despite facing increased issues with the parking and gym 
space, Fairfield has completed the busiest quarter of the year, 
which has shown in club growth and club live members 
reaching 3,470 at the end of March 2018. This is the highest 
the site has achieved since re-opening. The site swim lessons 
again reach a club high of 2,022 swimmers and shows that 
there is still growth in the local area and an appetite for local 
residents to join a great leisure centre.  

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: 
Average Number of Park Run Users 146 157 161 162 165 161  This event continues to be well supported.

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: 37 35 36 35 35 35  This event continues to be well supported.



3

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 2017/18 Q2 2017/18 Q3 2017/18 Q4 2017/18 2017/18

Target Note
Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Average Number of Junior Park 
Run Users

Usage of DBC Sports Facilities: 
Princes Park Mini Pitch Users 179 45 37 56 53 191  

Usage for this quarter is slightly down compared to this 
quarter last year due to the weather in February and March 
(snow) and the Easter weekend being at the end of March

Number of local groups supported 
through Community Grant and 
other grant schemes

34 4 5 22 7 38  

In quarter 4 there was 1 grant awarded under the DBC 
Community Fund and 6 organisations were awarded a grant 
under the Salute to Youth Scheme. The annual Community 
Grant for 2017/18 has been distributed.

Percentage attendance at the 
Orchard Theatre (% of total seats 
available which are used)

61.33% 49% 54.67% 72.67% 61.33% 59.42%  Audience attendances remain consistent and higher than the 
same quarter in 2017.

Overall Borough Indicators
2016/17 Q1 2017/18 Q2 2017/18 Q3 2017/18 Q4 2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Life expectancy gap for men
Latest value 
is for 2013-
15 – see note

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
N/A  

Latest available figures for 2013-15 show that life expectancy 
is 9.4 years lower for men in the most deprived areas of 
Dartford than in the least deprived areas. In Kent overall (KCC 
area) life expectancy is 7.7 years lower for men. This is an 
annual indicator and the next update is due July 2018.

Life expectancy gap for women
Latest value 
is for 2013-
15 – see note

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
N/A  

Latest available figures for 2013-15 show that life expectancy 
is 4.5 years lower for women in the most deprived areas of 
Dartford than in the least deprived areas. In Kent overall (KCC 
area) life expectancy is 4.4 years lower for women. This is an 
annual indicator and the next update is due July 2018.

Percentage of obese children in 
Year 6 21.9%

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
N/A  

Latest available figures for 2016/17 show that 21.9% of 
children in Year 6 (10-11 year olds) were classified as obese 
in the Borough. This is higher than the previous year where 
21.1% of children in Year 6 were classified as obese. In Kent 
overall (KCC area) for 2016/17, the figure is 18.5%. This is an 
annual indicator and the next update is due in 2019.

Percentage of adults achieving at 
least 150 minutes of physical 
exercise per week

Latest value 
is for 2015-
16 – see note

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
N/A  

Latest available figures for 2015/16 show that 63.1% of adults 
were physically active in the Borough. This indicator is defined 
as the percentage of adults (aged 19+) that meet Chief 
Medical Officer recommendations for physical activity (150+ 
moderate intensity equivalent minutes per week). 



4

3. SAFER COMMUNITIES

Council Performance Indicators
2016/17 Q1 2017/18 Q2 2017/18 Q3 2017/18 Q4 2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Total number of arrests instigated 
by CCTV this month 72 16 19 18 25 78  Outcomes have remained generally consistent over the last 

year.

Total number of arrests supported 
by CCTV this month 59 9 15 25 9 58  Lower than average, but other indicators suggest that this is 

within tolerance.

Number of businesses supporting 
Dartford Town Against Crime 
(DTAC)

209 97 108 115 116 436  Performance remains consistent.

Number of Dartford Town Against 
Crime (DTAC) interventions against 
persistent offenders

22 2 4 5 3 14  
Performance remains within tolerance levels. The introduction 
of GDPR underlines the advantage of using primary 
legislation over exclusion notices.

Number of Community Protection 
Warnings issued

New indicator 
for 2017/18 104 84 110 81 379  This continues to be a highly effective tool in tackling anti-

social behaviour across the district.

Number of Community Protection 
Notices issued

New indicator 
for 2017/18 26 10 10 0 46  The low numbers of Community Protection Notices reflects 

the effectiveness of Community Protection Warnings.

Number of Public Space Protection 
Order Enforcement Notices issued

New indicator 
for 2017/18 N/A N/A N/A 0 0  The performance reflects the vulnerability of the enforcement 

principally laying with another agency.

Number of Acceptable Behaviour 
Agreements issued

New indicator 
for 2017/18 4 10 4 9 27  The replacement of the JFMP PCSO (post has been vacant) 

is reinvigorating this process.

Percentage of High risk (categories 
A & B) food hygiene inspections 
due and completed (cumulative)

100% 63.64% 81.82% 96.43% 100% 100% 100% All high risk premises were inspected in time and in 
accordance with Food Standards Agency Guidelines.

Overall Borough Indicators
2016/17 Q1 2017/18 Q2 2017/18 Q3 2017/18 Q4 2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Number of reported anti-social 
behaviour incidents in the Borough 
by the Police

2,982 666 575 506 242
(Jan – Feb)

1,989
(Apr – Feb)  The data for this performance indicator is collected by an 

external agency and March data has not been published yet. 

Total number of crimes reported in 
the Borough 10,098 2,923 2,980 3,196 1,874

(Jan – Feb)
10,973
(Apr – Feb)  The data for this performance indicator is collected by an 

external agency and March data has not been published yet.



5

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 2017/18 Q2 2017/18 Q3 2017/18 Q4 2017/18 2017/18

Target Note
Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Number of criminal damage 
offences reported in the Borough 1,652 399 345 397 207

(Jan – Feb)
1,348
(Jan – Feb)  The data for this performance indicator is collected by an 

external agency and March data has not been published yet.

4. ENVIRONMENT AND SUSTAINABILITY

Council Performance Indicators
2016/17 Q1 2017/18 Q2 2017/18 Q3 2017/18 Q4 2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

The average results of Nitrogen 
Dioxide levels from all automatic air 
quality monitoring stations in the 
Borough (micrograms per m2)

New indicator 
for 2017/18 38.6 37.5 51.4 45 43.1  Value has increased slightly due to weather conditions and 

increased road use.

Number of households taking part 
in energy efficiency initiatives in 
the Borough

571 39 31 100 71 241  Numbers likely to remain high. Awaiting final numbers from 
external agencies.

Number of households taking part 
in green bin service 6,141 5,640 5,804 5,830 5,687 5,740 6,000 The number of customers has settled at around 5,750.

Number of fly tipping incidents 159 591 745 557 667 2,560 120 Incidents of small dumping (mattresses, fridges, settees, etc) 
remain high.

Number of graffiti incidents 59 17 9 15 17 58 120 The level of graffiti in the Borough remains low.

Percentage of household waste 
going to landfill 1.7% 1.4% 1.1% 0.9% 0.6%

(Jan)
0.6%
Apr – Jan)  

Very little waste is now sent to landfill. The data for this 
performance indicator is collected by Kent County Council 
and February and March data is waiting to be received.  

5. HOUSING AND STRONGER COMMUNITIES

Council Performance Indicators
2016/17 Q1 2017/18 Q2 2017/18 Q3 2017/18 Q4 2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

No of households on the housing 
register 1,064 1,094 1,110 1,114 1,134 1,134  The 2017/18 outturn is slightly higher than 2016/17.

No of households living in 
temporary accommodation 107 90 97 99 108 108  The 2017/18 outturn is slightly higher than 2016/17 but the 

number is consistently around 100 throughout the year.



6

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 2017/18 Q2 2017/18 Q3 2017/18 Q4 2017/18 2017/18

Target Note
Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Number of households where 
homelessness has been prevented 50 21 19 19 19 78  The 2017/18 outturn is slightly higher than 2016/17 which is 

positive.

Number of service requests 
completed for Private Sector 
Housing

429 64 55 59 56 234 250 Slightly below target when report run but some requests are 
still in the system awaiting action.

Percentage of repairs completed in 
time 90.92% 85.16% 85.56% 90.37% 89.56% 87.62% 98.00%

End of year outturn has not recovered due to poor 
performance in early 2017/18. Management action has 
improved the situation considerably and things have 
continued to improve giving the performance indicator the 
opportunity to achieve target in 2018/19. Management action 
continues as reported to Scrutiny Committee in February 
2018.

Average time taken to re-let local 
authority housing (in calendar 
days) (EXCL major works).

20.41 21.56 24.04 19.31 19.05 21.02 20

Performance dipped in the summer due to a high number of 
supported housing voids that were difficult to let and 
properties that required extensive works. Performance has 
recovered in the winter but regrettably did not achieve target 
by the end of the financial year. When benchmarking, 
however, this performance level would achieve top quartile for 
peer local authorities in terms of key to key dates for void 
turnaround.

Overall Borough Indicators
2016/17 Q1 2017/18 Q2 2017/18 Q3 2017/18 Q4 2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Number of affordable homes 
delivered (gross) 239 44 31 30 68 173 140 Target achieved for 2017/18.

Number of new homes completed 
(April-March) 1,162

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters

Not 
measured for 

Quarters
1,031  Housing delivery continues to be strong.

Number of service requests raised 
for Private Sector Housing

New indicator 
for 2017/18 62 63 61 86 272  As expected - high levels of enquiries.

No of private sector vacant 
dwellings that are returned into 
occupation or demolished

101 16 47 22 15 100 100 The 2017/18 outturn is on target which is positive.



7

6. A COUNCIL PERFORMING STRONGLY

Council Performance Indicators
2016/17 Q1 2017/18 Q2 2017/18 Q3 2017/18 Q4 2017/18 2017/18

Performance Indicator
Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Target Note

Percentage of in-year Business 
Rates collected

New indicator 
for 2017/18 N/A 31.2% 56.2% 83.9% 98.9% 98.9% 98.8%

Having exceeded the in-year collection target by 0.1%, this 
level of performance will again ensure that Dartford will be in 
the top quartile of performing authorities in respect of in-year 
business rates collection.

Number of phone calls received by 
the Council 577,329 129,551 131,994 118,545 138,268 518,358  

There has been a similar decline in telephone contact, 
compared to the same quarter of last year, of just under 7%, 
from 148,612 to 138,268. This again is likely to be due, in 
part, to the increase in issues that can be resolved through 
the Council’s website.

Percentage of in-year Council Tax 
collected

New indicator 
for 2017/18 N/A 29.4% 56.7% 84% 97% 97% 97.3%

Despite being 0.3% down against target, the amount of 
Council Tax collected compared to last year has increased by 
£3.8million. The drop in the in-year collection rate correlates 
with the ever increasing rise in the tax base and the 
subsequent rise in the amount of collectable debit due. Over 
the last 12 months, the tax base has risen from 44,227 (March 
2017) to 45,390 (March 2018). These figures represent the 
number of Band D equivalent dwellings in the Borough.

Factors that will have contributed to a detrimental impact on 
collection will be the changes made to the Council Tax 
Reduction scheme (raising the minimum contribution for 
working-age claimants from 18.5% to 20% and introducing the 
Minimum Income Floor for the self-employed) and the 
combined impact of other welfare reforms.

Average number of DBC working 
days lost due to short term (<4 
weeks) illness per employee

4.39 0.58 0.71 1.06 0.81
(Jan – Feb)

3.16
(Apr – Feb) 4.12

Short term absence figures for March 2018 are not yet 
available due to a change-over in the HR and Payroll System. 
On track to be under target for 2017/18.

Average number of DBC working 
days lost due to long term (>4 
weeks) illness per employee

2.38 0.44 0.9 0.7 1.11 3.15 3.0

Majority of long term sickness absence due to non-work 
related stress/depression/anxiety or critical illnesses requiring 
hospitalisation and recovery. Outturn for 2017/18 shows 
average number of days per employee of 3.15 compared to 
target of 3.00, therefore slightly higher than target.

Percentage of supplier payments 
made within 30 days of receipt of 
invoice

99.02% 98.07% 99.43% 99.92% 99.8% 99.35% 99% A good quarter with only a few late invoices paid.



8

Performance Indicator
2016/17 Q1 2017/18 Q2 2017/18 Q3 2017/18 Q4 2017/18 2017/18

Target Note
Value Status Value Value Value Value Value Status

Average time taken to process a 
new claim for Housing Benefit 
(cumulative)

New 
indicator for 
2017/18

N/A 20 21 22 22 22 23

Compared to 2016/17, the time taken to process a new 
Housing Benefit claim has improved from an average of 30 
days to an average of 22 days. A reduction of 8 days 
represents a significant improvement and this correlates with 
more efficient working practices and the introduction of Risk 
Based Verification software.

Rent Collection and Arrears 
Recovery - rents collected as a 
proportion of rents owed.

97.67% 92.41% 95.86% 97.66% 97.8% 97.8% 98.1% 2017/18 outturn slightly higher than 2016/17 which is positive.

Number of visits to DBC website 821,974 214,590 210,431 184,543 220,113 829,677  
A growth in the number of visits particularly in respect of 
rubbish collections around Easter and the problems due to 
snow.

 



CABINET
24 MAY 2018

REPORT OF DELEGATED ACTION TAKEN UNDER STANDING 
ORDER 38: RESPONSE TO A2 BEAN AND EBBSFLEET JUNCTION 
IMPROVEMENTS STATUTORY PUBLIC CONSULTATION

1. Summary

1.1 To report to Cabinet, in accordance with the requirements of Standing Order 
38(2)(b), the delegated action taken under Standing Order 38(2)(a) by the 
Managing Director, in consultation with the Cabinet Chairman, in relation to 
the Council’s response to the Highways England statutory public 
consultation on proposed improvements to the A2 Bean and Ebbsfleet 
junction.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Cabinet note the action taken by the Managing Director, in consultation 
with the Cabinet Chairman, under Standing Order 38(2)(a), in relation to the 
Council’s response to the Highways England statutory public consultation 
on proposed improvements to the A2 Bean and Ebbsfleet junction.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Standing Order 38 concerns the delegation of urgent and routine 
matters.  Standing Order 38(2)(a) provides for the delegation to each 
member of the Management Team the authority to act in respect of any 
function of the Cabinet, a Committee, Board or Panel which in his/her 
opinion is either urgent or of a routine nature, subject however to 
members of the Management Team first consulting with the Chairman 
or Vice-Chairman of the Cabinet, Committee, Board or Panel 
responsible for the function in accordance with Terms of Reference.  
Standing Order 38(2)(b) requires that a report of the action taken, 
including a note of the circumstances which made it necessary, must 
be made to the next meeting of the Cabinet, Committee, Board or 
Panel responsible for the function in accordance with Terms of 
Reference.

3.2. Cabinet is asked to note the actions of the Managing Director, as 
specified in Appendix A, taken under delegated authority and in 
consultation with the Cabinet Chairman, in relation to the Council’s 
response to the Highways England statutory public consultation on 
proposed improvements to the A2 Bean and Ebbsfleet junction.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable.



CABINET
24 MAY 2018

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None

Staffing Implications None

Administrative Implications None

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable.

7. Appendices

Appendix A – The report relating to the Council’s response to the 
Highways England statutory public consultation on 
proposed improvements to the A2 Bean and 
Ebbsfleet junction.

Appendix B – Delegation of Urgent and Routine Matters Standing 
Order 38 form.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Alan Stoneham
(01322) 343330

Member Services
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A



APPENDIX A
REPORT TO MANAGING DIRECTOR

A2 BEAN AND EBBSFLEET JUNCTION IMPROVEMENTS: 
CONSULTATION RESPONSE

1. Summary

1.1 Highways England is carrying out a consultation on options for the A2 Bean 
and Ebbsfleet junction improvements.  The proposed response is set out in the 
report.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the response as set out in the report be submitted as the Council’s formal 
response to the consultation.

3. Dartford Borough Council Response:

A2 Bean and Ebbsfleet junction improvements Statutory Public 
Consultation 2018.

Overview

3.1 The Council has identified significant growth in the Borough over the Local 
Plan period and beyond 2026. The A2 Bean and Ebbsfleet junction 
improvements have long been identified to meet the needs of this growth 
and are included within the Strategic Transport Programme to provide the 
strategic road improvements to support the additional development. The 
Borough Council therefore support the principle of the junction 
improvements. However, given the complexities of the junctions and their 
close inter-relationship with the strategic and local road network in and 
around Dartford and the close proximity of sensitive receptors the Council 
seeks more information in order to understand the impact of the proposed 
schemes.

3.2 The Council is therefore disappointed to note that despite the lengthy 
discussions with Highways England with regard to the improvements of 
these junctions and the Council’s comments at previous consultation 
stages there is still no further detailed assessment of the proposed 
schemes, particularly in terms of traffic modelling and capacity of the 
junctions, air quality impacts and noise impacts. Since these issues are 
fundamental to the Council’s consideration of the proposals, the 
Council’s feels that it is unable to appropriately respond to the 
current statutory consultation.

3.3 The Council is further concerned that the late submission of this detailed 
information with the application for the Development Consent Order does 
not provide adequate time for the Council to properly consider the issues 
and respond and is contrary to the aims of the NSIP process which seeks 
to encourage the discussion and consultation on details of the schemes 
prior to submission. 



APPENDIX A
REPORT TO MANAGING DIRECTOR

3.4 The Council notes that the Preliminary Environmental Information Report 
(PEIR) has been issued without any discussion with the Council’s 
Environmental Health officers with regard to noise and air quality 
assessment assumptions. The Council acknowledges that there is a 
meeting arranged now to take place soon but would have hoped that such 
technical input would be sought prior to the PEIR preparation.

3.5 The Council expressed concerns in 2017 that the transport modeling work 
and full assessment of the junction proposals had not been made 
available as part of the consultation. 

3.6 It appears that the assumptions made are based on traffic flowing freely 
and take no account of the frequent incidences on the network or the 
seasonal higher traffic levels associated with Bluewater shopping centre. 
The Council is concerned therefore that there is no resilience allowed for 
in the proposals and without the traffic modelling information is unable to 
consider the impact or take advice from the local highway authority, Kent 
County Council, with regard to this matter.

3.7 Incidences on the strategic road network around Dartford, both the A2 and 
the M25/A282 are not uncommon and can take hours to clear; causing 
significant impact in terms of queuing traffic across the area impacting on 
air quality and the quality of life of residents, employees and visitors to the 
Borough. The Council, together with the County Council, is now seeking 
that developers of large schemes assess the impacts of these incidences 
on the network and consider that Highways England should also be 
carrying out such sensitivity tests in order to demonstrate there is 
adequate resilience in the improvements proposed.

3.8 The Council notes that Kent County Council, as local highways authority, 
also raise significant concerns about the lack of information submitted and 
considers that the junction footprint proposed is likely to be too small to 
accommodate the forecast traffic flows. This raises significant concerns 
for the Council, particularly given the high level of planned and future 
growth in the area, and the Borough Council would support the County 
Council’s aspiration that the junctions are future-proofed in order to ensure 
that the substantial costs for the improvements can have greater benefit 
over a longer period.

3.9 It is concerning for the Council to note that KCC do not consider that the 
junctions are large enough to allow for an appropriate responsive method 
of signal control in order to respond to a change in traffic conditions in the 
local area. This would be something that the Borough Council would 
expect the improvement scheme to deliver. 

3.10 In addition, the Technical Appraisal Report acknowledges that the 
operation of the Bean and Ebbsfleet junctions are affected by the capacity 
of the A2 mainline but that the study’s remit does not cover this. The 
Council considers that the junction proposals should not be considered 
separately from the A2 mainline capacity but that the junction proposals 



APPENDIX A
REPORT TO MANAGING DIRECTOR

should allow for widening of the A2 in order to provide additional capacity. 
The proposed option of retaining the existing Bean Road bridge does not 
allow for this future widening.

3.11 The following comments are some details which can be raised now prior 
to the assessment information being submitted and have been set out in 
a way which addresses the topics and questions in the consultation 
questionnaire. I also provide further detail on the subjects covered in the 
PEIR, although the Council will refer to the technical advice provided by 
KCC in relation to heritage matters and biodiversity as the Borough 
Council has a service level agreement with KCC to provide such technical 
advice and does not wish to duplicate comments on such matters. 

3.12 In addition, as the County Council are also the statutory authority with 
regard to sustainable urban drainage, public rights of way and highways 
as well as the planning authority for minerals and waste the Council will 
defer to the technical advice provided by KCC officers on such matters 
and will provide no more detailed comments on these matters at this time.

Bean Junction

3.13 The Council is keen to bring forward the delivery of improvements at Bean 
junction as soon as possible.  However, it does have some concerns that 
the design has been limited by budget constraints rather than taking a 
more holistic far-reaching view which would allow for an optimum option 
which builds in additional capacity and allows for widening of the A2. The 
Council would not wish to see the delivery of these junction improvements 
to be delayed any further than the end of 2022.

3.14 The Council must express extreme disappointment that the proposed 
scheme at Bean junction results in the loss of the homes of Dartford 
residents. However, the creation of a worsened environment for these 
residents should the properties have been retained could not be 
supported by the Council. The Council insists full and proper consideration 
is given to the needs of occupants and that every possible support, 
financial and otherwise is provided to mitigate their loss.

3.15 The Council would like to understand further the impact of the proposed 
option on Hope Cottages due to the increase in traffic using the junction 
and the proximity of the proposed works, even though this has improved 
since the consultation proposal in 2017. The Council still has concerns 
that this is likely to result in a worsened environment for these residents 
which should be mitigated. 

3.16 The Council is also extremely concerned that the proposal will result in 
the loss of the Horse Sanctuary and would insist upon working with 
Highways England to provide a replacement site which is suitable for the 
operator of the site in terms of accessibility and proximity.

3.17 It appears that the construction compound is proposed on the informal 
parking area which serves the commuter coach stops at the junction, 



APPENDIX A
REPORT TO MANAGING DIRECTOR

(located on the link road between the northern roundabout and Watling 
Street A296). The Council would request that consideration is given to the 
displacement of this car parking and the impacts of this and consider how 
else it might be accommodated.

3.18 With regard to the question within the consultation about the slip road from 
the B255 to A296 being kept open, the Council has some concerns about 
whether this matter was clear in the consultation. Council officers have 
talked to several people, professionals and residents, who were under the 
misapprehension, having seen the consultation information, that the slip 
road to the A2 along Watling Street was to be closed and responded to 
the consultation in the basis of this misapprehension.

3.19 The Council feels that it is unable to comment on whether the B255 to 
A296 slip should remain open or not without seeing the traffic modelling 
and the assessed impact on the local road network. However, the Council 
would point out that use of the A296 slip to the A2, by traffic from the north 
has a knock-on effect of queuing back and affecting the A296 to the west 
where it then impacts on the local road network. The retention of the ability 
to turn left off of the B255 onto the A296 is likely to be a more attractive 
option for traffic travelling east as it is a shorter route than the new slip 
and is not impacted by a large signal controlled junction. It is therefore still 
likely to result in regular queue backs as drivers chose this route and this 
will continue to have an impact on the local road network. The Council 
would query whether the slip from the B255 could be designed to allow 
westwards traffic movements only, allowing access to the hospital and 
Dartford from here but not access to the A2. 

Ebbsfleet junction

3.20 The Council would reiterate its concerns that the limited increase in the 
size of the roundabouts at the junction does not allow for additional 
queuing capacity should this become necessary as development comes 
forward in the area, particularly as the exact nature of development at 
Ebbsfleet is still unknown.

3.21 The westbound on-slip is shown to be widened but it is not clear whether 
the one-way southbound link to Park Corner Road is retained, it appears 
from the plans to be closed. More clarity with regard to this is requested 
as this is a historic link between Swanscombe and Southfleet and links 
the two communities. Certainly this is a key link to be considered for non-
motorised users and was lost as a result of the previous junction 
improvements.

3.22 The Council has no comments to make on the options for the eastbound 
slip roads without seeing the traffic modelling but is likely to defer to KCC 
as highways authority with regard to their views on this.



APPENDIX A
REPORT TO MANAGING DIRECTOR

Pedestrian and cycling routes

3.23 The Council would encourage the provision of cycling and pedestrian 
infrastructure at the junctions, allowing for direct, safe and segregated 
routes for pedestrians and cyclists and safe crossing points.The north-
south footpaths and cycleways at Bean junction are currently poor quality, 
narrow, are not very direct and involve vertical changes. The 
pedestrian/cycle links north-south at Ebbsfleet junction are also very 
limited. The Council would urge that the opportunity is taken as part of 
these junction improvements to ensure improved connections between 
the urban and rural areas either side of the A2 which has divided these 
communities as it has grown.  Sufficient width on the bridges should be 
provided to facilitate segregated cycleways and footways.

3.24 The Council note that Highways England are asking respondents to let 
them know the routes that they take when cycling or walking over the 
junctions. The Council consider that the response to this question is likely 
to be fairly low given the poor quality and lack of safety for pedestrians 
and cyclists using the junctions at present, The Council would request 
therefore that HE do not allow a low response to this part of the 
consultation to influence the quality of the pedestrian and cycle routes 
provided in the final scheme. For instance, the Bean junction separates 
the village Bean from the urban area of Dartford, just to the north, as well 
as the Bluewater shopping centre, Greenhithe church etc. But in addition 
a new community with additional schools and community facilities is 
coming forward in Eastern Quarry just to the north of the junction. The 
new residents are likely to wish to use the junction to access the 
countryside and the Country Parks to the south and the residents of Bean 
are likely to wish to use the new facilities with Eastern Quarry. The 
Borough Council’s Core Strategy is based on delivering sustainably 
located development which will encourage modal shift and non-car modes 
of transport. Improvements to the Bean and Ebbsfleet junctions allowing 
for clear, direct and safe pedestrian and cycle routes which assist in 
delivering this objective.

Comments on the PEIR chapters

These comments are limited due to the lack of assessment and modelling 
carried out.

Air quality:
 
3.25 Bean interchange has been declared as an AQMA due to exceedances of 

the annual mean nitrogen dioxide objective. The AQMA encompasses the 
properties at Ightham Cottages, which are to be lost to the scheme. 
Properties to the South of the junction (Hope Cottages) are also exposed 
to high levels of pollution although monitoring of the existing situation has 
indicated levels to be slightly below objective level.

3.26 The assessment has predicted that levels of NO2 will be reduced at the 
nearest receptor at Hope Cottages due to a decrease in traffic flows on 



APPENDIX A
REPORT TO MANAGING DIRECTOR

these roads, however the consultation document states the traffic using 
the junction is predicted to increase by up to 60% by 2037. London Bound 
traffic leaving Bluewater and traffic travelling from the East accessing 
Bluewater will still all pass these properties.

3.27 The Council is concerned that the model used hasn’t fully assessed the 
impact of the proposed junction improvements at peak times when there 
is congestion. 

3.28 Dartford Borough Council currently has an air quality monitor located at 
Ightham Cottages, which is located on land that will be lost as part of the 
development. It is important that this monitor is replaced in order to 
monitor the effectiveness of the scheme. Should the predictions of the 
assessment not transpire and an AQMA is created to the south of the 
junction then provisions should be made to mitigate this. 

3.29 The Council also has concerns that the assumptions made for air quality 
use 2014 transport surveys and consider this baseline should be updated.

 The Assessment should consider impacts on the new dwellings 
identified in the adopted Local Plan, most of which have been granted 
planning permission and many of which are under construction or have 
been occupied. Many of these houses granted planning permission will 
be occupied by scheme completion and so may require mitigation.

  It is not only major incidences which impact on air quality in the Borough. 
Due to the inter-connectivity of the strategic and local road network in 
the area and the close proximity of the M25, tunnel approach road 
(A282) and the A2, any incident can have a major and wider impact on 
the network. Recent analysis for Highways England by WSP has shown 
that incidents at the Dartford Tunnel and the approach road (A282) on 
average take an hour to clear.  However, the impacts are felt over a wide 
area and the greater the distance from the incident, the longer it takes 
for the ensuing tailback to clear.  Since these incidences are regular 
occurrences they can and do have a longer term impact on air quality 
and this should be considered fully as part of the assessment. The 
Council can assist with providing more background on the impacts of 
incidences on the AQMAs. 

 The existing junction at Bean is heavily affected by traffic accessing 
Bluewater Shopping Centre. This traffic is greater at certain times of the 
year for extended periods and this needs to be reflected in the air quality 
model.

 The existing continuous monitoring station is located on land that is to 
be lost as a result of the development. As part of the mitigation for the 
development the Council would require that this monitor is moved to the 
south of the junction prior to development to enable a baseline to be 
established in the area where residential receptors are to remain.

 The Council has concerns that the air quality impact at the residential 
receptors, Hope Cottages, will be increased to an unacceptable degree. 



APPENDIX A
REPORT TO MANAGING DIRECTOR

The Council considers that the assessment should address clearly the 
impact on these residential receptors and include mitigation for 
addressing these impacts.

Noise, dust and vibration

3.30 The Council notes that the method of noise assessment has previously 
raised concerns with regard to the impact assessment carried out on 
behalf of Highways England. Any acoustic assessment and calculation of 
attenuation afforded by noise mitigation measures such as acoustic bunds 
and fences should be calculated or assessed by suitable assessment 
methodologies. Calculation of Road Traffic Noise (CRTN) as an 
assessment tool would be acceptable, however the Design Manual for 
Roads and Bridges (DMRB) has significant problems in the assumptions 
it makes for calculating attenuation for bunds etc. and so would not be 
suitable. (Other recognised standards and methods for attenuation 
calculations could also be used.)

3.31 The Assessment should consider impacts on the new dwellings identified 
in the adopted Local Plan, most of which have been granted planning 
permission and many of which are under construction or have been 
occupied. Many of these houses granted planning permission will be 
occupied by scheme completion and so may require mitigation. For 
instance, figure 5.3 of the dust assessment does not identify new 
dwellings, many of which are occupied, in the area to be potentially 
affected.

Biodiversity

3.32 The Council’s ecological advisor is Kent County Council and therefore the 
Borough Council supports the technical advice given by them as set out 
in the KCC response to the consultation.

3.33 The Council would seek to raise concerns over the loss of any Ancient 
Woodland as a result of the proposed works and would request that this 
impact is reduced or removed where feasible. 

Cultural Heritage

3.34 The Council’s archaeological and heritage advisor is Kent County Council 
and therefore the Borough Council supports the technical advice given by 
them as set out in the KCC response to the consultation.

People and Communities

Construction impact:

3.35 Given the proximity of this trunk road junction to other strategic junctions 
and the level of traffic that uses this junction at present the construction of 
the junction improvements are likely to cause significant impact over a 
wide area. The construction works need to be planned carefully and avoid 



APPENDIX A
REPORT TO MANAGING DIRECTOR

further congestion by coordinating with other proposed road 
improvements and other major developments coming forward.

Conclusion

3.36 The Council is keen that the delivery of improvements at Bean and 
Ebbsfleet junctions is urgently progressed, in order to meet the needs of 
the development coming forward.  However, it is considered that a more 
holistic view should be taken of the strategic road network allowing for an 
optimum solution which builds in additional capacity to allow for resilience.  

3.37 The Council considers that the junction proposals should not be 
considered separately from the A2 mainline capacity but that the junction 
proposals should allow for widening of the A2 in order to provide additional 
capacity. In addition, the proximity of the junctions to junction 2 of the M25 
and the A2(T) and the inter-relationship of all these junctions with 
junctions 1A and 1B of the M25 results in incidences or capacity issues 
on one part of the road network impacting on the other parts of the 
strategic network and the local road network. Given the complexity of this 
road network and the interdependencies and its lack of resilience to 
incidences, the improvement works should be considered holistically in 
order to reduce the frequency of incidences causing impact on the local 
road network and other parts of the strategic network both during 
construction but also at operational stages of the development.

3.38 Finally to confirm the Council does not consider that it can make a full 
response to this statutory consultation due to the lack of information which 
would allow the Council to consider and assess the impacts. The Council 
requests that once the assessments and modelling work has been 
completed that a further consultation period is carried out giving the 
opportunity for the Council and other authorities and technical advisors, 
as well as the wider public, to give a more meaningful response.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

ED4 Ensure the delivery of timely transport infrastructure

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments

Financial Implications None

Legal Implications None 

Staffing Implications None 

Administrative Implications None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable



APPENDIX A
REPORT TO MANAGING DIRECTOR

7. Appendices

None.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Sonia Bunn Regeneration,
External Service 
Directorate

N/A





APPENDIX B





CABINET
24 MAY 2018

REPORT OF DELEGATED ACTION TAKEN UNDER STANDING 
ORDER 38: HOWBURY STRATEGIC RAIL FREIGHT 
INTERCHANGE

1. Summary

1.1 To report to Cabinet, in accordance with the requirements of Standing Order 
38(2)(b), the delegated action taken under Standing Order 38(2)(a) by the 
Managing Director, in consultation with the Cabinet Chairman, in relation to 
the staff resource implications and related costs of defending the Council’s 
refusal of the planning application for the Howbury Strategic Rail Freight 
Interchange at Public Inquiry.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That Cabinet note the action taken by the Managing Director, in consultation 
with the Cabinet Chairman, under Standing Order 38(2)(a), in relation to the 
staff resource implications and related costs of defending the Council’s 
refusal of the planning application for the Howbury Strategic Rail Freight 
Interchange at Public Inquiry.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. Standing Order 38 concerns the delegation of urgent and routine 
matters.  Standing Order 38(2)(a) provides for the delegation to each 
member of the Management Team the authority to act in respect of any 
function of the Cabinet, a Committee, Board or Panel which in his/her 
opinion is either urgent or of a routine nature, subject however to 
members of the Management Team first consulting with the Chairman 
or Vice-Chairman of the Cabinet, Committee, Board or Panel 
responsible for the function in accordance with Terms of Reference.  
Standing Order 38(2)(b) requires that a report of the action taken, 
including a note of the circumstances which made it necessary, must 
be made to the next meeting of the Cabinet, Committee, Board or 
Panel responsible for the function in accordance with Terms of 
Reference.

3.2. Cabinet is asked to note the actions of the Managing Director, as 
specified in Appendix A, taken under delegated authority and in 
consultation with the Cabinet Chairman, in relation to the staff resource 
implications and related costs of defending the Council’s refusal of the 
planning application for the Howbury Strategic Rail Freight Interchange 
at Public Inquiry.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable.



CABINET
24 MAY 2018

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications As outlined in Appendix A to the report.

Legal Implications As outlined in Appendix A to the report.

Staffing Implications As outlined in Appendix A to the report.

Administrative Implications As outlined in Appendix A to the report.

Risk Assessment As outlined in Appendix A to the report.

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Appendix A has been placed on the closed part of the agenda because 
it contains exempt information within Standing Order 46(1)(b) and 
Annex 1, para. 3, namely, information relating to the financial or 
business affairs of any particular person (including the authority holding 
the information). Disclosure of information on the preparation of the 
Council's case for Public Inquiry beyond that which is publically 
available at this point in time, could provide a competitive advantage 
for the appellant. Disclosure would also prejudice the efficiency and 
effectiveness of the use of Council resources. In all the circumstances 
of the case, the public interest in not disclosing the information 
outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information.

7. Appendices

Appendix A – The exempt report relating to the staff resource 
implications and related costs of defending the 
Council’s refusal of the planning application for the 
Howbury Strategic Rail Freight Interchange at Public 
Inquiry.

Appendix B – Delegation of Urgent and Routine Matters Standing 
Order 38 form.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Alan Stoneham
(01322) 343330

Member Services
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A



APPENDIX B





CABINET
24 MAY 2018

MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE MEETING 
HELD ON 20 MARCH 2018

1. Summary

To present to Cabinet the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview 
Committee held on 20 March 2018.

2. RECOMMENDATION

That the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on 
20 March 2018, be considered and noted.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 The Managing Director, in consultation with the Leader of the Council and 
the Chairman of Policy Overview Committee, has agreed that the most 
appropriate way for the Policy Overview Committee to report its work to 
Cabinet would be for the cleared minutes from each Committee meeting to 
be submitted to the next appropriate Cabinet meeting.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

To be an inclusive, well led and managed organisation, with an open and 
positive culture, making the best use of its resources, and recognising the vital 
contribution of all members and staff.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications None
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Appendices

Appendix A – Policy Overview Committee minutes of 20 March 2018

DOCUMENTS CONSULTED

Documents 
consulted

Date File 
Ref

Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

A Stoneham
01322 343330

Member Services
Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)

N/A





APPENDIX A

1

D A R T F O R D  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L

POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on Tuesday 20 
March 2018 at 7.00 pm.

PRESENT: Councillor E J Lampkin (Chairman)
Councillor M I Peters (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor P F Coleman
Councillor S R Jarnell
Councillor J Jones
Councillor B K Kaini
Councillor R Lees
Councillor J A Ozog
Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor D J Reynolds (substitute for Councillor R M Currans)

ABSENT: Councillor S H Brown
Councillor R M Currans
Councillor B Garden
Councillor M B Kelly
Councillor D Page
Councillor A Sandhu, MBE
Councillor Mrs R F Storey
Councillor R J Wells

ALSO 
PRESENT:

Gerard Sammon – Interim Chief Executive, Dartford & 
Gravesham NHS Trust

Mike Gilbert – Company Secretary and Assistant 
Accountable Officer, NHS Dartford, 
Gravesham and Swanley Clinical 
Commissioning Group

Patricia Chapman – Dartford Borough Residents’ Forum

Dartford Borough Council Officers

Sheri Green – Strategic Director (External Services)
Mark Aplin – Planning Policy Manager
Andrew Simpson – Policy Planner

36. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors S H Brown, R M 
Currans, B Garden, M B Kelly, D Page, Mrs R F Storey and R J Wells.

An apology for lateness was received from Councillor R Lees.

37. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 20 MARCH 2018

2

38. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE POLICY OVERVIEW MEETING 
HELD ON 12 DECEMBER 2017 

RESOLVED:

That the minutes of the meeting of the Policy Overview Committee held on 12 
December 2017 be confirmed.

39. URGENT ITEMS 

There were no urgent items.

40. TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY) 

There were no references from other Committees.

41. REGULATION 9 NOTICE 

RESOLVED:

That the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice, for the period 15 February 2018 
to 30 June 2018, be noted.

42. ACTION POINTS ARISING FROM THE POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE 
MEETING HELD ON 12 DECEMBER 2017 

This report asked Members to note the list of action points arising from the 
Policy Overview Committee meeting held on 12 December 2017.

Health funding

The Chairman advised that, having consulted with the Committee’s guests, Mr 
Gilbert and Mr Sammon, he proposed that a further letter highlighting the 
Committee’s continued concern with the inadequate level of funding being 
provided to Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group 
be prepared and sent to the Secretary of State for Health. Members endorsed 
this proposal.

GP referral letters

Reference was made to the charge that some GP practices apply when asked 
to provide a referral letter for Fairfield Leisure Centre’s Health and Wellness 
classes and the Vice-Chairman noted how her efforts to get these charges 
removed had not been universally successful.

Members thought it to be unfair for some GP practices to impose a charge 
where others did not and agreed that this be added as an item for further 
consideration at the Committee’s next meeting. Members wished to know which 
GP practices were still applying charges, the amounts being charged, and their 
justification for continuing to doing so.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 20 MARCH 2018

3

RESOLVED:

1. That the list of action points arising from the Committee meetings held 
on 12 December 2017 be noted.

2. That a further letter highlighting the Committee’s continued concern with 
the inadequate level of funding being made available to Dartford, 
Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group be prepared 
and sent to the Secretary of State for Health.

3. That an item relating to the charge that some GP practices apply when 
asked to supply a referral letter for Fairfield Leisure Centre’s Health and 
Wellness classes be added to the June 2018 meeting agenda.

43. DARTFORD AND GRAVESHAM NHS TRUST AND DARTFORD 
GRAVESHAM AND SWANLEY CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP

The Chairman welcomed Gerard Sammon, Interim Chief Executive Dartford & 
Gravesham NHS Trust, and Mike Gilbert, Company Secretary & Assistant 
Accountable Officer for NHS Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical 
Commissioning Group (DGS CCG), to the meeting and advised that it had been 
decided to consider items 7, Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust, and 8, 
Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group, together 
because of the overlapping health related responsibilities of both organisations.

Mr Gilbert then gave a presentation and noted how it had been a challenging 
year for the CCG and that the £13.5 million 2016/17 year end deficit, which was 
less than the deficit that he had forecast when he had last visited in March 2017, 
had resulted in the CCG being put under Directions and Special Measures. He 
then noted how a robust Financial Recovery Plan had been put in place in order 
to reduce future deficits and said that the deficit for 2017/18 was predicted to 
be in the region of £11 million. He then referred to improvements that had been 
made to the delivery of constitutional standards of care and clinical services 
and highlighted the progress that had been made in relation to the treatment of 
cancer and the diagnosis of dementia as examples. He also noted the 
pressures that had been faced both in Kent and throughout the country during 
the difficult winter and the fact that the delivery of health related services had 
continued. He then referred to the good progress that had been made on new 
models of care that were linked to the Sustainability and Transformation Plan 
(STP) and noted the work that was being carried out with Dartford Borough 
Council to establish a new Health and Wellbeing hub in the Town Centre and a 
Health Education and Innovation Quarter at Ebbsfleet. He also spoke about 
CCG related changes in Kent and said that he was not aware of any plans to 
merge CCGs together.

Mr Gilbert then referred to growth and said that the population for the DGS area 
had grown to 265,000, which was 5,000 more than last year, and that this was 
expected to rise by a further 57,000 (or 60,000 if planned development in 
Swanley is included) over the next 15 years. He said that although the 
population had grown by 2% per annum since 2014/15 the funding that the 
CCG received had only grown by 1% per annum, which had led to the deficits 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 20 MARCH 2018

4

that had been experienced since 2014/15, which was when the CCG had last 
been in surplus. He said that options to address the deficit and develop new 
local models of care were being discussed with partners and social care 
providers and noted that the CCG continued to lobby for an increase in funding. 
He also noted that, although savings had already been made by implementing 
efficiency improvements, there had been no impact on patient care, or a need 
to close any services. He said there were still many difficult decisions that 
needed to be made but hoped that the CCG would be taken out of Special 
Measures at the end of the current financial year, although he noted that this 
would require the CCG to show to NHS England that it had tightened up its 
processes and management strategy, and had plans in place to make further 
savings.

Mr Gilbert then focused on performance and referred to the waiting time 
standards for diagnostic, elective, cancer and psychological therapy and the 
good results that were begin achieved by Darent Valley Hospital when 
compared with hospitals being managed by other Trusts. He also noted the 
improvements that had been made in relation to diabetes detection and 
management following the move to involve local GPs in the process, and the 
continued progress that was being made to diagnose cancer at an earlier stage 
and reduce smoking levels in the area. He then referred to the pressures that 
were being placed on those that provide A&E and ambulance services and 
noted how hospital occupancy levels due to delayed discharge had improved, 
but said that there were still issues that needed addressing. He referred 
explicitly to difficulties relating to the provision of domiciliary care and the 
associated problem of staff recruitment and retention, and also highlighted the 
closure of care homes as cause for further concern. He then again referred to 
the cover that had been provided during the recent bad weather and the 
outstanding service that clinicians and ambulance workers had delivered during 
this difficult time.

Mr Gilbert then highlighted the problems associated with GP recruitment and 
noted how 20 out of the 140 in the DGS area had retired or resigned in the last 
year. He also noted how there tended to be only one application received for 
each advertised vacancy, whereas in the past 20 to 30 applications had been 
received. He said that GPs continued to be attracted to London and now prefer 
to be in a salaried position rather than operate their own partnership. He also 
noted how health staff liked to work at the best hospitals and said that the 
intention to establish a new health hub in Dartford Town Centre and a Health 
Education and Innovation Quarter at Ebbsfleet, which would provide diagnostic 
and research opportunities, may help to attract more health professionals into 
the area. The good relationship that the CCG has with their stakeholders was 
highlighted as a success, as was the intention to provide specialist stroke care 
facilities at three locations across Kent and Medway.

Mr Gilbert then referred to the STP and noted the need for the CCG to continue 
to work with partners on an integration agenda and said that the future 
commissioning and delivery model focused on provider alliances (including 
GPs) at a local level, with a single strategic commissioner covering the county. 
He also again confirmed that there were no plans to merge CCGs in Kent but 
said that 6 of the 8 CCGs had agreed to work under a single Chief Executive 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 20 MARCH 2018

5

which would enable them to share services such as HR support and 
communications, but maintain their management of areas such as GP and 
district nurse provision locally. He then noted how the number of GPs within the 
CCG needed to increase in order to cope with patient demand and explained 
how GP Federations were being established between practices which allowed 
them to align their services and support each other. It would also allow them to 
provide wider access to specialised services, such as wound care, and extend 
their opening hours. He said that they were aiming to provide 8am to 8pm 
opening in the Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley area, and also encourage 
Saturday surgeries, to assist those who were finding it difficult to make an 
appointment.
 
Mr Sammon then provided an update from Darent Valley Hospital’s perspective 
and noted how this winter had been particularly difficult for the hospital. He then 
referred to the STP and said that the hospital continued to strengthen its core 
services and worked to ensure that the high volume of patients that make use 
of the 24x7 emergency care service continue to be treated in a timely way. As 
part of this he noted how GPs and Advanced Nurse Practitioners were being 
used to treat those with less serious injuries and conditions and said that they 
had also established an Ambulatory Emergency Care Unit, which operated for 
14 hours a day 7 days a week and allowed patients to receive streamlined 
diagnosis and treatment on the same day before being sent home with ongoing 
clinical care, and requiring no hospital admission. He also noted how the 
number of A&E treatment cubicles and inpatient bed capacity had both had 
been increased to help ensure that there are enough resources available to 
treat those with the most serious conditions.

Mr Sammon then referred to elective care, where day cases are seen for routine 
planned operations, and said that emergency care had impacted their ability to 
carry out elective procedures and that they were running very near to the 18 
week waiting threshold that had been specified for the maximum waiting time 
between GP referral and treatment. He noted how they were continuing to focus 
on ways to address this as it was recognised how important it was for patients 
to receive treatment in a timely manner.

Mr Sammon then highlighted the success of the hospital’s maternity unit which 
was delivering, on average, 15 new lives into the world each day. He also noted 
how they worked in partnership with other organisations to ensure that core 
services are delivered in the most efficient way and gave as an example the 
integration of the pathology department with the service that is provided by 
Medway Foundation Trust.

Mr Sammon then described how, by working with hospitals such as Guy’s and 
St Thomas’, they were able to bring world class expertise into the hospital to 
enable patients to be treated locally, and gave radiology and vascular surgery 
as examples. He also noted how partnership working with Moorfields Eye 
Hospital meant that it was now possible to provide cataract surgery at Darent 
Valley. He then went on to describe the concept of a ‘hospital with no walls’, 
and the ability to provide a service that would deliver hospital care locally, which 
resulted in there being no need for a patient to attend the hospital.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 20 MARCH 2018

6

With respect to population growth and the resulting pressure on hospital 
services Mr Sammon said that bids for capital funding which would enable the 
hospital to be expanded had been made to the Department of Health and that 
different models were being explored to cope with the increasing demand. He 
also said that, with respect to the maternity service, more space would definitely 
be required unless a way of increasing the number of home births could be 
found. He also specifically referred to the hospital’s A&E department and said 
that any expansion in this area would require capital funding and welcomed the 
support that was being provided by Dartford Borough Council.

Mr Sammon then referred to the consultation that was taking place to decide 
where three new 24/7 hyper acute stroke units that had been proposed for Kent 
and Medway should be located and said that Darent Valley had been included 
in three of the five options being considered. He hoped that an option that 
included Darent Valley would be chosen so that the hospital could work with 
other hospitals to deliver the new service in a strategically sound way.

Mr Sammon then referred to the collapse of Carillion and said that the hospital’s 
operation had initially been put at risk because Carillion used to supply the 
hospital’s cleaning, portering and catering service. He said that, following 
confirmation that staff would continue to be paid, the situation was stabilised 
and staff had been happy to continue working in the hospital. He said that a 
commercial offer had been made for the contract and that it was anticipated 
that the new provider would be in place by the 1st May.

The Chairman thanked Mr Gilbert and Mr Sammon for their updates and, on 
behalf of the Committee, wished to extend thanks to all those who had gone 
beyond the call of duty to ensure that essential health care services had 
continued to operate during the period of bad winter weather.

The Chairman then asked whether more detail could be provided on the impact 
that the collapse of Carillion would have on the hospital’s PFI arrangement. In 
response Mr Sammon reassured Members that the Trust would not be required 
to pay any more for their cleaning, portering and catering services but noted 
that the collapse of Carillion, who had built the hospital, meant that the PFI 
provider would no longer be able call on Carillion to address any building faults 
that are found. He noted how the risks associated with this situation would be 
borne by The Hospital Company and said that the Trust would continue to make 
PFI payments as before. He then commented on how the hospital had been 
well maintained and said that its good condition, as well as providing a good 
environment for patients and staff, made it attractive to those service providers 
who were willing to pay in order that their services may be delivered locally (e.g. 
Moorfields hospital). He also noted that, due to the PFI arrangement, the 
hospital would remain as a fixed asset in Dartford for many years to come.

The Chairman also asked whether the facilities at Elm Court were still being 
used as a rehabilitation resource by the hospital. In reply Mr Sammon confirmed 
that, even though the whole facility had been sold to another operator, the 
hospital’s leasing arrangement remained in place and the facility was still being 
used to provide rehabilitation services. Mr Gilbert then added that use of this 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 20 MARCH 2018

7

facility was being kept under review as it was felt that more benefit may be 
delivered if the facility were used in a different way.

In response to a question on the impact that the difficult winter had had on 
patient care and waiting times Mr Sammon replied that the national target for 
emergency care defined that a minimum of 95% of patients attending an A&E 
department should be admitted, transferred or discharged within 4 hours of their 
arrival, and that between April 2017 and February 2018 the hospital had 
achieved 90.2%. He then referred specifically to January and February 2018 
where the figure had dropped to between 80% and 85% and noted how it had  
dropped to as low as 75% during the worst of the snowy weather and during 
the following week. He also referred to the impact that the bad weather had had 
on the hospital’s ability to transfer patients and said that, whereas the number 
of people occupying a bed in the hospital when they didn’t need to had been in 
single figures before Christmas, this had risen to 30 during the period of snowy 
weather because the whole system had slowed down and those providing 
community services had been struggling to cope. He also noted how the ‘111’ 
and ambulance services had also been stretched during this period. Mr Gilbert 
then described his experiences and said that although GP surgeries were fairly 
quiet during the week of the snow, the week after had been particularly busy to 
make up for it. He also noted how most health services had declared a ‘black 
alert’ during the week of the snow, which is the highest that can be declared, 
because of the operational pressures and challenges being faced.

Members noted and welcomed the appointment of a Roald Dahl paediatric 
epilepsy/neurology specialist nurse at Darent Valley Hospital and also 
congratulated the hospital on the appointment of two Darzi Fellows. Mr 
Sammon said that the Darzi Fellows would bring valuable clinical skills and 
knowledge into the hospital and were allowing new approaches to advanced 
care planning to be explored. He also explained how the appointment of the 
Roald Dahl charity funded nurse had come about through work that was being 
carried out with the Evelina London Children's Hospital and said that they were 
also about to agree a case with Guy's and St Thomas' NHS Foundation Trust 
to employ a specialist doctor for epilepsy to work in the local community.

In response to a question on the working terms and conditions that would be 
put in place for those who had previously been employed by Carillion Mr 
Sammon replied that, as TUPE wouldn’t apply in this situation, it would be up 
to the PFI company to define any new terms and conditions, and that he would 
be strongly recommending that they remain the same.

Members referred to the hospital staffing issues that had been raised and 
discussed at previous meetings and asked whether recruitment continued to be 
an area of concern. In response Mr Sammon advised that the impact of Brexit 
had not been significant and that staffing levels were being maintained. He also 
noted how staff surveys had shown high levels of satisfaction from those 
working at Darent Valley. He said that the hospital would continue to work hard 
to engage staff and would continue to carry out recruitment exercises both in 
this country and overseas. He also noted how the establishment of a new 
medical learning facility at Ebbsfleet would help staffing in the future as many 



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 20 MARCH 2018

8

of those who train locally tend to stay and work locally once they have 
completed their training.

In response to questions relating to the CCG’s deficit Mr Gilbert confirmed that, 
as their funding was only currently being increased by 1% a year, the 2% year 
on year population growth would result in a deficit increase of £3.4m each year, 
and that if additional funding is not made available, or further efficiency savings 
found, it could continue to grow towards the previously predicted figure of £42m 
over the next few years.

Mr Gilbert then described the impact that being placed under Special Measures 
had had on the CCG and said that it meant that no senior staffing appointments 
or strategic decisions could be made without the involvement and agreement 
of NHS England. He said management of the CCG was being kept under tight 
control and that the restrictions would remain in place until confidence in the 
management team had been restored. With respect to the appointment of a 
single Chief Executive, who would assume responsibility for a number of Kent 
CCGs, Mr Gilbert said that this was just the first stage of a larger transition 
which would lead to more integration and help build trust between the individual 
agencies.

Members made reference to the large developments that were taking place in 
and around the Borough and asked whether plans were being put in place to 
provide the additional GP, pharmacy and hospital capacity that would be 
required to support the increasing population. Mr Gilbert replied that the local 
population was already growing, with a predicted increase of 57,000 over the 
next 15 years, and confirmed that, although models of care could be changed 
to address some of the increase, additional GPs, community service workers 
and hospital capacity would be required. He then noted the intention to develop 
health and wellbeing hubs in the area and said that the increased use of 
Gravesend Community Hospital to address clinical needs was being proposed. 
He also said that additional capital funding would be required to allow the 
hospital at Darent Valley to be expanded in order that patient demand may be 
met.

In relation to the deficit levels that were being experienced by the CCG Mr 
Gilbert said that firstly they had resulted from the failure to provide sufficient 
increased funding to address the 2% year on year population growth, and 
secondly that more people were making use of the services that were being 
made available. He then referred to efficiency savings that were being made 
relating to the management of medication and said that patients were being 
asked to review their repeat prescriptions and only collect those that were 
actually needed. He also said they were making savings by reviewing the 
medicine brands being used and discouraging GPs from prescribing 
paracetamol, emollients and aspirin when they are cheaply available in 
supermarkets. He also noted how savings were being made by referring those 
patients with orthopaedic needs to someone who can help them manage their 
condition, such as a physiotherapist, rather than making use of the specialised 
service that is provided by Darent Valley hospital. He then confirmed that the 
deficit will continue to be difficult to reduce as long as insufficient funding is 
being made available to address the needs of an increasing population.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 20 MARCH 2018

9

In response to a question relating to the discharge of hospital patients at 
weekends Mr Sammon advised that the hospital provides the same level of 
service 7 days a week and that discharges continue throughout the weekend.

The Vice-Chairman referred to a meeting that she had attended in Bexley 
relating to the public consultation on proposals to establish three new 24/7 
hyper acute stroke units in Kent and Medway and asked whether there were 
plans to hold a similar meeting in Dartford. Mr Gerrard agreed that the 
requirement for a meeting in the Dartford area had been proposed and said 
that, if a meeting was arranged, he would forward on the date and location for 
distribution to Members.

The Chairman thanked Mr Gilbert and Mr Sammon for attending and invited 
them to return in a year’s time to provide a further update for Members.

RESOLVED:

1. That Mr Sammon and Mr Gilbert be thanked for attending the meeting 
and responding to Members’ questions.

2. That the information provided by Mr Sammon and Mr Gilbert be noted.

3. That Mr Sammon and Mr Gilbert be invited back to provide a further 
update to the Committee at their March 2019 meeting.

44. DARTFORD BOROUGH PARKING OVERVIEW 

This report outlined the current situation with regards to parking requirements 
and standards in the Borough as defined in the Parking Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD). It also considered how these standards are applied 
throughout the Borough across recent developments.

The Policy Planner introduced the report and noted that, in addition to the areas 
covered by the SPD, a large range of non-planning related circumstances could 
also influence parking demand and supply. He then described how the SPD 
had been adopted as a planning guidance document in April 2012 and was 
being used to help inform decisions where planning proposals have been put 
to the Council. He said that the SPD outlined the amount of parking to be 
provided, as well as addressing associated design and management issues 
and was used when determining planning applications.

The Policy Planner then advised that, as the SPD had only been adopted in 
2012, and due to the recession causing a low number of applications around 
this time, the impact of the standards on new developments had been delayed 
but was now being seen in those that had been granted planning permission 
post April 2012. He also confirmed that he expected that the Council’s parking 
standards would continue to be implemented in the Borough by the Council and 
the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation (EDC).



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 20 MARCH 2018

10

The Policy Planner then noted how recent developments had addressed 
parking needs in a more sensitive way and said that there was a need to provide 
higher levels of parking in developments outside of the Town Centre. He also 
noted how personal behaviours and preferences, available public transport 
links, available public parking provision, and the existing built environment 
could influence parking patterns.

The Policy Planner then described how development monitoring and 
consultation would take place, which would consider the key transport, social 
and environmental priorities for the future, as work towards a new version of 
the Local Plan is progressed. He said that this could bring to light both local 
issues, such as continued implementation of standards across the whole 
Borough, and new wider trends, such as the potential decline in car ownership, 
and the impact of the rise of electric vehicles and driverless cars, which could 
influence parking requirements in the future.

Members thanked the officers for their thorough and well presented report and 
made reference to a presentation that had been given by representatives from 
EDC some time ago, which, it was said, had implied that a parking space ratio 
of 0.5 per house was to be used and that this had been based on a Dartford 
Borough Council policy. The Planning Policy Manager and Policy Planner both 
said that they were unsure where the figure of 0.5 had come from and confirmed 
that EDC had been following the policies specified in the SPD and had already 
delivered 1.61 parking spaces per house at Eastern Quarry and 1.95 parking 
spaces per house at Ebbsfleet Green. Members were reassured by this and 
said that they did not wish to see Ebbsfleet development residents raising 
parking issues similar to those that that had been raised by residents living in 
Ingress Park and The Bridge.

Reference was then made to levels of car ownership and the evidence base 
that had been used when deciding how many parking places should be 
allocated for each dwelling. In response the Planning Policy Manager replied 
that relevant information is gathered from various sources, and gave Census 
data as an example, but said that information that used to be made available 
by the Highways Agency and Kent County Council had diminished over time 
which was making it more difficult to assess parking requirements. He also 
noted how broad changes in lifestyle and the introduction of new technologies 
can influence parking space demand and said that their impact would continue 
to be monitored. In response to a further question he noted how the Principal 
Transport Planner role had been transferred to the planning team and 
confirmed that his knowledge of local parking issues and concerns were also 
being used when parking requirements were being assessed.

In response to a question on whether by-laws could be used as a way of 
controlling the anti-social parking of campervans, caravans and boats the 
Planning Policy Manager replied that this was not an area he was familiar with, 
but added that, although the SPD didn’t include requirements for the parking of 
campervans, caravans and boats it did include specific requirements relating to 
the parking of vans.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 20 MARCH 2018

11

Members then asked if parking availability is considered when existing buildings 
(e.g. public houses) are redeveloped for residential use. The Planning Policy 
Manager replied that some conversions were allowed to take place without full 
planning control, which can cause parking related problems as many old pubs 
are found in built up areas with existing parking pressures. He said the SPD 
would be applied and hoped that any surplus garden space, or existing parking 
areas, would be retained and used to provide parking for those moving into the 
converted building.

RESOLVED:

1. That the monitoring of the compliance of parking provision with agreed 
standards in new developments be noted.

2. That the continued monitoring of the use and performance of parking 
provision in new developments and emerging trends be noted.

45. CORPORATE PLAN - KEY ACTIONS AND PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 
MONITORING REPORT 

This report described the progress being made with latest set of Corporate Plan 
key actions and performance indicators for quarter 3 of 2017-18.

The Chairman referred to the two indicators that were showing an ‘alert’ status 
and noted that the target for the ‘number of fly-tipping incidents’ needed to be 
revised following a change to the way that incidents are counted. He also noted 
how the figure that had been reported for the ‘percentage of repairs completed 
in time’ was continuing to improve.

The date that had been recorded for the granting of planning consent for the 
development at Lowfield Street was also questioned and the Chairman asked 
that this be checked.

RESOLVED:

1. That the contents of the key action and performance indicator monitoring 
reports, attached at Appendices A and B to the report, be noted.

2. That date that had been recorded for the granting of planning consent 
for the development at Lowfield Street be checked.

46. POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE WORK PLAN 

This report set out the Policy Overview Committee’s Work Plan.

As a significant number of items were due to be considered at the Committee’s 
June 2018 meeting, and as the introduction of further welfare reform had been 
delayed, the Chairman, with the Committee’s agreement, asked that the next 
Welfare Reform Update report be moved to the September 2018 meeting.



POLICY OVERVIEW COMMITTEE
TUESDAY 20 MARCH 2018

12

The Chairman then asked, with the Committee’s agreement, that a 
representative from Virgin Care Services be invited to the September 2018 
meeting to update Members on the health services that they provide.

The Chairman also confirmed the following additions, which had been agreed 
during the consideration of previous agenda items:

 GP referral letters – June 2018
 Dartford and Gravesham NHS Trust – March 2019
 Dartford, Gravesham and Swanley Clinical Commissioning Group – 

March 2019

RESOLVED:

That the Work Plan, together with the minuted additions and changes above, 
be noted.

The meeting closed at 8.55 pm

Councillor E J Lampkin
CHAIRMAN










	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the Meeting held on 12 April 2018
	7 Strategic Issues Consultation for a New Local Plan
	Local Plan Consultation APPENDIX A
	Local Plan Consultation APPENDIX B
	Local Plan Consultation APPENDIX C
	Local Plan Consultation APPENDIX D

	8 Response to Consultation on Powers for Dealing with Unauthorised Development and Encampments
	Unauthorised Developments and Encampments APPENDIX A

	9 Stone Lodge Rugby Facility
	10 Changes to Environmental Health Out of Hours Service
	11 Objections to Dartford Borough Council (Off-Street Parking Places) Order 2018
	12 Corporate Plan - Key Actions and Performance Indicators Monitoring Report
	Performance Indicators APPENDIX A
	Performance Indicators APPENDIX B

	13 Report of Delegated Action Taken Under Standing Order 38: Response to A2 Bean and Ebbsfleet Junction Improvements Statutory Public Consultation
	SO38 A2 Junction Improvements APPENDIX A
	SO38 A2 Junction Improvements APPENDIX B

	14 Report of Delegated Action Taken Under Standing Order 38: Howbury Strategic Rail Freight Interchange
	SO38 Howbury Strategic Rail Freight Interchange APPENDIX B

	15 Minutes of the Policy Overview Meeting held on 20 March 2018
	PO Minutes APPENDIX A

	A Stone Lodge Rugby Facility - Exempt Appendix A<br/>(Exempt Category SO 46 (1) (b) Annex 1 Paragraph 3)
	B Report of Delegated Action Taken Under Standing Order 38: Howbury Strategic Rail Freight Interchange - Exempt Appendix A<br/>(Exempt Category SO 46 (1) (b) Annex 1 Paragraph 3)



